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SPIRENT COMMUNICATIONS ENABLES INNOVATIONS
IN COMMUNICATIONS TECHNOLOGIES THAT
CONNECT THE SMARTER WORLD. WHETHERIT IS
SERVICE PROVIDER NETWORKS, DATA CENTERS,
ENTERPRISE IT, MOBILE COMMUNICATIONS,
CONNECTED VEHICLES OR THE INTERNET OF THINGS,
SPIRENT SOLUTIONS ARE WORKING BEHIND THE
SCENES TO HELP THE WORLD COMMUNICATE AND
COLLABORATE FASTER, BETTER AND MORE SECURELY.

THE WORLD'S LEADING INNOVATORS RELY ON SPIRENT'S
EXPERTISE TO HELP THEM DESIGN, DEVELOP AND DELIVER

BEST-IN-CLASS SOLUTIONS TO THEIR CUSTOMERS

FIND S ONLUINE
HTTP://CORPORATE SPIRENT COM/
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Results and highhights

REVENUE* ADJUSTED OPERATING PROFIT'4

$4771M $421M

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE* ADJUSTED EARNINGS PER SHARE'?#

218C 5.00C

DIVIDEND PER SHARE FREE CASH FLOW?*

3.89C $35.3M

« Networks & Applications gained momentum through the year + Service Assurance revenues increased by 16 per cent reflecting
Increasing revenue by @ per cent with notably strong demand the full year benefit from 2014 acquisitions
far high speed Ethernet « Regionally, revenue in the Americas and APAC was strong,
- Wireless & Service Experience revenue decreased by 6 per with EMEA somewhat weaker
cent with growth in Positioning and Service Experience offset + 23 new products and selutions launched across all divisions
by softness In Wireless including first to market 2 5G, 5G and 50G-based Ethernet

switch testing solutions

Notes

1 Before charging exceptional items acquisition related costs acquired intangible asset amortisation and impaiwrment goodwill imparment
and share-based payment

2 Before tax effect of tems in 1 and prior year tax

Operating cash flow after tax net interest and net capital expenditure

4 Continuing operations

w

Cautlonary statement regarding forward-looking statements

This Annuai Report may contaln forward-looking statements which ate made In good faith and are based on current expectations or beltefs as well as
assumptions about future events You can sometimes but not always identify these statements by the use of a date In the future or such words as “will”
“anticipate” “estimate” "expect” “project” “intend”, "plan” “should” "may”, "assume” and other similar words By their nature forward-looking statements
are Inherently predictive and speculative and involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that will occur In
the future You should not place undue réliance on these forward-locking statements which are not a guarantee of future perfarmance and are subject
to factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed or Implied by these statements The Company undertakes no
obligauon to update any forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report whether as a result of new information future events ar otherwise
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A year of achievements

DELIVERING OPPORTUNITIES

SPIRENT INVESTS IN ITS SOLUTION PORTFOLIO TO
ADDRESS KEY INDUSTRY TRENDS AND WIN NEW
BUSINESS. 2015 HIGHLIGHTS INCLUDED THE FOLLOWING

HIGHEST DENSITY
100GBE TEST
MODULES

Both top-of-rack and aggregation
switches are adopting 100GbE links
to deal with the exploding demand

for bandwidth

Spirent launched the industry’s ughest
density 100GbE test modules to support
cloud computing applications that enable
testing of next-generation hyperscale data
center infrastructure

THE IMPACT OF LATENCY
ON HIGH SPEED
ETHERNET NETWORKS

Industry’s first 100G impairment
emulator helps reduce the effect of
latency in high speed Ethernet networks.

Network latency or delay can dramatically
reduce throughput and affect high speed
inks carrying applications such as real-time
gaming, streaming video, and financial
trading transactions The Spirent Attero
100G enables equipment manufacturers
and service providers to emulate a network
or network elements with precision
accuracy and repeatability

2
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PROVIDING A SUPERIOR
VOLTE CUSTOMER
EXPERIENCE

Unique analytics solution helps to
effectively resolve VoLTE service
experience issues

New InTouch Customer and Network
Analytics platform enables operators to
provide superior customer experience and
troubleshooting with support for 2/3/4G
technologies including VoLTE and the
Internet of Things




EXPANSION OF
USER EXPERIENCE
EVALUATION ECOSYSTEM
TO ASIA PACIFIC

Enabling operators and manufacturers
to evaluate the user experience of
the latest generation of IP-enabled

services and devices

Spirent made a multi-milhen dollar investment
10 support the development of a new
“Fitdlaunch” Lab in Beying and degloyment of
user experence servers that ink to ive mobile
networks across the Asia Paclflc reglon

ENABLING OPERATORS
TO MINIMISE
NETWORK OUTAGES

A smarter approach to managing
network performance, improving
customer loyalty and driving
revenue growth

New Spirent Landshde solutions for
Diameter Edge and Core testing allow
mobile network operators to deploy and
operate in real ime maximising operational
efficiency and protecting customer
experience and revenues

DEALING WITH GPS
VULNERABILITIES

Robust Positioning, Navigation and
Timing {(*“PNT") test framework evaluates
GPS and GNSS security vulnerabilities

Threats to GNSS and related PNT
applications are becoming more
sophisticated with the motivatton to
disrupt or cause financlal loss Splrent's
test framework improves PNT robustness
enabling threats to be detected n the field,
taken into the lab and re-synthesised

3
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UNDERSTANDING
THE VOWI-FI
USER EXPERIENCE

Benchmark study provides unique
insights into the user experience of
VoWi-Fi and performance differences
in various VolLTE-enabled devices

Sprrent worked with Signals Research
Group to provide unique insight into Vow-Fi
call quality using both residential and public
venue access points Tests included the
impact of network loading and comparisons
with Vol TE 3G HD Voice, and Skype

MEETING THE
CHALLENGE OF
WI-FI/LTE MOBILITY

Mobility and end-to-end interoperability
testing of VoWi-Fi and Wi-Fl Offload
available on a single test platform

The new solution extends Spirent
Elevate's unique ability to test muliiple
devices end-to-end on a single platform
to cover Wi-Fif LTE mobility and
interoperability testing
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What we do

OUR BUSINESS AT A GLANCE

OUR BROAD PORTFOLIO OF INNOVATIVE
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES IS ORGANISED INTO
THREE DIVISIONS THAT ADDRESS A WIDE
RANGE OF OUR CUSTOMERS’ NEEDS

ADJUSTED
OPERATING PROFIT'

$42.1M

REVENUE

$477.1M

NUMEBER OF
EMPLOYEES?

1,693

® Networks & Applications
® Wireless & Service Expenence
® Service Assurance

Notes
1 Adusted operating profit s before charging exceptional items acguisition related costs acquired

Intanglble asset amortisation and Impalrment goodwill impalrment and share-based payment
2 At 31 December 2015

4
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OUR DIVISIONS

NETWORKS & APPLICATIONS

WIRELESS & SERVICE EXPERIENCE

SERVICE ASSURANCE

Networks & Applications develops
innovative solutions for functional,
performance and security testing

of next-generation networks end
applications that simulate real-world
conditions in the lab, before a
commercial launch and in the

live network.

Our broad solutions portfolic
addresses data centers, cloud
computing, network virtualisation,
applications and security, high speed
Ethernet networks and services, and
test automation and management

DIVISIONAL FOCUS

« High speed Ethernet in data center
and wide area networks

+ Cloud and network virtualisation

Applications and secunty

- Test automation orchestration

and management

Mobility and wireless infrastructure

WHAT WE TEST

- Cloud and virtualisation

- Apphcations and security
- Mobilty

- Test automation

REVENVE

$241.9M

ADDRESSABLE MARKET
$964M
SPIRENT'S MARKET SHARE
25%

2015 ANNUAL MARKET GROWTH
9%

2015 SPIRENT’'S REVENUE GROWTH

9%

Wireless & Service Experience
solutions test the functionality and
performance of 4G LTE and 3G moblle
devices and services, and satellite
positioning devices We provide test
systems to conduct testing in the lab
prior to commercial launch, and also
products and services for assessing the
service experience on live networks,
hetping our customers to accelerate the
time to develop and launch services,

to reduce costs, and to reduce the

risks associated with launching new
technologies, devices and services.

DIVISIONAL FOCUS

+ Wireless devices

» Wireless services, including voice
over LTE {"VolLTE")

« Satellite navigation and
global positioning

+ Wireless service experience

WHAT WE TEST

« Positioning, navigation and timing
+ VoOLIE

- Device performance

« Service expernence

REVENUE

$168.7M

ADDRESSABLE MARKET

$740M

SPIRENT'S MARKET SHARE
23%

2015 ANNUAL MARKET GROWTH

-10%

2015 SPIRENT'S REVENUE GROWTH

-6%

5
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Service Assurance has distributed
service assurance and analytic
systems that allow service
providers to turn-up new services
and to diagnose and troubleshoot
network and customer issues We
provide systems for moblle device
management, device analytics
and intelligence solutions for
moblle operators

DIVISIONAL FOCUS
« Ethernet business services
» Field test solutions
« Mobile device management
and analytics
» Customer expernence
nagement analytics

WHAT WE TEST

» Network service assurance

- In-home network and field testing

- Mobile device management

« Customer experience management

REVENUE

$66.5M

ADDRESSABLE MARKET

$790M

SPIRENT'S MARKET SHARE
8%
2015 ANNUAL MARKET GROWTH
10%

2015 SPIRENT’'S REVENUE GROWTH

16%
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Chairman’s statement

A YEAR OF PROGRESS

66

Networks & Applications
division was a notable
performer with a 9 per cent
iNcrease In revenue

k2

PROGRESS IN 2015

Last year we maintained the focus on
nvesting in enhancing our product ranges
to meet the rapidly changing needs of
customers and to address new areas for
growth The increase of 4 per centin
revenue to $4771 million and the increasingly
large number of new solutions launched,
particularly in the second half are evidence
of good progress being achieved

Networks & Applications representing
over half of our revenue, performed
notably well with revenue growing by 9 per
cent On the other hand the market served
by our Wireless business contracted causing
revenue to fall To meet this challenge
dectsive action was taken in the fourth
quarter to reshape the operational cost base

It was good to see a stronger than expected
finish to 2015 across the whole Group

DIVIDEND

Although investment has been high over
the last two years, this has been undertaken
from a strong financtal position The
Company has no debt and cash balances

of $102 0 millllon as at 31 December 2015
The final dwidend recommended by the
Board s 2 21 cents, resulting In a total
dividend for 2015 of 3 89 cents per share

BOARD CHANGES

We have made a number of changes to the
compaosition of the Board in 2015 In May
we welcomed Tom Lantzsch to the Board
as a non-executive director, Tom brings

a wealth of technology experience to the
Board, currently serving as the Executive
Vice President of Strategy at ARM Holdings
Plc He has also held senor positions at

a range of leading technology companles

lan Brindle stepped down from the Board
In August 2015 after having served since

December 2006 We miss his knowledge,
wisdom and counse! In June this year we

8
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were pleased to welcome Jonathan Silver
te the Board, and tonathan has now taken
lan's place as the Chairman of the Audit
Commuttee Jonathan brings over 25 years
of experience as the Chief Financial Offices
of Laird plc, together with valuable
experience as a non-executive director

We arnounced 1n November that Rache!
whiting, our Chief Financial Officer had
decided to retire and would step down
from the Board at this year s AGM On
behalf of the Board | would like to express
our gratitude for all her hard work and

her contribution to the Board and to the
success of the Group The search for
Rachel's replacement 1s underway and
we wlll make an announcement in due
course about the Identity of her successor

BOARD VISITS

Members of the Board visited a number

of our offlces this year and met with

the management teams of many of our
business units We have been impressed
by the dedication, flair and inventiveness
demonstrated by our employees which
enables us to deliver the complex solutions
customers seek On behalf of the Board

I would like to thank everyone Inthe Group
for therr contnibution this year and we look
forward to continuing momentum in 2016

COUTLOOK

The Board is confident that we are set

on the path to achleve overall order

and revenue growth for Spirent as our
R&D focus on the most attractive market
segments continues to deliver and as

we begin to see the returns from our sales
and markeling invesiments accelerate

ALEX WALKER
Chairman




Chief Executive Officer’s strateqic review

STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT -
DELIVERING ON OUR INVESTMENTS

66

Momentum improved In the
second half with revenue
growth up 9 per cent over
the same period last year

9’

2015 saw further structural changes in the
test and measurement industry driven by
shifts in technological developments, such
as the move from lab-based testing to live
deployments, heightened emphasis on
virtual products and cloud infrastructure,
the maturity of the market for smartphones
in developed regions, and continued
consehdation of major customers The
relentless growth in data volumes continues
reguiring higher speed Ethernet deployments
to provide enhanced capacity and resilience
against a background of an increasing
cyber secunty threat

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Group revenue grew by 4 per centin

2015 to $4771 million (2014 $457 2 million),
whilst the order intake for the Group

was 3 per cent higher at $482 0 milllon
{2014 $469 4 million) with a book to bill
ratio of 101{2014 103)

Revenue growth was strong in Networks &
Applications, up 9 per cent, and In Service
Assurance, up 16 per cent Wireless &
Service Expenence revenue decreased
by 6 per cent, as It was impacted by the
change in demand for smartphone
development and valdation testing
Regionally the Amernicas and APAC were
strong, with EMEA somewhal weaker

The year started slowly with first half
revenues down $2 3 milhon compared

to 2014 Momentum improved during

the second half with revenue growing
$22 2 mdion up 9 per cent over the
same period last year This was even
more exaggerated at the leve! of adjusted
operating profit first half profit decreasing
by $14 6 million to $6 0 million, but the
strong revenue growth combined with
expense constraint in the second half year
delivered a $10 7 milhion increase in profit
to $36 1 milikron, up 42 per cent over the
second half of 2014 This resulted in full
year adjusted operating profit of

$42 1 million

7
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In 2015 the increased level of product
development was maintained at

$118 3 million (2014 $115 4 million),

with a marked increase In sales and
marketing activities at $127 2 million
{2014 $113 5 million) Spirent delivered

23 new product solutions to market in the
year, created a new platform for big data
analyucs delivered leading 100G Ethernet
and SDN protocel test solutions, and
significantly enhanced its cyber security
capabilities The expansion in sales and
marketing delivered growlh in major
accounts and resulted in the addition

of 498 new customers in the year

Return on sales was 9 per cent for the
year, a reduction against the 10 per cent
recorded for 2014, reflecting the significant
increase In sales and marketing efforis to
create new market cpportunities for the
jonger term

Basic earnings per share for the Group
decreased in 2015 to 218 cents per share
{2014 3 35 cents) Adjusted basic earnings
per share was 5 00 cents (2014 5 B2 cents)

Free cash flow generation was strong at
$35 3 milhon 1n 2015 {2014 $10 7 million), a
cash conversion ratio of 2 7 imes reported
garmings {2014 0 S times) The Company
has no debt and cash batances were

$102 0 million at 31 December 2015

(2014 $99 8 million)

The final dividend recommended 15

2 21 cents per share unchanged from
2014 The total dividend for 2015 is also
unchanged at 3 89 cents per share
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Chief Executive Officer’s strategic review continued

STRATEGY

The second year of implementing our
strategy to invest for long term growth has
delivered a record range of new products,
solutions and services to address the
radically changing requirements for
verfication, assurance and security of
data communications Investments have
been made in customer service and
support, product development marketing
and in acquiring new technologles The
alm Is to enhance Splrent's competitive
differentiation, to expand the solutions
set to gain market share and to win new
customers A long term objective 15 to
expand revenues through software
subscription, services and royalties in
addition to our core business providing
capital equipment as part of the sale of
test systems

Customers come 10 Spirent when they have
a need to test a network device or service
they supply, either prior 1o or duning
deployment and we develop a wide range
of iInnovative solutions to make that happen
We remain committed to our strategy and as
explained below have made progress in all
areas of our strategic prionties during 2015
Those prionties are to

+ expand the markets we serve

- establish and maintain technology
leadership

« deepen our customer relationships

- acquire new capabilities
and technologies

« Invest In our people, and

- maintain financial strength and flexibility

66

As experts we work closely
with industry thought
leaders, standard setting
bodies and researchers

k2

STRATEG!IC DEVELOPMENT

AND GROWTH INITIATIVES

Spirent 1s recognised as an expert (n test
methodologies and the provision of new
efficient and effective solutions for live
virtual and high speed, high density
network deployment utiising a wide range
of access technologies As experts we
work closely with industry thought leaders,
standard setting bodies and researchers
This sets the pnonties for iInvestment in the
husiness to adapt and change in order for
it to remaln competitive and sustainable

There continue to be a number of themes
which are driving change in our industry
and where we see opportunities for
Spirent to build revenue streams that

are sustalnable with long term growth
potential The following major themes
remain the key objectives for our strategic
development throughout 2016

HIGH SPEED ETHERNET

Order intake grew 10 per cent year-on-year
In 2015 Spirent offers leading test solutions
for 100G and 400G Ethernet and Is well
positioned for the continued exponential
growth in network bandwidth The latest
INnovation to INcrease capacity n data
centers s through the development of high
speed Ethernet vanants tased on 25G,
which will stimulate growth in our core
business operations Spirent was first to
launch 2 5G and 5G based Ethernet switch
testing solutions and in the fourth quarter
of 2015 was first to market with a 506 test
solution In addition we added W-Fi test
capability to Spirent TestCenter™, ang

8
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updated and enhanced the user interface
to support software as a service (*SaaS”)
and web-based applications

CLOUD AND VIRTUALISATION

This represented 2 per cent of our
business in 201% and 15 an area expected
to grow rapidly We have developed and
launched new solutions for testing cloud
infrastructures and virtualisation Proof of
concept trials are In progress at major
service providers, web services companies
and e-commerce providers The trals
address the needs for telecom operators to
test measure and validate the migration of
network functions and servicestorunina
cloud infrastructure This 1s an important
part of our strategy to expand our served
customer base These offerings include a
Saas solution running muitiple application
methodotogies, such as Cloud Stress

MOSBILITY INFRASTRUCTURE

Order intake grew 31 per cent in 2015
We have accelerated development to
continue to grow In the lab test market
for mobile core Wi-Fi IM3, Dlameter and
virtualisation There are a large number
of proof-of-concept trlals In progress and
we have secured new contract wins across
the world with major service providers
Landshide EDGE has been deveioped

to facllitate cell site turn-up and deliver
remote and end-to-end validation

In live networks We have also added

a key partnership for network visibility
making @ $5 million investment to take

a 28 per cent stake in Jolata, Inc The
increasing trend for data usage driven




by video requlrements Is belng satisfied
with a new acceleration module to offer a
massive Increase in data test performance
Channels to market have been expanded
as has the technical capacity to support
many more customer engagements

CYBER SECURITY

This represented 6 per cent of our
business in 2015 and 1s expected to grow
rapidly More and more breaches are
reported on a daily basis with in¢reasing
levels of damage impacting commercial,
government and infrastruciure networks
and services Aspects of security and
safety concerns for connected vehicles are
demanding new secunty test processes to
which Spirent 1s actively responding
Secunty consulting has been added to
provide threat detection services to 1est,
measure and manage security nsks itially
prniortising networks wireless, apphcations,
pternet of Things and automotive We are
utiising our expertise to supplement
research efforts for the addition of new
malware threat and fuzzing capabilities

to our solutlons it Is planned to enhance
marketing initiatives to help expand our
served markets to Include enterpnse
customers In the financial services
healthcare and hospitality industries

Vulnerability of the signals emanating
from satelllte navigation constellations

Is of Increasing concern in critical safety
infrastructure and commercial systems
Further rescurces are being applied o
offer test systems, including a cyber threat
intelbgence library to allow customers o

66

The objective Is to expand
our served customer base
In carriers worldwide

&

deliver robust position, navigation and
tming metrics 1o their applications and
infrastructure networks

ANALYTICS

Big data analytics and virtualisation

are changing the landscape of service
provision and assurance Advances here
have opened up the possibility not only to
find errors rapidly but also to predict them
s0 thal 1ssues can be averted In addition
virtualisation enables test probes to be
cost effectively inserted at any point in the
network Spirent’s leadership position in
the service assurance market, along with
our field proven analytics platform,
presents a unigue opportunity in the
analytics market In 2015 we developed
and launched our first wirtual probe and
won a first contract with our hew high
performance analytics sofution, InTouch
CNA This 15 a more versatile, easier to
use and cost effective Implementation

of our powerful Customer Expernence
Management software system to address
the rapld growth market in the next-
generation service assurance market

The objective Is to expand cur served
customer base In carriers worldwide and
to give additlonal competitive advantage
to the deployment of Spirent technologies
N live networks

ADJACENT MARKETS (LONG TERM
GROWTH INITIATIVES)

Internet of Things

Our Internet of Things {"loT”) inimiatives
combine capabilities across the Spirent
portfolio as well as the specific

9
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devetopment of new capabilities As
billions of devices become connected,
mobile network operators and service
providers face major challenges to
manage service provision and quality
levels Spuent has products and services
to enable and accelerate the development
launch and operations of devices, network
management and optimisation We plan

to supply embedded software test and
assurance tools and systems to enable
the development of the [oT The Initlal
offerings, to be announced from early
2016, will be software as a chent,
connectivity and analytical tools

Automotive

Our strategy to enter the test market for
automotive data networks is to utilise
Spirent s expertise In Ethernet testing to
focus imually on the development and
deployment of Ethernet for m;}/ehlcle
sysiem commumcations We will also
continue to serve automotive needs
through positioning technologies and
tools to test emergency call requirements

ERIC HUTCHINSON
Chief Executive Officer
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Market trends

UNDERSTANDING OUR MARKET
AND GLOBAL TRENDS

THE CHANGING REQUIREMENTS

OF MOBILE CONNECTIVITY

Consumers are using New services In ways
that drive mobile operators to iIncrease
capacity and reduce latency The industry

is moving beyond debating the benefits

of volce over LTE ("VoLTE") to face the
challenges of launching and managing these
services GSA reported 30 operators have
commercially launched Vol TE high definition
volce in 21 countrles, and 111 operators are
investing in Vol.TE deployments trials or
studies in 52 countnes (21 October 2015)

The opportunity for carner Wi-Fi hotspots

Is heating up as moblle operators seek ways
1o Integrate Wi-Fiwath their mobile network,
either by offering hotspots or offloading some
mabife data traffic o a Wi-Fi network Recent
technology advances (802 11ac) and newly
freed up Wi-Fi spectrum (5GHz) enable new
service configurations, including in-home
video networks and voice over Wi-Fi
{"VoWI-F1") caling with handoff to the external
cellular network Infonetics Research predicts
the carmer Wi-F1 equipment market will grow
from $609 milhion in 2014 to $2 6 billion

In 2019, which represents a_cornpound
annualbrowth rate ("CAGR") of 34 per cent
(27 Apni 2015)2

The communications industry surged ahead
towards an age of hyper-connectivity with

the Internet of Things ("loT") loT will bring

new opportunities and challenges as large
numbers and a wide varety of devices will

be connected to netwerks This will drive a
need for faster, cheaper ways to connectto
the network 10 securely and cost-effectively
communicate information and to manage

the networks to provide the level of service
required for these applications 1o run
efficiently Machina Research estimated there
would be 5 5 billion connections at the end of
2015 and forecasts there will be 10 8 billion
connections at the end of 2018, thisis a CAGR
(2013-2018) of 24 5 per cent They estimated
revenues of $563 billlon in 215 and forecast

~N U B W N

revenues of $984 billion in 2018, this 1s a
CAGR {(2013-2018) of 215 per cent, the device
and installation revenue will grow at a CAGR
of 23 per cent and the service revenue will
grow at a CAGR of 21 per cent®

As service providers strive to do more than
offer larger pipes, therr ability 1o leverage
customer dala becomes a key competitive
advantage Spirent entered this market
with the acquisition of DAX technologles In
2014 Using analytics service providers are
able to get actionable insight that will help
them increase revenues, reduce capex,
Improve customer experience and bulld
customer loyalty

ETHERNET SPEEDS

The past four decades of Ethernet has seen
a steady increase In speeds from 1G Ethernet
through 10G 40G 100G and Spirent was
first-to-market with a 400G Ethernet test
solution However it's not all about the highest
absolute bandwidth as purpose-specific
speed increases will dnive multipte refresh
cycles across the Ethernet spectrum Cloud
providers, Telco Network Virtualisation and
leading enterprise data centers will be the
drniving force behind a rapid transition from
servers with multi-core processors and 106G
connectons to 256 and 50G Ethernet in

the next few years While in the enterprise
campus area the bandwidth increases and
reliance on Wi-Fi are the driving force behind
the move from i1G to 2 5G and 5G Ethernet for
Wh-Fi access point connectivity Spirent leads
developrnent in this area with new 25G and
50G Ethernet test solutions released in 2015
and 2 5G/5G planned for earty 2016

CLOUD AND NETWORK
VIRTUALISATION

The agility and efficiency with which cloud
providers launch new applications and
services has been a driving force of
Innovation in the telecom industry for the last
four years Service providers have gone from
small trials network functions virtualisation

Source GSA_HMG Market and Technology Update] (October 2015)
Source Infonetics Research r:arner Wi-F1 Equipment Biannua! Worldwide and Regional Market Share, Size and Forecasts 1st Edmori(ApnI 2015)
Saurce Machina Research M2M Global Forecast Analysis 20142024 {June 2015)

Source {HS Infonetcs NFV Hardware Softwargand Services {Juty 2015)

Source Identity Theft Resource Center 2015 Data Breach Category Summary {January 2016}
Source Ponemon Instltute12015 Cost of Data Breach Study United States (May 2015)
Source IHS Infonetics Content Secunty Gateway Appliances Software and SaaS Market Share and Forecasts 3Q15 Edition (December 2015)
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{*NFV") to run on cloud infrastructure

with software defined netwarks (“SDN"),

to deployrnents of complete virtualised
enhanced mobile packet core (“VEPC™)
networks for new mobile data services for
connected cars [HS Infonetics expects the
total service provider NFV market will grow
from $950 miflion in 2014 1o $116 billion in
2019, with a 2014-2019 CAGR of 65 per cent?
Spirent leads the market with performance
and scale validation solutions for dozens
of virtual network functions as well as
benchmarking solutions for the underlying
NFV infrastructure

SECURITY BREACHES

GETTING PERSONAL

Recent headlines announce the critical

nature of network security and the Importance
of protecting customer data from harm
According to data from the Identity Theft
Resource Center, duning 2015 there were
over 780 major breaches in the US, and nearty
170 million records exposed® The Ponemon
Institute claims an average cost o business

of $6 & million per data breach No sector
remained untouched as breaches impacted
all sectors Including government, technology,
healthcare and entertainment®

Fuelled by the ever-changing nature of
cyber security attacks, Spirent customers In
the network equipment development service
providers and enterprise space are investing
In advanced network threat prevention
According to IHS Infonetics network
advanced threal prevention spend Is set to
reach $1 3 bilion 1In 2019, a 2014-2018 CAGR
of 22 per cent’ Innovation s happening at
multiple levels from leveraging analytics

to detect zero day attacks quicker to new
network security services operated from
the cloud With iis network application
performance and security threat detection
valdation solutions, Spirent is providing the
industry with the [atest up-to-date and most
relevant attack simulation capabikties




WHAT THIS MEANS
FOR OUR BUSINESS

NETWORKS & APPLICATIONS

WIRELESS & SERVICE EXPERIENCE

SERVICE ASSURANCE

Market-leading solutions for
functional, performance and security
testing and validation of next-
generation networks, applications
and security that simulate real-world
conditions, ensuring commercial
deployment success

KEY MARKET DRIVERS

+» New Ethernet speeds across
applications 2 5G, 5G, 256, 506G
and 400G
Carriers looking to virtualisation
to increase pace of new
service Introductlon

» Cyber security market spend
continues to Increase
loT embedded devices Increase
cyber security nsks

MARKET CHALLENGES

- Service providers needing to keep
up with the scale and performance
of cloud services

« 4G VolLTE and loT bringing additional
demands for motnle netwarks

« The critical nature of network security
and of protecting customer data

OPPORTUNITIES

« Support needed for all new
Ethernet speeds

- Compute, storage and network
functions enabling techonologles
such s SDN and NFV 1o become
malnstream

» Customers demanding
Test Automation

« Expang secunty solution platforms
and attack simulation capabilities

+ New deployments of Ethernet
and time-sensitive networking
for automotive

» Continue to leverage mobtlity lab test
capabiities in the operational market

innovative test sytems for functional
and performance testing of 4G LTE
mobile devices, services, connected
devices and satellite positioning
devices, and for the measurement
of the user experience of services
on live networks.

KEY MARKET DRIVERS

« Accelerating time-to-market and
reducing cost to develop and launch
new devices and services

« Smartphone market reaching matunty

« Mobile operators seeking ways
10 integrate Wi-Fiwith therr
mobille network

« Growing cpportunities and
challenges in loT

« Increasing awareness of global
navigation satellite system
vulnerabilitres

MARKET CHALLENGES

« Consolidation of top-tier global
smartphone, chipset and network
equipment vendors

« Developing, connecting and
operating loT devices and
apphcations on mobile and
non-cellular networks

OPPORTUNITIES

« China 4G LTE ecosystem solutions

» Reducing test time and costs

- New products and services far loT
to accelerate the development of
connected devices

+ Bullding leadership in testing user
expenence of converged services
and dewvices

« Industry-leading products for new
challenges facing the positioning
navigation and timing industry

1
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Distributed systems that enable
service providers to turn-up new
services, diagnose, troubleshoot
and reduce time to resclve issues
with networks and services, and
continuously monitor their
performance and user experience
through end-to-end visibillty and
real-time analytics

KEY MARKET DRIVERS

« Increasing emphasis on deployment
and assurance of the provision
of services

« Shiftin focus conunues from legacy
networks to evaluation of
virtualisation

- Need to reduce time to resolve
customer expernence degradation

« Reducing the need tec dispatch
technicians to the customer s premises

+ Growing need for Wi-Fi network
quahty monitoring

MARKET CHALLENGES

« Growing network complexity

+ Caution arourd virtuahsation

+ Increased carner competition drives
focus on customer experience

OPPORTUNITIES

- Capialise on new virtualised and
100Ghps service assurance systems

. Expand footpnint for Customer
Experlence Management
analytics solution

- Assuring carrier Wi-Fi services
and access point monitoring

+ Mobile device management
solutions for mobile virtual
netwoik operators

- Reduce time to characterise
network performance and
user experlence
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Business mode!

OUR BUSINESS MODEL IS BUILT ON OUR
PASSION FOR TECHNOLOGICAL INNOVATION

THE MARKETS WE TARGET

We target fast growing complex, technical niche markets We aim to be first to market
and to register intellectual property to create a high barner to entry {or competition

EVALUATION OF
CUSTOMER NEEDS

Before uime and money
Is spent developing a product
or solution Spirent has a
rgorous process to ensure
that a profitable return
will be made

Our customers attain key vatlue-creation through using our products and selutions to

and maintain our high margin high value position in the market

X/

———> CREATION —————> MANUFACTURE ————>

Spirent largely employs
s own talented
engineering team to
innovale products and
solutions Some outsourcing
of non-core skills takes place

A very high proportion of
our manufacturing 1s
outsourced We use world
class contract manufacturers
{0 ensure quahty and
tmeliness of supply

N

CUSTOMERS SELLING PROPOSITION

reduce the time taken to get their products and systems to market,
gain competitive advantage and maximise revenue,
ensure the quality of their products, systems and services

- protect their brand reputation and
- Increase the effiiency of their operations through the automation and utilisation of their data
that opumises thewr activities and capital expenditure

12
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CUSTOMER
TRIALS

Our products and
solutions often have
a sales cycle which involves
the customer evaluating the
preduct before they buy it




WE ARE EXPERTS IN UNDERSTANDING
AND ADDRESSING OUR CUSTOMERS’ COMPLEX
TECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS

CONTINUING DEMAND FOR OUR PRODUCT AND SOLUTIONS
We operate In a fast moving technologically demanding environment where everyone and
everything 1s connected This constant change 1s what drives the requirement for new progducts

and solutions from our customers Data speeds, complexity and the innovation of cur customers
and their customers' further drives the requirement for our products and solutions

N/

) TECHNICAL ) DIRECT ) MAINTENANCE ) FOLLOW-ON
DIRECT SELLING FULFILMENT AND SUPPORT BUSINESS

The vast majenty of our sales Wherever possibie and when Qur products and solutions Much of Spirent’s revenue
| are through our technical financially advantageous, often require professional Is follow:bn business from
| direct sales team Where we will stup direct to the services for installation existing customers Long term
‘ selling diwect I1s not financially customer from our and training We also sell customer retention Is key to
vlable, we use speciahst contract manufacturer yearly maintenance Sprrent s success
| distributors and agents and support

»

VALUE-CREATION CULTURE FOR OUR STAKEHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDERS

We have embedded a culture aimed at creating value for our stakeholders and shareholders
which encourages rational nsk taking We attract and retain talented people offering career
development a non-discriminatory workplace and fairr and competitive remuneration, within
a non-bureaucratic culture

Our diwidend policy Is to maintain a sustainable dividend to shareholders as we consider the
' dividend to be a core component of shareholder return and one on which they can depend

13
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HOW WE DRIVE OUR BUSINESS FORWARD

OUR STRATEGY

Strategy at a glance

Continuously iInnovate In test and measurement techneologies 1o develop leading products and services for fixed and mobile voice,
data and video applications and networks To be recognised by customers for the ease of use and simphcity of our solutions for

testing and measuring complex systems

KEY STRATEGIC ACTIONS

We have identfied six key strategic prionities that we beheve are cntical in order to achieve our strategy and ultimately our vision

2

3

EXPAND THE MARKETS ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN STRENGTHEN OUR
WE SERVE TECHNOLOGY LEADERSHIP CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIPS
DESCRIPTION DESCRIPTION DESCRIPTION

Extend our test product portfoho to

serve new markets such as

- Network and applications security

« Mabile communications gualty of
sarvice in the ive network

- Development of microchtp
technologies for data
communtcations

- Continue apprepriate levels of
investment in product development
engineering

« Extend our engagement with industry
standards bodies

= Close alignment with our customers
who lead innovation in the industries
we serve

+ Maintain and enhance our expertise

« Active partnering with our customers

- Create innovative sclutions for
customers future needs

« Extend the capabilities of our
In-house expertse

» Continued focus on quality of service
delivery and support

IMPORTANCE

In order to Increase the level of revenue
growth that we can achieve 1t Is key
that we expand Into both adjacent and
new markets

IMPORTANCE

We operate in highly competitive niche
markets and If we fall to invest In the
business at a sufficient level then we
wilt see our market share decrease

IMPORTANCE

If we work closely with our customers
then we have the best chance of
understanding both their current and
future requirements We want our
customers to view Spirent as the
expert that they turn to In order 10
solve their problems

PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE
REVENUE INVESTMENT IN PRODUCT REVENUE FROM TOP N
GROWTH DEVELOPMENT 20 CUSTOMERS
$4771M $118.3M $241.8M
2014 $4572M 2014 $115 4M 2014 $208 9M
COMMENTARY COMMENTARY COMMENTARY

We continue to target new markets in a
very structured manner and ensure that
we have a healthy balance between
maintaining our existing core markets
and customers, and expanding |ntohew
markets and winning new customers

In cur largest markets we currently
belleve that we have strong technology
leadership positions after the investment
inthe busmesswthe fast two years
We have achieved significant product
milestones in the year as a resull of

lhij Investment

In 2015 we have implemented the
salesforce customer relationship
management software to improve our
interaction with customers and in 2016
we expect to see the full benefits

RISK

Technology change and employee
skillbase {see pages 24 and 25 for
mitigation actions)

RISK

Technology change and employee
skillbase {see pages 24 and 25 for
mitigation actions)
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RISK

Customer dependence and business
continuity (see pages 24 and 25 for
mitigation actlons)







OUR VISION

To be recogmsed as the leading experts in test methodologies and solutions for data communications Spirent operates

In a rapidly changing business environment and therefore we regularty review our strategy to ensure that it has a clear focus
and directlon based on the expected future market trends, opportunities and the challenges we face

4

5

6

ACQUIRE NEW CAPABILITIES INVEST IN MAINTAIN FINANCIAL STRENGTH
AND TECHNOLOGIES OUR PEOPLE AND FLEXIBILITY
DESCRIPTION DESCRIPTION DESCRIPTION

Expand our portfoho through
. Partnerships

- Licensing of technologies
- Purchase of businesses

Cur employees are central to our

strategy and success and we aim to

» Find and attract highly quahfied
and skilled employees

« Engage our employees through
exciting work and opportunities

- Retain the expertise and knowledge
that we have built

A robust balance sheet and strong
cash generation allows us to
« Invest in organic growth
+ Pursue strategic acquisitions
+ Pay sustainable dividends
to shareholders

IMPORTANCE

In ordet 1o be technology leaders we
have to be aware of other technologies
we need which have been developed
outside Spirent which we either don't
have the skills or the necessary time

to develop

IMPORTANCE

Qur employees are our bustness and
without the best possible team, we will
not be able to deliver on our strategy
Every element of our strategy Is bui't
around staff innovation and expertise

IMPORTANCE

Hawving financial strength and flexibility
means that we are able to act quickly
when we see an oppertunity i any of
our strategrc pricrities

PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE PERFORMANCE
INVESTMENT VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEE FREE
IN M&A TURNOVER CASH FLOW
Q,
$6.7M 7.3% $35.3M
2014 $85 IM 2014 4 4% 2014 310 7M
COMMENTARY COMMENTARY COMMENTARY

After heavy investment in 2014 we
bedded in those acquisitions In 2015 We
added an acquisition and an investment
in an assoclate durng the year Qur
bustness leaders have a strong input into
any expansion of our portfolio

Dunng 2015 we evolved our employee
skllbase to ensure we have the nght
people with the nght skills for our

2016 opportunities

We value strong financial dilgence
within the Group and ensurtng that
profit turns to cash s always a

top priority

RISK
Acquisitions (see page 25 for risk
mitigation actlons)

RISK
Employee skilibase (see page 25 for
mitigation actions)
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RISK
Macro-economic {see page 24 for
mitigation actions)
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Strategy In action

FOCUSED ON

HIGH SPEED
ETHERNET
SECURITY

Consumption of applications and “Fortinet .
content has dramatically increased the is bli!‘lg org imw to dep'w
bandwidth demands on organisations’ core ﬁrewalling in high speed, high data volume
network infrastructure Networks are environments. without comprom
also becoming oversaturated as the . P isi"g overall mm
volume of data center traffic jJumps and security. This is not just a claim. By leveraging Spirent's
more than 10X, calling for next- test mbgy W
generation firewall appliances with and m we are able to
core network bandwidth capabilities demonstrate the outstanding performance and quality
approaching 100 GbE and heyond of the FortiGate-3810D.”

.
Spirent TestCenter and Avalanche
were used for performance evaluation ANDREA ZAWORSKI
of the world's first 100Gbps Etharnet, Lab Director at PCTEST

Data Center Firewall Appliance
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Strategy in action

FOCUSED ON

SCALING

THE MOBILE
INFRASTRUCTURE

The “always on” Internet of Things
(“loT") and other connected devices are
driving huge levels of signalling traffic
in the moblile network Surges or
storms, congestion, service degradation
and Inter-carrier issues can lead to slow
or dropped connections, lost billing
data, dissatisfled customers, and in

the worst case network wide outages

Landslhide Diameler 1s a comprehensive
solution that tests signalling protocols
at extreme scale so carners can ensure
efficient and optimised services

“As more operators deploy LTE VoLTE and enhanced IP
services the amount of Diameter messages within and
between operators is growing. Optimising the signalling
plane has become a necessity. Solutions such as Spirent's
Landslide Diameter enable operators to ensure efficient
and optimised Diameter signalling.”

DIANE MYERS
Principal Analyst Infonetics, part of IHS Inc
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Strategy in action

FOCUSED ON

ENHANCING
THE CUSTOMER
EXPERIENCE

Spirent InTouch collects and analyses

a wide array of customer, network and
reference information for the purpose of
proactively identifying, troubleshooting
and resolving emerging subscriber
quality of experience issues

By Integrating Tableau authoring and
publishing capabilities Spirent will enable
operators to rapidly customise their own
dashboards and workflows to support

a richer set of user cases and projects

“This partnership is great news for telecom operators who
want to better see and understand their data. It combines
Spirent’s Customer Experience Management analytics
with Tableau’s powerful visual analytics to help people
at all levels in the organisation discover insights
and make data-driven decisions.”

SCOTT JONES
Senior Vice President, Amencas Sales at Tableau Software
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Strategy in action

FOCUSED ON

THE

CONNECTED

CAR

Driver assistance features such as
360" video cameras and advanced
driver assist systems require new
in-car networks, which also provide
cosfand efficiency benefits to both
users and manufacturers

Spirent helped Renault implement
advanced infotainment and driver
assistance technology that provide
drivers and passengers with the
multiple benefits of connected cars

“Renault is at the forefront of technology and is
constantly looking to provide drivers and passengers
with new features to create a ‘Passion for Life’.
Automotive Ethernet will help provide a lot of
these features and benefits.”

ALAIN COUVREUX
EE Architecture Expert Leader of Renauft
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Key performance indicators

OUR GOALS AND TARGETS

THE BOARD HAS IDENTIFIED THE FOLLOWING KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS TO MEASURE THE GROUP’S
STRATEGIC PROGRESS

Sprrent s strategy focuses on medium to long term growth and therefore 1ts achievement cannot just be measured by looking at
performance in 2015 compared to the pnior year, trends over a number of years must also be considered Key performance indicators

relate to continuing operations only

BOOK TO BILL RATIO

REASON FOR MEASUREMENT The
ratio of orders booked to revenue billed
15 @ measure of the visibility of future
revenues at current levels of activity and
provides anindication of the underlying
trend in Spirent s future revenue stream

PERFORMANCE The Group aims
to malntaln a book to blll ratlo of 100
or higher The 2015 ratlo of 1011s a
positive result

RELEVANCE TO STRATEGY The bock
to bill ratio 15 an indicator of whether
future activity levels are rising or
slowing, and therefore how effective
we have been in the execution of
our strategy

REVENUE % MILLION

REASON FCR MEASUREMENT Spirent
monitors growth in revenue as this
shows how successful Spirent has
been In expanding Its markets and
growing its customer base

PERFORMANCE Growth of 4 per cent
In 2015 following growth of !l per cent
In 2014 demonstrates that our overall
strategy is delivenng top-hine growth

RELEVANCE TO STRATEGY Our
revenue growth demonstrates all the
aspects of our strategy our success in
expanding our markets both organically
and through acquisition mamtaining
technology leadership and our strong
relationships with our customers all of
which ensure that we continue 1o win
and maintain business

ADJUSTED OPERATING PROFIT' $ MILLION

REASON FOR MEASUREMENT
Adjusted operating profit is the
measure used to evaluate the overall
performance of the Group as weli as
each of the cperating segments

PERFCORMANCE Continued investment
in product development sales and
marketing and support services (o
ensure sustainable revenue growth
suppressed short term profitability

RELEVANCE TO STRATEGY Adjusted
operating profit s a direct consequence
of our success In growing revenue but
It also Impacts our financial strength
and therefore our abllity to invest In

the business for future growth

RETURN ON SALES'%

REASON FOR MEASUREMENT This

Is @ measure of the Group s overall
profitability Spirent operates in markets
which have high operating returns and
strives to achieve best in-class operating
returns compared with its peers

PERFORMANCE The continued
investment for future growth was
higher than the revernue growth
and surpassed the return on sales
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RELEVANCE TO STRATEGY This1s a
measure of how successful we are In
our overall strategy and demonstrates
our ability to grow revenue and sustain
orimprove margin through efficient
operations whilst being mindful of

the need to Invest for the future




ADJUSTED BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE (“EPS™2 CENTS

REASON FOR MEASUREMENT
Long term growth In adjusted EPS is
a fundamental driver to Increasing
shareholder value

PERFORMANCE Splrent s aim s to
achieve growth In adjusted EPS Part
of Executive Directors remuneration is
dependent on achleving EPS targets

RELEVANCE TO STRATEGY This is
a measwre of how successful we are
overall in cur strategy and ultimately
how Spirent Increases value for

its shareholders

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT AS A PERCENTAGE
OF REVENUE %

REASCN FOR MEASUREMENT

To maintain Its competiiive pasition
Spirent must conlinue to invest in
order to support future organic
growth |nitiaiives In line with the
strateglc objectives

PERFORMANCE In 2015 we continued
to invest in the 24-25 per cent range to
ensure sustainable growth

RELEVANCE TO STRATEGY It 1s critical
that Spirent s product development
investment keeps pace with the speed
of change intechnology and of course
that it 1s directed at the nght key
technology areas It enables us to
expand our markets and to maintain
our technology leadership

NUMBER OF ENGINEERING AND
PRODUCT MILESTONES ACHIEVED

REASON FOR MEASUREMENT

The CEQ sets quarterty engineering
mitestones which are selected to
représent the next entical stages in
the achlevement of Spirent s long term
strategie objectives

PERFCRMAMNCE The Inclusion

of englneering milestones for
acquisitions has contributed to record
levels of achlevement

RELEVAMNCE TO STRATEGY To expand
our markets and maintain technology
leadership it 1s vital that Spirent s
solutions must be first to market to
ensure a compettive advantage and
this of course 1s dependent on the
achievement of its product milestones

VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEE TURNOVER %

REASON FOR MEASUREMENT Spuents
success 1s dependent onits talented
employees and therefore retaining them
15 extremety important Voluntary
employee turnover compared to industry
average 1s the measure used 10 assess
how well the Group has performed

PERFORMANCE Staff turnover
remained below the industry average
of 131 per cent

RELEVANCE TO STRATEGY We
cannot avold the fact that some of our
employees will move on but we can
averd a skills shortage by approprately
managing, recogrising and rewarding
our people This KP( 15 a measure of
how successful Spirentis in its strategy
of Investing In its pecple

FREE CASH FLOW? $ MILLION

Notes

REASON FOR MEASUREMENT Cash
generation 1s @ measure of the quality of
Spirent s earnings The aim 1s to achieve
a high conversion of earnings into cash

PERFORMANCE Strong working
capltal performance and less capltal
investment resulted In a cash
conversion ratio of 2 7 times reported
earnings (20¥4 0 5times)

RELEVANCE TO STRATEGY Hawving
strong free cash generation reflects
Spirent s ability lo generate funds

for future Investment. It allows us 1o
malntain financial strength and flexibility

1 Before exceptional tems acquisibon related costs scguired intangibte asset amortisation and impairment gocedwill impairment

and share-based payment
2 Before tax effect of items in note 1and prior year tax

3 Operating cash flow after tax net Inierest and net capital expenditure
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Principal nsks and uncertainties

STRONG RISK MANAGEMENT
UNDERPINS EVERYTHING WE DO

THE PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES CURRENTLY
FACED BY THE SPIRENT GROUP

Like all businesses Spirent is exposed to
a number of risks and uncertainties These
nsks may anse from internal factors but
some will be a result of external factors
over which the Group has little ar no direct
control tis the effective management

of these risks that supports Spirent in
delivering onits strategic objectives
safeguards the Group's assets and over
time will also enhance shareholder value
The process {0 1dentify and manage the
principal risks and uncertainties of the
Spirent Group Is an integral component

of the Internal control system

The nsk assessment process starts in

the businesses where up-to-date risk
registers are maintained and updated as
part of the normal operating and control
procedures Each business identifies its
key risks and nominates a risk owner The
impact and the lkelhood of occurrence of
each nsk 1s ranked, which assists the Group

Executive Committee in assessing the
importance of each risk to the Spirent Group
as a whole Once risks have been assessed,
an apprepriate risk mitigation response s
determined for each nisk identified The
individual businesses are required 1o update
therr nsk registers as new or emerging risks
are dentified

Itis net possible to identify every risk that
could affect the business and the actions
described below to mitigate those risks
cannot provide absolute assurance that
the risk will not accur or adversely affect
the operating or financial performance

of the Group

The Board has classified the principal risks
by the impact the risk would be expected
1o have on the Group should it eccur, and
the anticipated hkehhood that that nsk may
occur using the following classifications

Risk Impact
Impact High
Medium

Low

Likelihood of occurrence Likely
Possible

Unlikely
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The Board takes the view that a High
impact nsk could lead to a 10 per cent
or more reduction In turnover a Medium
impact nsk a 5 to 10 per cent reduction
inturnover and a Low Impact risk a
reduction of up to 5 per cent of turnover

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors
the Group's nsk processes and reports to
the Board on therr effectiveness Risk is
considered by the Audit Committee at least
three times per year at which time risk
registers for both the Group and the
matenat business units wihin the Group
are reviewed The Audit Committee
challenges and debates the risks with
reference to nisk telerance and appetite

as set by the Board Progress made and
any further actions to be taken regarding
mitigation plans as well as any changes

to the risk profile, are discussed In detail




The Board had identified the following principal nisks each of which 1s discussed below

Risk Impact Likelihood Change*
Macro-economic High Likely <>
Technology change High Likely <>
Customer dependence / Customer investment plans Medium Likely ~
Competition Medium Possible <>
Acquisitions Medium Possible <>
Business continuity High Possible <>
Employee skilibase Medium Possible <>

* The Board s view of the likelihood of occurrence and/or impact has changed (combined) compared with the prior year

Provision C 2 2 of the 2014 UK Corporate
Governance Code requires the Board to
assess the viablility of the Group over a
suitable period It was determined that a
three year penod should be used when
assessing viability as explained on page
76 of this Annual Report

This new Code Provislon has acted as a
catalyst for the Board o more clearly
articulate iis risk appetite The Board has
sought to frame its risk appetite in terms
of the markets and technologies in which
1t 1s prepared to make significant
investments and those in which 1t would
expect its scale of investment to be more
madest Except where very attractive
opportunities were to present
themselves to achieve greater scale in
well-known markets, the Board would
expect to maintan a significant net cash
position

Management together with members
of the Board consldered which of
the principal risks, either alone or in

combination, might threaten the Group’s
viability The impacts of Technology
change Competition Customer
dependence and Macro-economic
change were modelled A severe but
plausible combination of those nsks

was cansldered for the purposes of
deciding what turnover and free cash flow
scenarios should be stress-tested The
impacts were modelled over the three
year period with emphasis on a stressed
scenario in years two and three, given the
management's view that such risks were
unlikely to materialise in year one, as the
Group had Just compieted a detalled full
year budget for 2016 Assumptions were
made about the ability of the Group to
take successful mitigation acuons
in¢luding the ability te make significant
reductions in its non-fixed operating
costs The Board took into account the
Company’s significant cash balance of
$102 Q0 milion as at 31 December 2015
and the abllity of the Company to continue
tc generate positive free cash flow even
'n stressed scenatios

RISK APPETITE AND DEVELOPING THE VIABILITY STATEMENT

The Board reviewed and discussed
with management

+ 1he process undertaken by
management to decide which
scenanos to stress test,

- the results of the stress testing
performed including an illustration
on the reduction in Wwrnover and
avallability of cash, and

- the abiity of managementto
successfully take the mitigating
actlons Identifled

The resulting Viabilily Statement 1s set
outn the Directors’ report on page 76
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

RISK

POTENTIAL IMPACT

MITIGATION ACTIONS

MACRO-ECONOMIC

Spirent 1s a global business exposed to current world
economic conditions over which it has no control
The business Is also exposed to government
spending prionties pnncipally in the United States

Deterioration in economic canditions
may lead to a reduction in the level

of demand for Spirent s products and
services and cause customers to delay
thelr purchasing declsions

The Group closely moritors bath market
and geographic trends in order to respond
to changes in demand and be in a position
to take timely actions to protect profitability
where possible

In addition Spirent has a iarge number
of geographlically diverse customers
which may mitigate the Impact

TECHNOLOGY CHANGE

Spirent sells complex selutions in industnes that can
be subject te rapid technological changes Testing
new technologies drives our business, but the
opportunity alse brings high nsk since keeping at
the forefront of these key future technologles is
critical to our success and to ensuring that we
remain competitive In our markets

It1s cntical that our product development investment
Is directed at the right areas In order to dellver the
solutions that our customers need when they

need them

Splrent s success Is dependent In part on proprietary
technology which may be infringed by others
Protecting the Group s propnetary technolagy I1s
important 1o enabling Spirent to compete successfully

If product development investment does
not keep pace with the speed of change

In technologies or If it Is not directed at the
right key areas our competitive position and
financial performance will suffer

If Spirent’s solutions take longer to develop
than anticipated or longer to develop than our
competiters then our competitive position and
financial performance will also suffer

Changes in technologies may lead to a short
term pause by our customers investing In
our solutions

Intellectual property claims can result in
significant defence costs and may affect
Spirent s ability to market its preducts

All Spirent s businesses work very closely
with custoemers and remain focused on
their requirements

Each business makes investment decisions
specifically related to their solutions portfolio
based an market needs This happens
through our fermalised Gate Process

Spirent continues to make & sigruficant
Investment In product development

In 2015 the investment was $118 3 million
{2014 $115 4 million)

Spurent has active intellectual property
protection programmes in place to obtain
appropnate protection in a cost-effective
manner

CUSTOMER DEPENDENCE / CUSTOMER INVESTMENT PLANS

The Group sells its products and services {6 a wide
range of companies and continually seeks to expand
Its customer base In 2015, no one customer accounted
for more than 10 per cent of Group revenue although
the top 10 customers represented 39 per cent of Group
revenue (2014 35 per cent) In some of our markets
certaln customers have a dominant market share

which makes doing business with these customers and
their suppliers criticat to the success of our business

In additicn many of the companies with which

we do business are some of the largest global
telecommunications corporations Therefore
meeting our development obligations producing
high quality preducts, and being on time are vital to
Spirent s reputation and success

Changes in our major customers’ pricrities in
technology investments can also have & significant
impact on their spending on Spirent products and
by those In the customers' supply chain

The industry continues to expenence consohidation
which can disrupt the spending patterns of
affected customers

Loss of one or more of Spirent s major
customers could have a significant impact
oh Spirent s financlal results

Spend on Spirent s products is often capital in
nature and so customer spend can fluctuate
significently from year-to year

Sigruficant failings in either quabty or being
able to deliver In the appropriate timescale
could cause long lasting damage to Spirent s
reputation and relationships

Customer conschdation could result in delays
In spending thereby reducing demand for
Spirent s solutions and services and also
reduce the petential number of custemers

ta whom those solutlons and services could
be sold

Changes in our customers technclogy
investments can result in reduced spending
on our existing solutions before customers
and those In the customer s supply chaln
ramp up spending on new technologies

Strong customer relationships are critical
to Spirent We aim to provide innovative
solutrons which meet customers needs
and we place great emphasis on providing
professional service and support

One of the Group s strategic objectives

Is to Invest In deepening our customer
relationships We place engineers on-site
with our customers undertake site surveys
of the use and intended plans for the use
of test solutions in therr businass

We seek to establish thought leadership
In our industry through participation In
standards bodies and industry forums,
which in turn creates additional links with
customers Our approachis to play a key
part in the wider supply chain to our key
service provider custemers by aligning
with early adopters of technelogy

COMPETITION

Splrent operates in a range of highly competitive niche
markets which expenence rapid technological change
In order to compete effectively It is necessary to
establish and maintain technological differentiation in
our solutions

The Group faces competition from new market
start-ups as well as more established and well-
resourced companies

Industry consehdation amongst our direct competitors
may bring akzout a shift in competitive advantage

Actions by competitors and increased
competition can bring about pressure
on Splrent s gross margin These factors
could also affect Spirent s competitive
posltion thereby reducing revenue and
consequently affecting financial results
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The Group s broad solution portfolio
market-leading capahbilities and customer
focus continue to address this rnisk

Spirent aims to maintain market-leading
positions through significant iInvestment
In the development of diflerentlated
products

Competitor activity 15 closely monitored
with a view to maintaining clear
differentiation based on Spirent s
products services and global reach




RISK

POTENTIAL IMPACT

MITIGATION ACTIONS

ACQUISITIONS

A key element of Spirent s strategy 15 to develop
new capabllities and technologies sometimes
through acquisition

Integrauon of acqwisitions can be a complex process
and the results expected frem acquisiiens may not be
achieved due to problems encountered in integration
changes in market conditicns or sometrmes
deficiencies arising in the due dilgence processes

Underperfarmance by acquisthions will impact
the Group's results and may lead to Impairment
of goodwill and/or intangible assets

Rigarous strategic and financial
evaluations of all acquisition opportunities
are carned out Detalled financial and
commercial due diligence 1s performed
The Board will only authonse transactions
after all due dihgence has been successfully
completed and where the financlal hurdles
are within the agreed guidelines

Integration plans and processes are
carefully considered prior to acquisiticn

The Board reviews post-acquisition
performance

BUSINESS CONTINUITY

Operational risks are present in the Group’s
businesses including the nisk of falled internzl and
external processes and systems human error and
external events such as a natura! disaster For
example, a significant portion of our communications
operatiens are located in Califerria which has in the
past expenenced natura! disasters including
earthquakes and wildfires

Contract manufacturers are used for the manufaciure
of a substantial amaunt of Spirent s products Spirents
major contract manufacturer 1s located in Thailand

The incidence of cyber ¢crime Is on the rise Spirentis
dependent on its information technelogy systems for
both internal and external communications as well as
for its day to-day operations

A significant naturat disaster could disrupt
the Group's abllity to conduct business
and adversely impact revenue and
operating results

Disruption financial problems of contract
manufacturers or imitations in therr
manufactunng capacity ceuld mit supply
and/or Increase cost

If a cyber attack were 10 be successful it could
resuft in loss of data confidential information
and damage to Spirent s intellectual property
causing major disruption to the business
There would also be a potent/al Impact to
Sprrent s iImage especially as we raise our
profile in the secunty market

An important component of Spirent s
corporate governance 1s s risk
management strategy IT disaster recovery
plans are in place for all core business
systems and ensure that the wider
operations are all fully covered

Regular meetings are held with contract
manufacturers and a regular on-site
presence 1s maintained Inaddition the
Group s largest manufactunng subcontractor
has mulipie werldwide sites and
comprehensive business cantinuity plans

During 2015 we improved our processes
and procedures encompassing cyber
security diagnostics and we implemented
training and awareness campaigns

EMPLOYEE SKILLBASE

Spirent 15 1ts employees Attracting and retaining
highly qualified and skilled employees 1s essential
In enabling the Group to deliver on Its strategy and
10 the success of the business

Intense competition is faced for personnel
from other companles and organlisations and
the toss of key employees, the failure to attract
and retain other highly skilled employees

or the failure to adequately plan for succession
may impair Spirent s atility to run and expand
the business effectively
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Investing in people 1s at the core of
the Group s strategy The aim 1s to find
keep and engage the highest cahbre
of employees and enceurage therr
contribution and development An
environment that fosters innovation
and cellaboration 1s crnitical to Spirent s
SUCCESS as IS ensuring incentive plans
are competitive

Succession planming for senior posts
in the Company 1s regularly reviewed
by the Board

Appropriate career paths and internal
recognition programmes are developed
for both techmical and non-iechnical staff

Regular reviews are performed to
ensure that all elements of compensation
across the Group are competitive with
the market
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Operating review

NETWORKS & APPLICATIONS

SPIRENT’S NETWORKS & APPLICATIONS SOLUTIONS
PUT INNOVATION AND SECURITY TO THE TEST
WITHIN LABS AND ON SERVICE PROVIDER

REVENUE

$241.9M

2014 $2216M

CPERATING PROFIT

$15.8M

2014 $5 3M

OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE
EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

$18.4M

2014 $76M

RETURN ON SALES BEFORE
EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

7.6%

2014 3 4%

Develops innovative solutions for functional
performance and security testing of
next-generation networks and applhcations
that simutate real-world conditions in the
lab, ensunng commercial launch success

WHAT WE TEST

CLOUD AND VIRTUALISATION

Whether data center operators, cloud

or service provider, our customers are
always looking to leverage cloud-enabled
network services and innovations ke
software defined networks (“SDN") and
network functions virtualisation ("NFV™)
Spirent s solutions help them validate

high speed network infrastructures up to
400G Ethernet speeds ensunng network
functiens and services can scale to millions
of subscribers

APPLICATIONS AND SECURITY
Addressing the proliferation of application
and vulnerability concerns for enterprise
government and service provider
networks, Spirent’s application and
securnty test services and solutions offer
unprecedented realism, threat modelling
and ease of use

MOBILITY

Spirent’s mobtlity solutions emulate
subscribers and adjacent nodes to enable
active testing of mohile core, Wi-Fi, internet
protocol multimedia subsystems and
Diameter networks in the lab and

In operations

TEST AUTOMATION

Spirent s industry leading lab-as-a-service
and automation soluticns deliver efficient,
scalable and cost-effective physical

and virtual build test and deployment
envirgnments to wireline and wiretess
service provides, network equipment
manufacturers or anyone actively
developing software-enabled

virtual networks
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AND ENTERPRISE NETWORKS

STRATEGY

« Invest n software as a service
SDN and NFV test methodologtes

« Leadership in data center and
WAN high speed Ethernet

« Investn Spirent Secunty Labs
consulting service

« Leverage mobilty lab-test portfolio
to enter operatlonal market

» Focus automation and test orchestration
on mebile lab infrastructure

KEY MARKET DRIVERS
- New Ethernet speeds across applications,
256G 56, 256G 506G and 400G
Carriers looking to virtualisation to
in¢rease pace of new service introduction
« LTE network aperators now investing
in services — voice over LTE("VoLTE"),
video over LTE, Internet of Things {“loT")
« Cyber security market spend continues
to Increase
- loT embedded devices increase cyber
secunty rsks

PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
- Continued double digit growth in mobile
infrastructure and network security testing
« Carriers adapting virtual test solutions
globally in NFV trials
+ Strong demand for 100G Ethernet
test solution from switch and router
to firewall testing

MARKET CONDITIONS

The growth of cloud services from bandwidth-
hungry content and hosting services and
applications, to “always-connected” social
meda dnives innovation at a rapid pace
Service providers worldwide are investing

in their networks to keep up with these
performance demands We saw strong
demand for 100G Ethernet testing by data
center network equipment suppliers as they
maove to four 256 lanes from ten 10G lanes per
100G interface As 4G LTE rolls out globally
there 1s wider commercial deployment of
VoLTE more 3G and LTE connected vehicles
and an increase In loT applications Each of
these brings revenue opportunities for service




providers as well as scale and performance
demands for mobile networks, driving
demand for innovative wireless infrastructure
test solutions Service providers and
enterprises are spending on network securty
In response to high profite incidents This has
led to increased demand for secunty testing
solutions in areas such as new 100G firewalls

The internet protocol network industry 1s in
the midst of a revolutionary technology
transformation with virtualisation enabiing
technologies such as SDN and NFV becoming
mainstream This 1s driving new processes for
developing and delivening the products and
sennces customers demand Processes and
best practices arcund Agile development
have spawned an increase In DevOps, the aim
of which 15 to create tighter linkages between
developers operations and testers through
the use of automation and communication

REVENUE

Revenue was up 9 percent1o $2419
million (2014 $2215 million) driven by
growth in high speed Ethernet testing
High activity levels at the end of the period,
particularly in the mohbile infrastructure
space helped to increase order intake
by 10 per cent to $249 8 million from
$2275 million in 2014 The increase In
the order book of $79 million resulted in
a book to bill ratio of 103 {2014 103) From
a regional perspective, revenue grew
strongly in North America and APAC,
more than offsetting weakness in EMEA

PROFITABILITY

Gross margin improved to 69 2 per cent

(2014 68 3 per cent) due to the Increased
sales volume and a positive product mix

Operating profit before exceptional tems
increased significantly to $18 4 million
compared with $7 6 million in 2014,
notwithstanding increased investment in
product development of $1 0 milion and
in sales and marketing of $4 4 million
Exceptional items of $2 6 million were
charged 1n 2015 (2014 $2 3 million)

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

Spirent grew I11s leadership in high speed
Ethernet, winning a major industry award
for the industry s first public interaperability
demonstration of 400G Ethernet
implementations, in conjunction with
Huawer In addition, we launched a 100G
test sclution supporting the latest optical
transcervers, helpmng dnve further 100G
adoption with a small form factor and
support of 256 lanes

In the area of cellular and Wi-Fi convergence
we expanded our market with a Wi-Fi radio
frequency interface and voice over Wi-F)

( VoWI-FI") capability on Spirerit Landsiide,

enabling carners to validate Vow:-Fito VoLTE
handovers We increased our focus on the
imporiant issue of predicting and preventing
signalling storm outages caused by “always-
connected” applications and smartphones
that disconnect to save battery Iife, with the
release of a Diameter performance and scale
testing solution for mobile operators

A major software release of our Avalanche
security performance test solutions
focused on ease-of-use of security test
methodologies, now enables service
providers and enterprises to validate

their network perimeter devices’

security perfarmance

The release of our CLEAR DevOps
Continuous Test solution for accelerating
preduct development and delivery has
been met with great enthusiasm including
recognition from CIO Review as one of the
“20 Most Promising DevOps Companies
of 2015°

STRATEGY

For 2016, we will continue to invest in test
solutions for rapidly advancing Ethernet
markets Inthe enterpnse campus market
tigher Wi-Fi speeds are driving new 2 5G
and 5G Ethernet standards Inthe data center
market cloud providers are driving the need
for 50G, 100G, 200G and 400G Ethernet
and enterprise from 10G to 25G Ethernet

In the automotive market we also see a move
to Ethernet as a single efficient and ighter
werght infrastructure Spirent s support for
these new Ethernet speeds began in the
middle of 2015 and will continue into 2016

Building on Spirent s award-winning virtual
test solutions we will further enhance our
software solutions with features and test
methodologies enabling service providers
to successfully deploy NFV and enterprises
to optimise their data ¢centers and make
them software-defined In 2015 we
supported successful tests for vendors
and mobile operators of virtual evolved
packet cores, which are being deployed to
handle the increased number of machine-
to-machine connections We expect
network virtuallsation rellouts to increase
In 2016 with additional use cases such as
virtual customer premises equipment, for
which Spirent’s Performance and Security
virtual test sotutions are well positioned

Further advances to our mobile and secunty
infrastructure test solutions are also planned
for 2016 The addition of Spirent Landshde
EDGE and CORE to our mobile infrastructure
test solution which enables mobile operators
1o take a smarter approach to network
performance management to mimimise
network outages, are the first example

of our 2016 strategy in this area
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SAFEGUARDING
THE NETWORK
AGAINST OUTAGES
WITH LANDSLIDE
EDGE/CORE

Network congestion and overload s the
second biggest reason for outages In
the mobile network, especially given
the explosive growth in the numbers

of subscribers using connected devices,
applications, and services Spirent's
Landslide EDGE and CORE suite of
solulions uses a proactive approach that
gives operators performance visibility
acraoss thewr networks and detects
degradations before they mpact
custormers The end result 1s faster time
to market for new services and improved
network performance for better
customer service, which ultmately
drives loyalty from existing customers

“According to iIndustry sources mobile
operators are spending around

$15 billion a year globally dealing with
all kinds of network degradation and
outages, Including those related to
congestion and overload " said John
Baker, ganeral Manager of Spirent
Communications’ Mobility group

"By using Landshide CORE and EDGE
carners can greatly improve the
real-time visibility of the network
contrel and data plane as well as
validate the impact of each node

in the network on individual services
from a quality of expenence
perspective”
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Operating review continued

WIRELESS & SERVICE EXPERIENCE

SPIRENT'S WIRELESS & SERVICE EXPERIENCE SOLUTIONS
APPLY OUR INNOVATION TO PERFORMANCE TESTING

REVENUE

$168.7M

2014 $1786M

OPERATING PROFIT

$6.1M

2014 523 1M

OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE
EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

$15.5M

2014 $24 OM

RETURN ON SALES BEFORE
EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

9.2%

201413 4%

OF MOBILE DEVICES

Develops Innovative test systems for
functional and performance testing of 4G
LTE mobile devices, services, connected
devices and satellite positioning devices
and for the measurement of the user
expenence of services on live networks

WHAT WE TEST

POSITIONING, NAVIGATION AND
TIMING {"PNT")

Spirent s the global leader in testing

all posltioning technelogies, such as global
positioning systems ("GPS7) in mobile
devices and other recervers used in
commercial and government applications
including detecting and analysing
vulnerabilities to help protect global
navigation systems

VOICE OVER LTE ("VOLTE")

Launching complex new 4G services such
as VolLTE puts extraordinary demands on
networks and devices Spirent 1s a leader
In ensuring the successful deployment

of VOLTE and other internet protocol
multimedia subsystem (“IMS”) services
such as video

DEVICE PERFORMANCE

Spirent works with the world's leading
carriers to develop methodologies
automated sclutions and services that
ensure device performance meets strict
acceptance critena 1n the lab and on
live networks

SERVICE EXPERIENCE

In an age of exploding complexity and
growth in mobile services Spirents
solutions objectively predict end-user
quality of expenence on any device,
any operating system and any network

STRATEGY

= Develop products and services that
accelerate the time to market and reduce
the costs to develop and launch new
devices and services

« Build business In user experience testing
of converged services
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« Expand leadership in positioning test
business with new solutions to detect
and analyse vulnerabiities in global
navigation satellite systems (“GNSS”)

KEY MARKET DRIVERS

« Economic pressure and consohdation
of top-tier chipset, smartphone and
network equipment vendors

« 4G LTE services growth with VoLTE
and rich communication services (“RCS”)

- Growing opportunities and challenges
in the Internet of Things (“loT")

- Increasing awareness of GNSS
vulnerabilities

PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

« Performance affected by impact of
market changes In wireless device test

- China 4G LTE ecosystem drives
wireless business

« VoLTE and RCS test feadership for
Wireless & Service Experience

+ Strong growth in US for GNSS business

MARKET CONDITIONS

Spirent targets a wireless test market focused
on development and deployment of new
mobile devices and services The market has
annual revenues close to $10 billion, but with
low single-digit growth Economic pressure
and consolldation of top-tier global
smartphone, chipset and network equipment
vendors continued 1in 2015 resutting ina
fiercely challenging competitive market
Spirent benefited from the development
phase of 4G LTE services, such as VolTE,
and voice over Wi-Fi ("VoWI-Fi") and the
focus on the user expernence

Spirent also targets the market for test
systems for GNSSwith a focus on expert
users in military, government and commercial
applications The market Is in the region of
$100 mithon with low single-digit growth,
with peaks of Incremental revenue driven

by government spending or the intreduction
of new constellations 2015 saw growing
awareness of the vulnerabiities and potential
threats 1o GNSS recelvers, systems and




apphcations, creating opportunities for
solutions that can detect, analyse and deal
with these threats

The importance of wireless loT connectivity
continues to rise in a vanety ofsegmentsﬂ
from connected vehicles, homes_and
Industrygsmart clties This results in
challenges 1n developing, connecting
andj:perating loT devices and applicatlons
on mobile and non-cellular networks
resulting in an attractive new market
opportunity for Spirent

REVENUE

Revenue was down 6 per cent at

$168 7 million (2014 $178 6 million)
Demand for positioning products and
service expenence solutions was strong
but this was more than offset by weakness
In Wireless Revenue from wireless device
test products and service experience
solutions has been affected by significant
changes in the smartphone market and in
particular a major customer in Asia cid not
repeat the high leve! of spend we saw In
2014 Although we saw reduced spend at
many wireless customers, our business
with Asian technotogy and chipset providers
grew especially in the Greater China
region Positioning revenue benefited from
US Government procurement of high-end
tallored solutions Service Experience
opened a new Fit4Launch Lab in Beying
which helped to increase revenue from
the China region Book to bill ratio grew

to 103 {2014 102)

PROFITABILITY

Gross margin was lower at 675 per cent
(2014 68 0 per cent) due to product and
services mix and the lower sales volume

Qperating profit before exceptional items
was lower at $15 5 milhon compared with
$24 0 million in 2014 as a result of the
lower sales volume and reduction In gross
margin Cost reduction actions resulted

In an exceptional charge of $9 4 million

in 2015 (2044 $0 @ milllon) The cost
reduction actions were primarily focused
on imgroving profitability in response to
changes in the wireless device test and
carrner acceptance market The most
significant action taken was to outsource
engineerning services in Wireless & Service
Expernence to provide a more cost
effective and flexible resource in future

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

We continued to develop innovative
solutions for 1esting connected devices
that address challenges to accelerate time
to market and reduce test time for new
services and applications, like VolTE

and VoWi-Fi

We invested in our Elevate Test
Framework, designed to address the
increasingly complex challenges and scale
demands of wireless devices and services,
expanded our 8100 carner acceptance
and conformance test portfolio, and
launched our next-generation fader

The latter emulates the radio frequency
channel between transmitter and receiver
to test performance of the latest complex
antenna and receiver designs

We expanded our leadership in user
experience solutions for evaluating any
internet protocol-based device or service
by opening a new Flt4Launch Lab in Beljing
and deploying user experience servers
that link to live moblle networks across the
Asia Paclfic reglon

In the Positioning business, we invested

In solutions to detect and analyse
vulnerabilities in GNSSl The robust PNT_
]Test_Framework enables threats to be
detected in the field taken into the lab and
re-synthesised along with GPS and other
GNSS signals

STRATEGY

Our strategy focuses on acceierating time
to market and reducing cost to develop
and launch new devices and services,
while helping to ensure the highest service
quality and user experience

We are investing In new preducts

and services for the loT to accelerate

the development of connected devices,
to test and qualify devices to ensure they
can connect to the network and operate
reliably, and to monitor, analyse and
troubleshoot loT networks and applications

We are bullding leadership in testing
user experience of converged services
and devices that support them including
video data and voice from development
to deployment, to Issues that arise In
operation Spirent’s powerful analytic
capabilities enable correlation of user
experience metrics with IP-layer
performance metrics to accelerate
resolution of Issues and improve the
user experience We are expanding our
served markets by providing Industry-
leading products for new challenges facing
the posittoning navigation and timing
industry We have expanded into the
GNSS vulnerabilities market to enable
development of robust recelvers,
equipment, appiications and systems
and to detect Interference or spoofing

in operational environments
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MOBILE USER
EXPERIENCE
CAPABILITIES

EXTENDED TO
ASIA PACIFIC

Spirent enables operators and their
device supplier ecosystems to
collaberate and improve the user
experience of voice data and video
services Spirentinvested in a new
Fit4Launch Lab in Beyng and i the
deployment of user expenence servers
that ink to ive mobile netwarks across
the Asia Pacific region

Before launch each new mobile device
model 1s ranked relative to all previously
released device models for metnics such
as speech qualty call success and
retention, web browsing speed video
quality and battery life, in both live
network and lab-based evaluation If a
device ranks poorly the manufacturer
and Spirent work together to implement
and evaluale improvements

“Fit4L.aunch has helped multiple tier-1
operators measurably improve the
user expetlence of their devices and
services " said Des Owens General
Manager of Service Experience and
Assurance st Spirent “Atone US
operator more than 15 major user
experience 1ssues were identified
and fixed in just 12 months At another
operator, speech qualty across all
devices was improved by nearly

10 per cent over a two year period ”
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Operating review continued

SERVICE ASSURANCE

OUR SERVICE ASSURANCE SOLUTIONS ALLOW SERVICE
PROVIDERS TO DIAGNOSE AND DETERMINE HOW TO
RESOLVE ISSUES WITH NETWORKS.

REVENUE

$66.5M

2014 $571M

OPERATING PROFIT

$13.4M

2014 $20 5M

OPERATING PRCFIT BEFORE
EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

$14.0M

2014 $20 7M

RETURN ON SALES BEFORE
EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

211%

2014 36 3%

Develops distrnibuted systems that enable
service providers to turn-up new services,
diagnose, troubleshoot and reduce time 1o
resolve 1ssues with production networks
and services and continuously monitor
therr production network performance

and user experlence through end-to-end
visibllily and real-time analytics

WHAT WE TEST

NETWORK SERVICE ASSURANCE

Spirent s service assurance solutions

allow service providers around the world

to turn-up new services and diagnose and
troubleshoot 1ssues within mobile backhaul,
business services and global internet
protoco! {“IP®) networks to support Ethernet
service delivery

FIELD TESTING

Spirent s field test product for service
providers enables gualification of the
service and troubleshooting of transport
and service related 1ssues within the
consumer s home and in the outside plant

MOBILE DEVICE MANAGEMENT
Spirent’'s mobile device management
solutions allow operators to detect mobile
devices, configure them for data usage,
analyse device popufation trends and run
marketing campaigns helping to increase
average revenue per user

CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE MANAGEMENT
Spirent’s customer experience management
solution helps service providers to identify
crntical network 1ssues affecting customers
and reduce churn by aggregating and
analysing data from multiple sources

1o provide real-time Insights Into their
customers’ experience

STRATEGY

+ Reduce time and cosl to solve user
experience problems

» Provide solutions for virtualised
network functions and provide
Innovative new virtualised solutions
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- Expand network coverage to provide
end-to-end visibility and isolation

= Leverage analylics to provide
proactive and predictive customer
and business insights

KEY MARKET DRIVERS

- Growing complexity and customer
churn fears

- Caution around virtualisation

- Increased carrier competition drives
focus on customer expenence

PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

« TestCenter Live Ethernet sales
maintained and virtualisation product
complete and in trials

« New InTouch Customer and Network
Analytics ("CNA™) product completed
iaunched and first customer
booking recelved

MARKET CONDITIONS

Long term evolution CLTE™) and voice over
LTE [ VoLTE") services are being rolled out
by network operators with deployments
of rich communications services (*RCS")
underway and 5G services on the honizon
We centinue to develop innovative
performance management and
troubleshooting systems for these new
services to reduce our customers’ capex
and opex costs and radically accelerate the
time 1o launch new services, provision new
subscnbers, and troubleshoot problems

Service provider spending remained
cautious as the shift continued from fegacy
networks to virtualisation and how best to
realise potential benefits Continued growth
Inthe complexity of networks and services
coupled with Intense competition between
service providers and the fear of customer
churn has led to greater emphasis on
customer experience management and

on the exploitation of big data analytics
We address three market segments
service assurance customer experience
management and device management
and inteligence




Spirent targets the mobile service
management, performance management
and probe-based systems sub-segments
with an addressable market of
approximately $340 million in 2015 The
customer analytics and big data market
had an estimated size of $3 billion in 2015
We sell analytics solutions primanily into the
wireless markel, with a focus on network
engineering groups at top-tier operators
tn North America and EMEA Spending

is phifting towards solutlons that predict
and avold network service 1ssues, calls
lojcustomer care, or customer churn

We enjoy a market-leading position in
mobile device management solutrons for
mobile virtual network operators {"MVNOs")
The MVNQ market is expected 1o continue
1o grow rapidly from 1 200 service providers
in 2015 to 4 000 1n 2020

REVENUE

Revenue increased by $9 4 million to
$66 5 milllon In 2015 from $571 million

in 2014 The maln reason for this increase
was the full year contribution from our
2014 acquisitions, Device Intelligence
and Customer Experience Management
("CEM") They added $6 9 million of
revenue In 215 compared to the post
acquisition penod in 2014 Our core
Service Assurance business benefited
from the fulfilment of the final phase of the
majar contract for hand-held test toals of
$16 0 milion

PROFITABILITY

Gross margin was down shghtly at

75 8 per cent (2014 76 2 per cent) due
1o a different product mix

Operating profit before exceptional
items was $14 0 milllon compared with
$20 7 million in 2014 The decrease was
due to the investments we are making
in our 2014 acquisitions and in the core
Service Assurance business to expand
our served markets Exceptional costs
of $0 & million and $0 2 milllon were
charged in 2015 and 2014 respectively

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

We invested in a broad portfelio 1o assure
the whole service, covering the core,
backhaul, home mobility locations and
devices from the physical to the service
layers Our service assurance system
TestCenter Live, for assuring Ethernet
services 15 used by service providers to
turn-up and monitor Ethernet networks In
2015, we completed the development of our
TestCenter Live virtual probe and 100G
probe, which 1s in tnials at leading operators

We provide a customer and network
analytic software system, InTouch, to
telecom operators enabling them to
analyse the quality of their customers
experience and identify network
improvements In 2015 we invested in a
new flagship analytics solution InTouch
CNA focused on customer experience
assurance and troubleshooting with
support for 2/3/4G technelogies including
VOLTE and the [nternet of Things {"foT")

To address the challenges in assuring
carrier Wi-F1 services we acquired Epitiro
a pioneer and leader In the rapldly growing
Wi-F) expenence monitoring market

This transaction builds on the success

of a strateglc partnership which led to
multiple deployments, including at a

tier-1 US service provider

STRATEGY

Our strategy focuses on radically reducing
the time and cost to turn-up new services
and to diagnose, troubleshoot and resolve
1ssues with production networks and
services We cover the network topology
and support legacy and new technologies
and services TestCenter Service Live and
InTouch CNA are product lines that
highhght our commitment to this strategy

We enable our customers to radlcally reduce
ume to charactense network performance
and to identify and resolve user experience
problems through end-ta-end wvisibility and
real-time analytlics

We will cantinue to develop new solutions
that capitalise on the benefits that
virtealisation enables We will enhance
the field portable test tools reducing the
need {o dispatch techmicans and enabling
problems to be resolved more quickdy

and effectively This improves customer
satisfaction and retention while reducing
the cost and complexity of operating and
managing the network We will provide
systems to enable |oT devices and
applications to connect to the network
seamlessly reducing the time and cost of
pre-deployment qualfication and using
analytics to manage the on-boarding and
scaling of loT devices and applications on
the network
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ANALYTICS SOLUTION
BREAKS THROUGH
INFORMATION SILOS

The iInTouch CNA solution focuses on
customer experience assurance and
troubleshooting It1s the evolution of
the field-tested InTouch platform,
which has been deployed in networks
exceeding 100 million subscribers
and focuses on customer experience
assurance and troubleshooting,

with support for 2/3/4G technologies
in¢luding VoLTE and the loT

“Qur solution iIs unigue 0 that it allows
operators to build and leverage
quality of scores using data mining
techniques which can prevent chum”
said Frank Galuppo General Manager
of Spirent’s CEM business unit “This
allows them to rapidly Wentify and
resolve iIssues before customers
complain or leave "

This new solution provides a
subscriber-level view of quality of
experence through understanding
its relationship to network data

This enables mobile operators
engineering customer care and
marketing groups to proactively
identify and resolve wireless
customer experience (ssues spanning
4G LTE nelworks and services like
VoLTE Several operators are already
deploying beta versions of InTouch
CNA, especially for new services like
VoLTE and loT
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Financial review

REVENUE GROWTH WITH
STRONG CASH GENERATION

The following table shows the key financial performance indicators monitored by the
Board in order to measure the performance of the Group

2018 2014 Change (%)
Book to bill ratio! 101 103
Revenue {$ milion) 4771 457 2 4
Gross profit margin (%) 695 692
Adjusted operating profit2 {$ million) 421 460 (8)
Return on sales? (%) 88 101
Adjusted basic earnings per share? (cents) 5.00 582
Free cash flow* {$ million) 35.3 107

Notes
1 Ratio of orders booked to revenue billed
2

Before exceptional tems acquisition related costs, acquired intangible asset amortisation and

impairment goodwill impairment and share-based payment amounting to $32 0 milon in total

(2014 $22 3 milion)

1o the consolidated financial statements

Adiusted basic earnings per share 15 based on adjusted earnings as set out In note 12 of Notes

4 Qperating cash flow after tax netinterest and net capital expenditure

REVENUE

Group revenue increased by 4 per centto
$4771 milhion {2014 $457 2 milhon) Growth
was driven by Networks & Applications, up
9 per cent and by Service Assurance up
16 per cent Wireless & Service Experience
revenue declined by 6 per cent where
weakness in wireless device test revenue
more than offset growth in revenue from
our Positioning products driven by US
government spend

Order intake for the Group was

3 per cent higher at $482 O million
{2014 $469 4 million) with a boak to bill
ratio of 101 {2014 103)

Geographically the Americas are our
largest market accounting for 56 per cent
of Group revenue Revenue grew by 9
per cent In this reglon due to increased
demand in Networks & Applications and
US government arders in Pasitioning more
than offsetting weakness in wireless
device test Asia Pacific was unchanged
as a percentage of Group revenue but In
dollar terms increased by 4 per cent
compared to 2014 Highhghis In the Asia
Pacific region were China where we
experienced 16 per cent growlh, driven
predominantly by Wireless & Service
Experience, and also India due to
Networks & Applications, which together
moere than offset a reduction in spending
by some of our major customers in Korea
and Japan EMEA represents 13 per cent
of Group revenue, down from 15 per cent,
as we continued to experience weakness
In this region

$ million 2015 % 204 %
Americas 268.1 56 2450 54
Asia Pacific 148.2 31 1425 31
Europe Middle East and Africa 60.8 13 697 15

477 1 100 4572 100
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COST OF SALES AND

OPERATING EXPENSES

Gross margin increased {0 69 5 per cent
{2014 69 2 per cent) buoyed by the
performance of Networks & Apphications
where gross margin was up one per cent
In Wireless & Service Experience and
Service Assurance gross margin was down
slightly due to volume and product mix

The investment In product development
was maintained at $118 3 million (2014

$115 4 milllon) and selling and distribution
costs Increased to $127 2 milllon (2014

$113 5 million) Some of this can be attributed
1o the overheads of the 2014 acquisitions
but we also made some addiional
investments in sales and marketing,
speclfically to support new product
releases and expand our customer base

It s planned to maintain the overall
underlying rate of investment in product
development and In sales and marketing
in 2016

Administration expenses were $44 2 milion
in 2015 compared with $41 4 million in 2014
before charging the tems added back for
the purposes of the calculation of adjusted
operating profit, being exceptional tems,
acquisiion refated costs, acquired
intangible asset amortsation and
impairment, goodwill impairment and
share-based payment, amounting to

$32 0 milllon In total {2014 $22 3 million)
Total reported administration expenses
were $76 2 milion compared with

$63 7 million after charging these items

QPERATING PROFIT

Reported operating profit was $10 1 million
compared with $23 7 million 1n 2014
Adjusted operating profit, which s

the measure of profit the Group uses to
evaluate petrformance decreased by

8 per cent to $42 1 million compared

with $46 O milllon in 2014, primarily as

a result of the planned increase in sales
and marketing referred to above

A reconciliation between adjusted and
reported operating profit 1s set out below

$ mathion 2015 2014
ADJUSTED OPERATING

PROFIT 421 460
Exceptional tems (125) (41)
Acquired intangible asset

amortisation and

impairment (148) (137)
Goodwill impairment (38) -
Acquisition related costs (01) (38)
Share-based payment (o8) (07
REPORTED OPERATING

PROFIT 101 237

Return on sales based on adjusted
operating profit was 8 8 per cent
{2014 101 per cent)

EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS AND

GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT

As a result of the changes in the wireless
device test and carner acceptance market,
which impacted revenues in 2015 and we
expect to further impact revenue in 2016
largeted cost reduction actions were taken
n the fourth quarter The most significant
action taken was to outsource engineering
services In Wireless & Service Experience
to provide a more cost effective and
flexible resource for the future The full
cost of these actions of $13 1 million, net
of the release of $0 6 million of the 2014
exceptional restructuning provision, has
been taken as an exceptional item of

$12 5 milllon In the year We expect them
to deliver annualised cost savings In the
order of $25 O million from 2016, which are
being utiised to invest In growth areas

Also In 2015 a goodwill impairment charge
of $3 8 milhon was incurred in respect

of the Device Intelllgence business as a
result of a ¢change in our expectations

for market expansion with tier-2 maebite
network operators

CORPORATE COSTS

Corporate costs are those expenses
which cannot be attributed to the Group's
operating segments and comprise the
costs of the Board and other corporate
activities These costs were $5 8 milion
{2014 $6 3 milion) before an exceptional
credit of 301 milhion (2014 $0 7 mullion
excepltional cost) for the year
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CURRENCY IMPACT

The effect of fluctuating exchange rates 1s
refatively minimal as the Group s revenue
and profits are pnmarily denominated in
LS dollars or US dollar-linked currencies

FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

Finance income for 2015 was unchanged
compared to 2014 at 30 4 million Surplus
funds are held principally in the United
Kingdom and United States and earn market
rates of interest which remain minimal

Finance costs of $0 5 million in 2015
compnsed the interest cost on the defined
benefit penslon plan (2014 nit)

SHARE OF LOSS OF ASSOCIATE

During the year Sptrent acqutred 28 per
cent of the share capital of Jolata, Inc
{Jolata") (see below) The 2015 consolidated
financial statements include the Group's
share of the total comprehensive income of
Jolata from the date of acquisition Spirent s
share of post-acquisition results of Jelata
amounted to a toss of $0 4 milhon {2014 nul)

TAX

Taxable prefits for the Group principally
arise in the United States The {ax charge
for the Group in 2045 was a credit of

$3 9 million (2014 $3 5 million charge),
representing a current year effective tax
rate of 25 0 per cent (2014 22 0 per cent)
of pre-tax profit, excluding a prior year tax
credit of $6 3 milion {2014 $1 8 million)

Al 31 December 2015 deferred tax assets
amounting to $25 6 million (31 December
2014 $20 5 mulion) have been recognised
on the balance sheet At 31 December
2015 there are deferred tax assels
amounting Lo a tax value of $22 0 million
(31 December 2014 $171 million) which
remain unrécognised

For 2016 itIs expected that the effective
tax rate will continue 10 be in the region
of 25 0 per cent
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EARNINGS PER SHARE

Finanaial review continued

Adjusted basic earnings per share was 5 00 cents compared with 5 82 ¢ents for 2014 There were 610 5 milion {2014 611 2 rmilhon)
welghted average Crdinary Shares in 1ssue Basic earnings per share was 218 cents for 2015 compared with 3 35 cents for 2014

Areconciiation 1s provided below

$ million 2015 2014
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY 133 205
Exceptional items 125 41

Acquisition related costs o1 38
Acquired intangible asset amortisation and impairment 148 i37
Goodwill impairment 38 -
Share-based payment o8 a7
Tax effect on the above items (85) 54)
Prior year tax credit (6.3) {18
ADJUSTED PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY 30.5 356
ADJUSTED BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE (CENTS) 500 582

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The key objective of the Group s treasury
department 1s to manage the financial nsks
of the business and to ensure that
sufficient iquidity 1s available to the Group
All treasury activity operates within a
formal control framework The Board has
approved treasury policies and guidelines
and penodically reviews treasury activities
Additicnally, it)s the Group s policy that
speculative treasury transactions are
expressly forbidden

Spirent's financial sk management
objectives and policies and its exposure
to risks are discussed In note 27 of Notes
te the consolidated financial statements

ACQUISITIONS AND INVESTMENT

IN ASSOCIATE

On 7 October 2015 Spirent made a

$5 0 million investment to take a 28 per cent
stake in Jolata, Inc, a pre-revenue company
basedn San Jose Calfornia which aims to
develop a market leadership position in
network visibility for latency management
The Group has significant influence, but

not control, over the flnanclal and operating
policies and therefore the investment

In Jolata wlll be equlty accounted and
reflected as an investment In associate

in Spirent s financial statements
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0On 16 November 2015 Spirent acquired
Epitiro Group Limited ( Epitiro™) for an initial
cash consideration of $1 7 milhon Deferred
consideration of up to $0 3 million I1s
payable one year after acquisition based

on the achievement of certain orders targets
and product development milestones

The product development mitestones

were achleved in December 2015 and
Spirent paid $0 1 million of the deferred
consideration in January 2016 Epitiro,
based in Cardiff 1s a ploneer and leader

In the rapidly growing Wi-Fi experience
monitering market and the acquisition builds
on the success of an existing strategic
partnership This acqulsition is reported
within Service Assurance




FINANCING AND CASH FLOW

The Group is cash generative, and this gives Spirent the financial flexibilty to invest in organic growth pursue strategic acquisitions
and pay sustainable dividends to shareholders

Cash and cash equivalents were $102 0 million at 31 December 2015 compared with $29 8 milion at 31 December 2014 with no debt
Cash and cash eguivalents are held as cash on demand or in short term bank deposits and 60 per cent of the balance at 31 December

2015 was denominated in US dollars

Cash generated from operating activities was tugher in 2015 at $57 8 million {2014 $48 8 million) as we benefited from the unwind of the
working capital Increase we experienced in the fourth quarter of 2014 This resulted in a net decrease inworking capital of $2 1 milhon
for the full year (2014 increase of $6 7 million) Free cash flow conversion represents 2 7 times (2014 0 5 times) reported earnings

Free cash flow I1s set out below

% millicn 2015 2014
Cash flow from operations 578 489
Tax recewed(paid) 26 (72
CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 60.4 417
Interest received o4 06
Net capital expenditure {25 5) (316)
FREE CASH FLOW 363 107

Cash generated from operations includes
a cash outflow of $1 8 million for the
implementation of the exceptlional cost
reduction achons taken in 2015 The total
cash cost of these actions 1s $8 8 milion
with the balance to be paid in 2016

Net capital expenditure was lower by

$6 1 milllon than in 2014 which included the
move 1o new improved leasehold facilities
In the United States on the expiry of the
previous lease terms For 2016 capital
expenditure Is expected to be In the region
of $20 million

In 2015 the final dividend for 2014 and
an interim dividend for 2015 totalling
$23 5 million (2014 $22 2 million) were
paid There were no share repurchases
during 2015 {2014 $16 4 milion outflow)
Cash consideratian for acquisiions and
Investment in associate amounted to
$6 7 million (2014 $85 9 million)

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS
The Group operates two funded defined
benefit pension plans which are in the
United Kingdom Beoth of these schemes
were closed to new entrants some time
ago and the principal plan now has fewer
than ten active members

The accounting valuation of these plans

at the end of 2015 showed a net deficit of
$191 million compared with a net deficit

of $13 7 million at 31 December 2014 The
higher deficit was principally due to a
dechne in the fair value of plan assets as a
result of market conditions The accounting
valuation 1s based on the preliminary
results of the actuarnal valuation dated

1 April 2015 which will be finalised In 2016

The Group has also reporied a hability
of $0 7 million (31 December 2014

$0 8 milllon) in respect of United
Kingdom unfunded plan liabllities

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Sprrent's pohcy on capital structure 15 1o
maintain a strong balance sheet to support
operational flexibility and fund investment
for long term growth

No share buybacks were transacted in
2015 In 2014 the Company repurchased
97 mithion ghares at a cost of $15 6 milhon
All shares repurchased in 2014 were
cancelled No further buybacks are
currently planned
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DIVIDEND

The Board 1s recommending the payment
of a final dimidend for 2015 of 2 21 cents

{1 59 pence) per share which, together
with the Interim dividend of 168 cents

(1 08 pence) per share paid in September
2015, brings the full year dividend to

3 89 cents (2 67 pence) per j’uare The
dividend i1s covered 1 3 times by adjusted
earnings This maintaing the full year
dividend for 2015 at the same level as
2014j~hich was also 3 89 cents per share

Subject to approval by the shareholders
atthe Annual General Meeting, the final
dividend will be paid on 6 May 2016 to
shareholders on the register at 4 March
2016 Payment to ADR holders will be
made on 16 May 216

CHANGE IN OPERATING SEGMENTS
There will be a change 1n operating
segments effective 1 January 2016

See note 4 to Notes to the consolidated
financial statements for an explanation of
the change
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Corporate responsibility

PROMOTING A CULTURE OF RESPONSIBILITY

PRINCIPLES AND THEMES

The way we behave when we do business
1S central o our long term success
Conducting our business responsibly
enables us to meet our obligations to cur
stakeholders and delivers real business
benefits, creating long term value for
shareholders by

pretecting our reputation and ability

to grow,

+ helping us io win business from
customers whao value strong
Environmental, Social and
Governance ("ESG”) performance,

= enhancing our efficiency,

+ enabling our people to work
productively In a safe and ethical
environment,

» helping us to attract and retain talent,

and encouraging employees to take

pride in working for us and
reducing the risk of incidents

and thelr associated costs

SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT

AND POLICY

Qur sustainability management (s
governed by an overarching sustainability
policy The policy can be found at

http /fcorporate spirent com

The policy commits all Group business
units to comphance with high standards

of ethics and business integrity,
environmental management and employee
and community welfare

The Chief Executive Officer 1s responsible
for the sustainability policy and the Board
has appointed external advisers to support
the design and implementation of
improvement programmes

FOCUSING ON KEY ISSUES STRATEGY
AND MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

Cur sustainabihty strategy 1s focused

on the materlal ESG Issues for the Group
These issues have been identified through
a matenality assessment based on the
Accountability AA 1000 5-part materiality
methodology This analysis Is reviewed
biannually

SUSTAINABILITY OUR PROGRESS IN 2015
In 2015 we launched FuturePosiive, our
sustainabilty improvement programme
The objectives are to embed sustainability
management across our organisation and
to create value by supporting customers

to address their sustainability challenges

Bullding on the Improvements in energy
and carbon management in 2014, the
FuturePositive launch has introduced new
sustainable product design standards
supply chain sustainabihty audits and
enhanced stakeholder communication
and transparency

Further detatls can be found in our 2015
ESG report, which 1s availlabie to download
at http //corporate spirent com

Environmental

Ovur industry faces a wide range of
environmental challenges including ¢hmate
change the use of hazardous maternals and
increasing environmental legislation Qur
programme of environmental management
in 2015 included audits of environmental
performance and management at our new
sites in Frederick MD and Calabasas CA
a pilot of energy monroring software at
our Low Carbon Centre of Excellence in
Paignton UK, and environmental audits

of the Group s main contract manufacturer
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ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

AND POLICY

The Group Environmental Policy commits
the Group to prevention and control

of pollution, minimising environmental
impacts, eco-efficiency, and adoption

of responsible environmental practices

The Group 1s also committed to compliance
with all applicable environmental
regulations in each of the Junsdictions

in which It operates To meet these
objectives, the Group endeavours to
continuously improve environmentat
performance and to make robust
environmental management integral to its
overall strategy External consultants are
penodically used to assist in this area

COMPLIANCE

The Group s business units comply with the
EU s Waste Electrical and Electronic
Equipment Regulations 2013 and Batteries
Directive and the Californig Electronic
Waste Recycling Programme

Although Spirent Communications’
hardware products are classified as
Category Nine (Monitar and Control
Equipment) and are out of scope with

the RoHS Directive untll June 2017, new
products are designed to meetthe EU s
Restriction of Hazardous Substances
Directive ("RoHS") Measures are in place to
ensure the Group's hardware products will
be in comphance with the RoHS Directive at
such time as they are brought into scope

The Group s not directly required to comply
with or report under Section 1502 of the
Dodd-Frank Act, the US Conflict Minerals
Law Hawever, it has robust procedures in
place o ensure that it would be In




comphance if it were brought in within the
scope of this legislation The Group will be
subject to the EU Directive an Conflict
Minerals when it 1s enacted 1in national
legislabion In the UK and other European
countries We are monitoring the
development of compliance requirements
and are confident our existing practices will
meet the standards required

The Group 1s not required to comply with
the UK Energy Savings Cpportunity
Scheme ("ESOS") Regulations 2014

GREENHQUSE GAS EMISSIONS

Carbon emissions are a maternal
sustamnabiity 1ssue for the Group and we
remain committed to reporting emissions
and taking action to combat chmate
change The Group once again responded
to the Carbon Disclosure Project {"CDP”) in
2015 completing both the Climate Change
and Supply Chain questitonnaires for the
calendar year 2014

Improved sustainability reporting has been
a key theme this year, and we increased
our CDP performance band to a C and
have improved our disclosure score to 95,
having achieved year-on-year improvement
since 2013 as shown in the table on

page 38

PERFORMANCE AGAINST TARGET

The Group set a target to reduce carbon
emissions in absolute terms, as well as

In relatlon to revenue and Internal area
We have not achieved these targets
Energy use and absolute emissions have
increased by 3 9 per cent and 3 4 per cent
respectively, whilst carbon emissions per
$m of revenues decreased by one per
cent Fifteen of our 46 sites have however
achieved absolute reductions in GHG
emissions of 5 per cent or more

There are two principal reasons for these
Increases improved data avallability which
allowed us to use actual rather than
estimated energy use for a number of our
sites, including our engineering facility in
Fredernck, USA, with 2015 emussions
matenally higher than estimates, and
business growth and expansion in research
and development, which alsc increased
energy usage

METHODOLOGY

Reporting on emission sources IS

required under the Companles Act 2006
(Strategic Report and Directors’ Report)
Regulations 2013 and these sources fall
within our consolldated financlal statements
We are not responsible for any emission
sources that are not included in our
consolidated financial statements We report
under the GHG Protocol Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard {Rewised
Edition) with data gathered under these
Regulations and emission factors under the
UK Government's GHG Conversion Factors
for Company Reporting 2015

Greenhouse gas emissions for both 2014
and 2015 have been assured using the AA
1000 AS {2008) standard The assurance
statement can be found In our 2015 ESG
repert at hitp f/corporate spirent com

2015 CASE STUDY

Product

A core cbjective for 2015 was to determine
how best to measure product sustainability
performance and how to formally embed
sustainability considerations into

product development

A pilot progect was run in our Positioning
bustness unit in the UK to develop
standardised protocols to measure the
sustainabitity performance of products and
to iIncorporate sustainabihty criteria into the
product development Gateway Process

Protocols have been defined to measure
key product metrics of energy use, noise
size and weight and the performance
Significant improvements have been
identified in the new GSS9000 preduct,
especially when a large number of
channels are under test

SOCIAL

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Board has designated the Chief
Financial Officer as responsible for

health and safety performance within the
Group and procedures are In place for
incidents to be reported through the Audit
Committee to the Board as necessary

The health and safety nsk profile for the
Group remained low during 2015, with very
low accident rates and no incidents which
required hospitalisation

sophisticated testing systems

GSSB000 system specification

GSS9000 SUSTAINABILITY IN PRODUCT DESIGN

Spirent supply a market-leading range of Global Navigation Satellite System
{*GNSS7) simulators for R&D integration venficatton and product testing The
reliance on a growing number of GNSS constellations for both genernic navigation
requirements and Location Based Service applications has meant that designers
manufacturers and systems integrators need increasingly comprehensive and

Spirent launched the GSS9000 to meet these significant iIncreases In testing
complexity and incorporated key product sustainability improvements to reduce
matenal and energy use across the product’s ifespan

The more capable GS59000 1s 69 per ceni lighter, 74 per cent smaller and has
a 54 per cent reduction In maximum power demand than the comparable
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Corporate responsibility continued

Disclosure Climate Change
Year Programme Score  Performance Band
2015 Climate Change 2015 g5 C
2014 Climate Change 2014 73 D
2013 Climate Change {Investor CDP) 66 D
GLOBAL GHG EMISSIONS DATA FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
2015 2014
Emissions from Tonnes of COue Tonnes of COze
Combustion of fuel and operation of facilities (scope 1) 256 1 2652
Electricity heat steam and cooling purchased for own use (scope 2) 6,747 1 65104
TOTAL EMISSIONS 7,003 2 6,775.6
Emissions intensity measurement
Normalised to per square metre of gross internal area of our facilities 0.15 014
Normalised to per $m of revenues 14 68 14 82

Note

1 The mproved data collection processes put in place this year have made more precise emissions data avallable for 214 The 2014 figures have been

revised accordingly

DIVERSITY AND EQUALITY

The Group employs a diverse workforce
and prides itself in providing equal
opportunities for all High value 1s placed on
rewarding our people for their commitment
their integnty and therr service We aim to
ensure that no employee 15 discnminated
against, directly or indirectly on the grounds
of colour, race ethnic and national ongins,
sexual orientation or gender, marital status,
disabilty, religion or behef being part ime
or on the grounds of age

The Board supporlts the aims, objectives
and recommendations outlined in Lord
Davies’ report “Women on Boards™ and

it cantinues to be the Board s policy to
make new appointments based on ment,
recognising that gender rema:ns an
important aspect of the overall diversity
which 1s crucial 1o creating an optimal
board in terms of balance and composition

TRAINING

The Group provides a wide varlety of
learning and tratning opportunities,
ranging from workshops and mentoring to
onhne resources and internal and external
training courses Personal development
planning and identification of training and
development needs form a key part of our
annuai performance review process

ENGAGEMENT

The Group conducted an all employee
survey in 2014 and benchmarked results
against global norms for our industry sector
One of the action points that arose from the
2014 survey was a desire to Improve
information shaning and collaboration across
the Group To build on the existing
communication tools avallable, a new
tranet platform /nsideSpirent has been
developed and has recelved extremely
posiive feedback from employees
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DISABILITY

Disabled persons, whether registered

or not are accorded equal opportunities
when applying for vacancies with due
regard to their aptitudes and abilities

In addltlon to complying with legislative
requirements, we are committed 1o
ensuring that disabled employees are fairly
treated In respect of traiming and career
development and promotion With regard
to employees who become disabled during
the course of therr employment the Group
is supportive and will take all reasonable
steps to ensure that they can remainin
employment wherever practicable




BOARD DIVERSITY

O Male 6 (75%)
® Female 2 (25%)

CHARITABLE GIVING

AND VOLUNTEERING

Spirent encourages employees to
participate In chasitable programmes within
therr communities supporting therr efforts
financially iIn some cases, but also in North
America and Europe through a Voluntary
Time Off policy, which allows employees
to donate up to two working days each
year 1o a chartable organisation close

to their hearts

Maiang a commitment to our local
communities takes many forms at Spirent
from running in the Beying Marathon

to cycling In the American Diabetes
Association’s Tour de Cure in Hawan

Our New Jersey employees continue their
commitment to help with the rebuiiding

of homes devastated by Hurricane Sandy
back in 2012

EMPLOYEE DIVERSITY

O _jMale 1,268 (77 4%)
@ Female 371{226%)

GOVERNANCE

ETHICS

The Group s core values and principles and
the standards of behaviour to which every
employee across the Group 1s expected to
work, are set out In the Group's Ethics Policy,
which has been approved by the Board and
1s available on cur website at http /icorporate
spirent com These values and principles are
applied to all dealings with our customers,
supplers and other stakeholders

The Group has a zero tolerance approach
1o all forms of bribery and corruption Asa
UK company, Spirent Communications plc
15 bound by the laws of the UK including
the Bribery Act 2010, 1n respect of our
conduct both at home and abroad In
addition we will uphold all laws relevant
to countering bribery and corruption in

all jurisdictions In which we operate
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SENIOR MANAGER

DIVERSITY

O Male 134 (89 8%)
@ Female 22 (10 2%)

HUMAN RIGHTS

Spirent seeks to uphold all Internationally
recognised human nghts wherever its
operations are located Within this
framework we compty with the reguirements
ofthe UK Modern Slavery Act 2015 and the
California Transparency in Supply Chains

Act 2010 We require slavery and human
trafficking to be eradicated from our direct
supply chain for the products we sell

DATA PROTECTION

Sprrent takes data secunty and privacy
sernousty and we continually review the
security of our data systems and procedures
in order that we can react to areas of
heightened risk promplly and effectively

Pages 1to 39 form part of the
Strategic Report

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

ANGUS IVESON

Company Secretary & General Counsel
25 February 2016
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Board of directors

THE RIGHT MIX OF SKILLS AND EXPERIENCE

1 ALEX WALKER

CHAIRMAN

Alex Jjoined the Board in December 2006
and was appointed Chairman of the
Company in March 2010 He chairs the
Nomination Committee and attends other
Committee meetings by invitation

Until August 2006 Alex was Chief
Executive of Yule Catto & Co plc until
April 2010 he was a non-executlve director
of Rotork plc and until May 2014 he was a
non-executive director of Zetefoams plc

2 ERIC HUTCHINSON

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Eric was appointed to the Board in
January 2000 as Chief Financial Cfficer
and appointed Chief Executive Officer
in September 2013

Eric joined the Company 1n 1983 and
worked in various roles inthe finance
function prier 10 his appointment as
Chlef Financlal Officer

He i1s a Fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and
a member of the Financial Reporting
Review Panel

3 RACHEL WHITING

CHIEF FINANCIAL GFFICER

Rachel was appointed to the Board (in
February 2014 as Chief Financial Officer

Rachel joined the Company In 1986
working in various roles within finance,
before being appointed Head of Group
Tax in 2003, and adding the role of
Company Secretary in 2009

She s a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England & Wales and an
Associate of the Chartered Institute of
Taxation and of the Institute of Chartered
Secretanes and Administrators

4 DUNCAN LEWIS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

Duncan was appointed to the Beard In

July 2007 He Is a member of the Audit,
Nomination and Remuneration Committees

Until March 2011, Duncan was Chief
Executive Officer of Vislink plc and until
October 2008 was Senior Adviser to The
Carlyie Group, assisting them in developing
strategy and identifying investments in

the telecommunications and media

sectors worldwide

Duncan I1s a non-executive director of
JQW plc and Tribal Group plc and director
of severat other companies




5 TOM LANTZSCH

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
CIRECTOR

Tom was appointed to the Board in

May 2015 He Is a member of the Audit
Nomination and Remuneration Committees

He 15 currently Executive Vice President
Strategy at ARM Holdings and has held

a varlety of senlor leadership roles In
technology industries over the last 30 years

6 TOM MAXWELL

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

Tom was appointed to the Board In
October 2007 He1s Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member
of the Audit and Nomination Commitiees

Until September 2007, Tom was Investment
Director and Head of the UK Growth &
Income Product Group at Martin Currne
Investment Management in Edinburgh

He is a Member of the Chartered Institute
of Bankers in Scotland and a Member of
the Saciety of Investment Professionals
and the CFA Institute

Tom Is a non-executive director of
Foresight 3 VCT plc

7 SUE SWENSON

SENICR INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

Sue was appointed to the Board in

February 2012 She Is 8 member of the Audit,
Nomination and Remuneration Committees
and was appointed Senior Independent
Drirector in August 2015

Sue 1s CEO and Chairman of Novatel
Wireless Inc and a non-executive director
of Wells Fargo and Harmonlc Inc Sue has
also been appointed by the US National
Telecommuntcations and Information
Administration as a founding Board member
of the First Responder Network Authority

8 JONATHAN SILVER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

Jonathan was appotnted to the Board

In June 2015 He Is Chairman of the

Audit Committee and a member of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committees

Jonathan stepped down from his role as
Chlef Financial Officer at Laird plcin 2015
where he held a variety of senior positions
over the last 30 years Since 2007 he has also
been a non-executive director at Invesco
Income Growth Trust plc where he 1s also
Chair of their Audit Committee
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Chairman’s introduction to governance

DEAR SHAREHOLDER

The Board recognises that it 15 essential

to have appropriate corporate governance
processes to support prudent and effective
management that can deliver long-term
success for the Company This Governance
Statement explains our approach in

more detall

BOARD CHANGES

We have made a number of changes to the
composition of the Board 1n 2015 In May
we welcomed Tom Lantzsch to the Board
as a non-executlve director, Tom brings

a wealth of technology experience to the
Board, currently serving as the Executive
Vice President of Strategy at ARM Holdings
Plc He has also held senior positions at

a range of leading technology companies

lan Brindle stepped down from the Board
In August 2015 after having served since
December 2006 We miss his knowledge,
wisdom and counsel In June this year we
wereg pleased to welcome Jonathan Silver
to the Board, and Jonathan has now taken
lan s place as the Chairman of the Audit
Committee Jonathan brings over 25 years
of expenence as the Chief Financial Officer
of Laird plc together with valuable
experience as a non-exaecutive director

We announced in November that Rachel
Whiting, our Chief Financial Officer had
decided to retire and would step down
from the Board at this year's AGM Rachel
has been with the Group for 30 years and
in that time has served In a number of
senlor roles On behalf of the Board | would
Ilke to express our gratitude for all her hard
work and her contribution to the Board and
1o the success of the Group The search for
Racheis replacement Is underway and we
will make an announcement In due course
about the identity of her successor
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EXTERNAL EVALUATION OF

BOARD PERFORMANCE

This annual evaluation s an important
means of ensuring that the executlve and
non-executive direclors are working
closely and effectively together This year
we have undertaken an external review
which has provided insight into our
priorities for 2016 |n particular, we will
continue to focus on effectively selecting
the investment opportunities which we
beleve are most likely to deliver the
maximum returns for our shareholders

RISK APPETITE

It 15 a stated aim of the Group to seek to
acquire new technofogies in our care and
adjacent markets Whilst looking for the
best opportunities for the Group the Board
has always been conscious of the longer
term nisks that any significant acquisition or
partnership may bning The new Corporate
Governance Code requirement to

make a statement regarding the longer
term viability of the Group has been

the catalyst for the Board to more fully
articulate our risk appetite with the
executive team This has helped

1o progress the framework within which

we consider future invesiment decisions

I look foerward to meeting shareholders
who are able to attend our AGM in May

ALEX WALKER
Chairman
25 February 2016




Directors’ statement on corporate governance

COMPLIANCE WITH THE UK
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

As a premium listed company on the
London Stock Exchange the Company

Is reporting in accordance with the UK
Carporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
published in September 2014 which sets
out standards of good practice n relation
to board leadership and effectiveness
remuneration, accountability and relations
with shareholders The Code i1s published
by the UK Financial Reporting Council

{ FRC") and a copy of the Code 15 avallable
from the FRC website at www frc org uk

The Board confirms that the Company has
complied in full with the Code throughout
the period under review

LEADERSHIP

THE BOARD

The Board of Directors 1s collectively
responsible to the Company’s shareholders
for the direction and oversight of the
Company to ensure its long-term success

The Board met regularly throughout the
year {0 approve the Group s strategic
objectives to lead the Group within a
framework of effective controls which
enable rnsk 1o be assessed and managed
and to ensure that sufficient resources
are avallable to meet the objectives set

There are a number of maiters which

are specifically reserved for the Board’s
approval These are set outin a clearly
defined schedule which includes matters
relating to the Group's strategic plan
approving the annual business strategy
and objectives, the nature and extent of
prncipal nsks 1o be taken to achieve the
strategic objectives, changes relating to
structure and capital, approval of trading
statements, half-year results final results
and annual report and accounts declaring
interim dividends and recommending
final dividends, the Group s policles

and systems of Internal control and risk
management approving capital projects
acquisitions and disposais valued at over
$2 million, and prowvision of adequate
succession planning

The schedule of matters reserved for the
Board was reviewed during the year and
approved and adopted at the February
2115 Board meeting

Certain specific responsibilities are
delegated 1o the ccmmittees of the

Board notably the Audit, Nomination and
Remuneration Committees, which operate
within clearly defined terms of reference
and report regularly to the Board For
further detatls, please see the reports of
each Committee that follow this statement

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF

EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer are separately held

and the division of their responsibilities

1s clearly established set out in writing,
and agreed by the Board to ensure that
no one has unfetiered powers of decision
The Chairman, Alex Walker 15 responsible
for the operation and leadership of the
Board, ensuring its effectiveness and
setting its agenda The Chief Executive
Officer Eric Hutchinson 1s responsible
for leading and managing the Group’s
business within a set of authonties
delegated by the Board and the
implementation of Beard strategy

and pobhcy

Authonty for the operational management
of the Group s business has been
delegated fo the Chief Executive Officer
for execution or further delegation by him
for the effective day-to-day runming and
management of the Group The Executive
Vice President of each business divisicn
within the Group has authonty for that
business and reports directly to the Chief
Executive Officer

GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

BOARD

Non-executive Chairman
Two executive directors
Five iIndependent non-executive directors

b

Y

hd

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Non-executive Chairman

Five independent
non-execulive directors

Primary responsibiity for succession
planning director selection
and Board composition

COMMITTEE REPORT PAGE 45

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Five independent
non-executive directors

Provides oversight and governance
over the Group's financal reporting
internal controls sk management
and relationship with
external auditor

COMMITTEE REPORT PAGES 50 TC 54

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Five independent
non-executive directors

Agrees remuneration
policy and sets individual
compensation leveis
for executive directors and
senior management

COMMITTEE REPORT PAGES 55 TO 72

43
Spirent Communications pic Annual Report 2015

FONUYNYIN0D 1H0d3H DID3LVHLS

SINIWILVLS TFIDNVYNIA

NOUYWHOINI HIHI0




Directors’ statement on corporate governance continued

SENIOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR
Following the retirement ¢f lan Brindle

on 7 August 2015 Sue Swenson is now the
Company’s recognised Senior Independent
Cirector The role of Senior iIndependent
Drrector 1s to act as a sounding board

for the Chairman and to serve as an
intermediary for other directors as
necessary She s also availlable to
shareholders should a need arise 10
convey conc¢erns to the Board which

they have been unable to convey through
the Chairman or through the executive
directors During the year led by the Senior
Independent Diractor, the non-executive
directors have met without the presence
of the Chairman (including to appraise the
Chairman’s performance)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

In additian to their responsibihties for
strategy and business results the non-
executive directors play a key role In
providing a sold foundation for good
corporate governance and ensure that no
individual or group dominates the Board s
decision-making They each occupy, or
have occupied, senior positions in industry
bringing valuable external perspective to
the Board's deliberauons through their
experience and insight from other sectors
enabling them to contnbute significantly
to Board decislon-making The formal
letters of appointment of non-executive
directors are available far inspection

at the Company s reglstered office

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three principal
Board committees to which it has delegated
certain of its responsibilities These are the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee The
membership responsibihities and activities
of these committees are described later

In this corporate governance statement and,
in the case of the Remuneration Committee
in the Report on directors remuneration
beginning on page 55 Membership of
these committees 1s reviewed annually and
minutes of committee meetings are made
available to all directors on a timely basis

The chairmen of the Audit Nomination
and Remuneration Committees intend to
be present at the Annual General Meeting
to answer questions on the work of their
respective commitiees

The written terms of reference for the
Audit, Nomination and Remuneration
Committees, all of which were reviewed
and updated durtng the year, are
available on the Company's website

at http #corporate spirent com

ELECTION AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

In accordance with the Code s
recommendations, all directors will be
proposed for election or re-election at the
2016 Annual General Meeting to be held in
May with the exception of Rachel Whiting
who as previously announced will be
stepping down from the Board prior to

the meeting

COMPANY SECRETARY

Angus lveson joined Spirent as Company
Secretary & General Counsel in October
2014 The Company Secretary is
responsible for advising and supporting
the Charrman and the Board on corporate
governance matters as well as ensuring
that there 15 a smooth flow of information
to enable effective declsien making

All directors have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary
and can take independent professional
advice In respect of therr duties atthe
Company's expense

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board held a total of seven meetings
during the year, including a two-day
strategy meetng held at the Company s
premises in Fredenck, MD

Senior executives below Board level

are invited, when appropriate, to attend
Board meetings and to make presentations
on the results and strateqies of therr
business units Papers for Board and
Committee meetings are generally
provided to directors a week in advance

of the meeling

The attendance of the directors at Board
and Committee meetings during the year
under review 1s shown in the table below
Where a director 1s unable to participate
in @ meeting elther In person or remotely,
the Chairman solicited their views on
key terms of business In advance of the
relevani meeting, so that that these
could be shared with the meeting and
contribute to the debate

Audit Remuneration Nemmation

Board Committee Committee Committee

Alex Walker i - - 4/4
Enc Hutchmson Yiri - - -
Rachel Whiting 717 - - -
lan Brindle! 5/5 212 4/4 373
Tom Lantzseh? 4/4 212 4/4 2/2
Duncan Lewis? 717 3/3 6/7 4/4
Tom Maxwell 7 3/3 717 4/4
Jonathan Silver* 3/3 212 4/4 11
Sue Swenson? 777 3/3 6/7 4/4

Notes

1 lan Brindle retired from the Board with effect from 7 August 2015

2 Tom Lantzsch was appeinted to the Board with effect from 11 May 2015

3 Mrlews and Ms Swenson were unable to attend the ad hoc Remuneration Committee meeting
held on 18 March 2015 but received all papers relating to the meeting and had the opportunity
to discuss Issues arlsing directly with the Committee Chalrman

4 Jonathan Silver was appomnted 1o the Board with

DIRECTCRS INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

In accordance with its Articles of Association,
the Campany has granted a qualifying third
party indemnity, 16 the extent permitted

by law, to each director The Company
also malntains directors’ and officers’
labiity insurance

These provisions are qualifying third party
indemnity provisions as defined 1n section
234 of the Companies Act 2006 Nerther
the Company s indemnity nor the insurance
provides cover in the event that a director
15 proven to have acted dishonestly

os fraudulently
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effect from 25 June 2015

BCARD ACTIVITIES DURING 2015

At each Board meeting, the Chief Executive
Officer presents an update on the
performance strategy and business issues
across the Group and the Chief Financial
Officer presents a detalled analysis of the
financial performance of the business units
Senior executives below Board level attend
relevant parts of Board meetings in order
te make presentations on their areas of
responsibiity, this gives the Board access
to & broader group of executives and hefps
the directors make ongoing assessments
of the Group's succession plans The Board
has a rolling programme of visits to
business unit locations to deepen its
appreciation of the different opportunities
and challenges that each unit faces




EFFECTIVENESS

BOARD COMPOSITION

At the date of this Report, the Board
comprises a non-executive Chairman five
independent non-executive directors and
two executive directors

The Chauman and the non-executive
directors contnbute entrepreneurtal
leadership and external expertise and
expenence in areas of importance to the
Company such as strategic iInvestments,
corporate finance, general finance

and corporate governance They also
contribute iIndependent challenge and
ngour to the Board s deliberations and
assist in the development of the
Company's strategy scrutiny of the
performance of management in meeting
agreed goals and targets, and satisfylng
themselves of the integrity of the
Company s internal controls and risk
management systems The Board believes

that all of the directors devote sufficient
time and attention as 1s necessary (n order
to perform ther duties

The Chairman holds regular discussions
with the non-executive directors without
the executive directors present to ensure
a free and frank exchange of views on the
effectiveness of the executive directors
and senior management

INDEPENDENCE

The independence of each non-executive
director 1s reviewed on appointment and
at least annually The Board determined
that the current non-executive directors
are each independent in character and
Judgement save for the Chairman who was
deemed independent by the Board at the
date of his appointment None have been
employed by the Company previously in
any capacity or have any material business
relationship with any Group company

Non-executive directors at Spirent receive
no remuneration from the Company other
than therr fees (detailed in the Repost on
directors’ remuneratton on page 58) and
each non-executive director has confirmed
that they do not represent any significant
shareholder in the Company No individual
or group of Individuals dominates the
Board s decision making and the Code
reguirement stating that at least half of
the Board {excluding the Chairman) should
compnise iIndependent non-executive
directors is satisfied

APPOINTMENTS TO THE BOARD

There 1s a formal, ngorous and transparent
procedure for the appointment of new
directors to the Board Details are available
Iin the Nomination Committee report on
page 49 which also provides details of

the Committee’s role and actlvities

STRATEGY
Review and analysis of
communications test and
measurement market

+ Review of updates on corporate
strategy and acquisitions

PERFORMANCE MONITORING

+ Receipt of regular reports from the
Chief Executive Officer

+ Receipt of senior management
presentations from each of the Group
business areas

+ Review and approval of budget
for 2016

+ Analysis of feedback on directors’
meetings with institutionat investors
Review of reports from the Chairmen
of Board committees

+ Examination of Company’s investment
management policy

- Evaluation of Group Insurance coverage

« Discussions on Company's
capital pohcy

GOVERNANCE AND RISK

+ Review and approval of full year and
half-year results announcements and
presentations and trading updates
and Annual Report 2014 in particular
to ensure statements are falr, balanced
and understandable

+ Oversight of viability
statement processes

- Assessment and approval of
continuing dividend policy

« Conswderation of Audit Committee
review of internal controls and nisk
management

« Review and appraisal of the Board's
performance

+ Review of schedule of matters
reserved to the Board and
Committee terms of reference

- Consideration of regular
regulatory updates

ACQUISITIONS/DISPOSALS
» Review of acquisiion proposals
« Oversight of Integration programmes

CORPORATE RESPCNSIBILITY

- Approval of disclosures required
by Madern Slavery Act 2015

» Receipt of regular updates on health,
safety and environmental 1ssues
referred by the Audit Commlittee

- Preparation for compliance with
Market Abuse Regulation and other
upcoming regulations

KEY BOARD ACTIVITIES DURING 2015

PEOPLE

+ Appomntments of Tom Lantzsch and
Jonathan Silver as independent
non-executive directors

+ Review of independent status of
continuing and new non-executive
directors

+ Revision of policy for identification
of Persons Discharging Management
Responsibibity

» Consideration of Board level and
senior succession planning and
resource activiies

VARIOUS

+ Review of external governance
reports on Annual Report 2014 in
preparation for the 2015 AGM and
subsequent discussion of voting
patterns and 1ssues ansing from
that meeting
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Directors’ statement on corporate governance continued

COMMITMENT

The letters of appointment for the
Chairman and non-executive directors
set out the expected tme commitment
required of them and are available for
inspection at the Company s registered
office and at the annual general meeting
Other significant commitments of the
Chairman and non-executive directors
are disclosed on appointment and
require approval thereafter

BOARD DEVELOPMENT

On appointment directors undertake a
structured induction programme, during
which they receve information about the
operations and activites of the Group, the
role of the Board and the matters reserved
to Its decision, the Group s corporate
governance practices and procedures and
therr duttes responsibilities and obligations
as directors of a listed pubhc irmited
company This Is supplemented by visits
to key locatlons and meetings with and
presentations by senior executives

Further training for directors ts available

as required and can be provided by means
of external courses, internal computer-
based training, brieflngs from specific
cansullants or In-house presentations In
addition, directors knowledge of the legat
and regulatory environment 15 updated
through the provision of information by the
Group s advisers and by means of regular
updates from the Company Secretary

New directors are encouraged to take
advantage of opportunities to meet

with major shareholders and attend
presentations to analysts where possible

INFORMATION FLOW

The Company Secretary & General
Counsel manages the provision of
information to the Board at appropriate
times in consultation with the Charrman
and Chief Executive Officer In addition to
formal meetings, the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer maintain regular contact
with all directors The Chairman aisc holds

informal meetings with non-executive
directors without any of the executives
being present, to discuss any 1Issues
affecting the Group If this I1s thought
necessary Regular management updates
are sent to directors to keep the non-
executive directors informed of events
throughout the Group between Board
meetings and to ensure that they are
kept fully advised of the latest Issues
affecting the Group

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST PROCEDURES
The Company has procedures in place,
which were reviewed and updated during
the year, te deal with the situation where
a director has a conflict of interest As part
of this process the Board

+ considers each potential conflict situation
separately on its particular facts,

« considers the potential confhct situation
In conjuaction with the rest of the
individual directors’ duties under the
Companies Act 2006,

An evalualion to assess the performance
of the Board as a whole, its commitiees
and that of the individual directors 15
conducted annualty

In accordance with the Code
reguirement that the evaluation should
be conducted by an external facilitator at
least every three years Useful Thinking
Limited ("UTL") was engaged to
undertake a review of the Board and its
Committees UTL is independent with no
other connection with the Company The
review took place in the final quarter

of the year

PROCESS

Following a scoping exercise with the
Chairman and the Company Secretary
to agree the priority areas and i1ssues to
be addressed in the review, the directors
completed an online questionnaire
cempiled by UTL centrning on themes
including the strengths and values of the
Board, the quality of succession planning,
the interaction of the Board members
with the Group's varnous business units
the process of management strategic
planning and the management of risk

Burtng the year, the implementation of

a number of recommended action points
ansing from the 2014 evaluation was
overseen by the Chairman and included
the following actions

2015 ACTIONS

- Further developed understanding of
strategic positioning and competitive
1ssues facing the Group in view of
ongoing changes in our market sectors,

= Gan further insight Into performance
metrcs on acguisitions and organic
investments,

- Focus on strengthening the Board with
non-executive directors with specific
industry sector and relevant geographic
business knowiedge and

+ Increased visibiity on depth of
management bench strength below
Board level given changes 1o the
management team in 2014

Based on the outcome of the 2015 review
it was concluded that the Board continues
1o work very effectively as a cohesive
body with a good balance of support,
challenge and mutual trust between the
execulive and non-executive directors

BOARD PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

It was also the Board s view that, overall,
the principal committees continued to
function efficiently and effectively Each
of the directors was considered to be
making a valuable contrnibution and with
proper commitment including of time

to their respective roles

A list of action points arising from the
2015 review on how the Board can
become even more effective was offered
by UTL and subsequently agreed by the
Board These agreed action points in the
form of a Board development plan are
being mplemented under the direction
of the Chalrman and include the
following actlons

2016 OBJECTIVES
= Prienusation of resources on market
segments which provide greatest
growth opportunittes,
= Provision of iIncreased visibiity on the
progress of the most signlficant product
development & acquisition iInvestments,
Focus on Beard succession in ight
of Non-executlve director and
Charrman tenure, and
» Further assess senior leadership
bench strength

46

Spirent Communications plc Annual Report 2015




+ keeps records and Board minutes as to
authornisations granted by duectors and
the scope of any approvals given and

- regularly reviews conflict authonsation

ACCOUNTABILITY

FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS REPORTING
The Board recognises its responsibility

to present a fair, balanced and
understandabte assessment of Spirent

in all of our reporting obligations This
responsibility covers the Annual Report
and extends to the half-year report and
other regulatory announcements The
Directors consider this Annual Report,
taken as a whole to be fair balanced and
understandable, providing the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the
Company s perfermance business model
and strategy In arnving at this position
the Board asked the Audit Committee to
review and confirm the process Is In place
1o support this assessment The Audit
Committee confirmed that a robust
approach Is In place to support the farr,
balanced and understandable assessment,
detalls of whach can be found in the Audit
Commitiee s report on pages 50 to 54

BUSINESS MODEL

A description of the Company’s business
model for sustainable growth I1s set outin
the Group business model and strategy
section on pages 12 to 19 These sections
provide an explanation of the basis on
which the Group generates value and
preserves it over the long term and its
strategy for delivering its objectives

GOING CONCERN

After making enquines, the directors
have a reasonable expectation that the
Company and the Group have adeqguate
resources to continue In operational
existence for the foreseeable future
Accordingly and consistent with the
guidance contained in the document
titled Guidance on Risk Management,
Internal Control and Retated Financial and
Business Reporling published by the FRC,
they continue to adopi the going concern
basis in preparing the annual financial
statements

INTERNAL CONTROL AND

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities
for the Group s system of internal control

to facilitate the identification assessment
and management of risk the protection of
shareholders investments and the Group s

assets The directors recognise that they
are responsible for providing a return o
shareholders, which 1s consistent wath the
responsible assessment and mitigation
of nisks

Effective controls ensure that the Group s
exposure to avoidable risk s minimised,
that adequate accounting records are
maintained that the financial information
used within the business s reliable and
that the consolidated accounts preparation
and financial reporting processes comply
with all relevant regulatory reporting
requirements The dynamics of the Group
and the environment within which it
operates are continually evolving, together
with its exposure 1o nsk Internal controls
can only provide reasonable and not
absoelute assurance against matenal
misstatement or loss

The directors confirm that there i1s an
ongoing robust process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the principal rnisks
faced by the Group and the operational
effectiveness of the related controls, which
has been n place for the year under review
and up to the date of approva! of the
annual report and accounts They also
confirm that they have regularly reviewed
the system of risk management and
internal controls utihsing the review
process set out below

The directors confirm that a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the
Company has been carried out, including
those risks that would threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or
hquidity More details are set out in the
Group s Principal nsks and uncertamties
on pages 22 to 25 of this Annual Report

STANDARDS

There are guidelines on the minimum
Group-wide requirements for health

and safety and environmental standards
There are also guidelines on the mimmum
level of internal control that each of the
divisions should exercise over specified
processes Each business has developed
and decumented palicies and procedures
1o comply with the minimum control
standards established including procedures
for monitenng compliance and taking
carrective action The management of
each business 1s required to confurm twice
yearly that it has complted with these
pohcies and procedures
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HIGH LEVEL CONTRCLS

All businesses prepare annual operating
plans and budgets which are updated
regularly Performance agamnst budget

15 monitored at operational level and
centrally, with variances being reported
promptly The cash posttion at Group andg
operational level 15 monitored constantly
and variances from expected ievels are
investigated thoroughly

Clearly defined guidelines have been
established for capital expenditure and
Investment decisions These include the
preparation of budgets, appraisal and
review procedures and delegated
authornty levels

FINANCIAL REPORTING

Detailed management accounts are
prepared every month, consolidated

in a single system and reviewed by
senior management and the Board
They include a comprehensive set

of financial reports and key performance
indicators covering commercial and
operationalissues Performance against
budgets and forecasts 1s discussed
regularly at Board meetings and at
meetings between operational and
Group management The adequacy

and suitability of key perfermance
indicators 15 reviewed regularly

INTERNAL AUDIT

All of the internal audit activities are
co-ordinated centrally by the Group's
VP, Finance, who s accountable to the
Audit Commitiee The Audit Committee
keeps this approach under review and 1s
satlsfied with the current arrangement

Alt Group businesses are required to
comply with the Group s financial control
framework that sets out mimimum control
standards A key function of the Groups
internal audit resource 1s to undertake
audits to ensure compliance with the
financial control framework and make
recommendattons for improvement

in controls where appropriate

The VP, Finance meets with the Chairman
of the Audit Committee as appropriate but
at least annually without the presence of
executive management, and has direct
access to the Charrman
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Directors’ statement on corporate governance continued

REMUNERATION

The Directors’ report on remuneration 1s
set put on pages 55 to 72 and provides
details of our remuneration policy and how
it has been implemented together with the
aclivities of the Remuneration Committee

ARTICLES CF ASSOCIATION AND
SHARE CAPITAL

Information In relation to share capital
the appointment and powers of directors
and the issue and buy back of shares and
significant interests in share capital 1s set
out in the Directors’ report on pages
73076

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board is committed to maintaining
goad communications with shareholders
The Chairman Chief Executive Cfficer
and Chief Financial Officer have regular
cdialogue with individual institutional
shareholders in order to develop an
understanding of thewr views which 1s then
discussed with the Board All directors are
offered the opportunity to meet with major
shareholders to lIsten to their views and
executive directors receive regular reports
prepared by an independent capital
markets advisory firm which provides
comprehensive information relating

to the Company s major shareholders

Presentations are made to analysts,
Investors and prospective investors
covenng the full year and half-year results
and the Company seeks to maimntam a
dialogue with the various bodies which
maonitor the Company s governance
policies and procedures

The Company I1s always keen 1o hear the
views of Its private shareholders and we
encourage them to access our website at
http //corporate spirent com/

for cur Company reports and business
information and to use our sharehclder
mailbox at investor relations@spirent com
for detalled enquiries

Any concerns raised by shareholders or
their representatives whether expressed
directly or through voting patterns at the
Company's AGM, are discussed by the
directors and an appropriate response
given either specifically to the concerned
party or if it 1s felt to be of wider benefit
made available {¢ alt shareholders via
the Company's website

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company's 2016 Annual General
Meeting (“2016 AGM™) will be held at
100pm on 4 May 2016 at the offices of UBS
at 1 Finsbury Avenue, London EC2M 2PP

The Board views the AGM as a valuable
opportunity to communicate with private
sharehclders in particular for whom it
provides the oppartunity to hear about the
general development of the business and
to ask questions of the Chairman and,
through him, the chairmen of the key
committees and other directars

The Board logks forward ta welcoming
all our shareholders to our 2016 AGM
and 1o updating them on our

business developments
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MEMBERS
Duning the year and at the date of this report

« Alex Walker (Chairman)
lan Brindle {retired 7 August 2015)
- Tom Lantzsch (appointed 11 May 2015)
+ Duncan Lewis
+ Tom Maxwell
Jonathan Silver {appointed 25 June 2015)
« Sue Swenson

-

KEY DUTIES

In accordance with its terms of reference
the Nomination Committee s key duties
Include

« leading the search process and making
recommendations to the Board for the
appointment of new directors

« regularly reviewing the Board structure,
size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge independence experience
and diversity), recommending any
necessary changes and considening
plans for orderly succession and

« making recommendations to the Board
about suitable candidates for the role
of Senior Independent Director and
membership of the Audit and
Remuneration Committees 1n consuitation
with the Chairmen of the relevant
Committees

HOW THE COMMITTEE OPERATES
Members of the Nomination Committee
are appointed by the Board from the
directors of the Company The Committee
comprises a minimum of three independent
non-executive directors A quorum
consists of two members being either two
independent non-executive directors or
one independent non-executive director
and the Chatrman

Cnly members of the Committee have
the right to attend Committee meetings
Other individuals such as the Chief
Executive Officer and exiernal advisers
may be invited to attend meetings
when appropriate

When dealing with ithe appointment of the
Chairman the Committee 1s chared by
an Independent non-executive director
elected by the remaining members

The terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee which were updated and
approved during the year, are avallable
on the Company s website at

htip Heorporate spirent com

Nomination Commitiee

BOARD APPOINTMENTS PROCESS
The Chairman leads the process for new
appoiniments with external, independent
consullants engaged 1o conduct a search
for potential candidates These are then
considered on the basis of their skills,
expernence and fit with the existing
members of the Board Procedures for
appointing a non-executive or an executive
director are set out in the Committee s
terms of reference

MEETINGS
The Nomination Committee met four times
during the year under review

COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES DURING 2015
APPOINTMENT OF NEW INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the year, the Chairman led the
process for the appointment of two new
independent non-executive directors

as part of the progressive refreshing

of the Board

The services of external executive
consulting firm JCA Group (*JCA",

were retained to identify candidates JCA
is Independent, with no other connection
to the Company and is a signatory to the
“Voluntary Code of Conduct for Executive
Search Firms™ on gender diversity and
best practice

Following a ngoerous process of
interviews and assessments and, on

the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee, the Board approved the
appointments of Tom Lantzsch with effect
from 11 May 2015 and Jonathan Silver with
effect from 25 June 2015

APPOINTMENT OF NEW

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Foltowing the announcement in November
2015 of Rachel Whiting's intention to retire
from the Board prior to the 2016 AGM, a
search for a replacement was initiated The
services of external executive search firm,
Odgers Berndtson were retained to assist
with the process Odgers Berndtson is
independent with no other connection

to the Company and is a signatory to the
“Voluntary Code of Conduct for Executive
Search Firms" on gender diversity and
best practice The Company will report

on progress In due course
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DIVERSITY POLICY AT BOARD LEVEL
The Board recognises that diversity 1s

key for introducing different perspectives
into board debate and decision-making

A genumnely diverse board comprises
individuals with a range of personal
atirnbutes, perspectives skills experience
and backgrounds, as well as representing
differences in nationality, race and gender

It continues to be the Board s policy to
make new appointments based oen mernt,
recognising that gender remains an
important aspect of the overall diversity
which 15 crucial to creating an optimal
board In terms of balance and composition
Candidates for future board appointments
will be considered from the widest
possible poot

RE-ELECTICN OF DIRECTORS

The Committee reviewed the results of the
annual Board performance evaluation that
related to the composition of the Board
and whether the time needed to fulfil the
roles of Charrman, Senior Independent
Director and non-executive director was
appropriate It was satisfied that all members
of the Board are devoting sufficient ime
to thelr dutles and remaln Independent

in nature

The Committee considered the re-election
of directars prtor to thelr recommendation
for approval by shareholders at the AGM
The Committee was particularly mindfi

of the independence of longer-serving
members of the Board

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

The performance of the Committee was
evaluated as part of the annual Board
performance evaluation and it was
found to be operating effectively
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Audit Committee

DEAR SHAREHOLDER,

| am delighted to have taken on the role
of Chalrman of the Audit Committee {the
“Committee™} in August this year | would
ltke to thank lan Brindle for his eight years
of leadership of the Committee, during
which time he has skilfully guided the
Board through numerous developments
In tinanclal and governance regulations

2015 saw the introduction of the new
requirement to make a viatnlity statement
concerning the Group The Committee
has worked closely with the executlve
management team to adapt and enhance
robust processes 1o assess the viability
of the Group over the three year perlod
selected and make an appropriate
recommendation to the Board

2016 will see the retirement of Rachel
wWhiting and the appointment of a new
Chief Financial Officer Rachel has been of
great help to me since my appointment and
I am sorry that cur time working together
could not have been longer She leaves
behind a cohesive and effective fitnance
team and she can be proud of playing her
part over a career of 30 years with Spirent
I'wish her well

I will be available at the 2016 AGM to
respond to any questions that shareholders
may have ¢n this report or on the
Commitiee’s activities

A
JOMNATHAN SILV

Chairman, Audit Committee
25 February 2016
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FAIR, BALANCED,
UNDERSTANDABLE

In making its recommendation to the
Board that the Annual Report taken
as a whole, is far, balanced and
understandable, the Committee
applied its robust governance
arrangements which include

« comprehensive Group and
subsidiary accounts processes
with written confirmations
provided by busingss unit
management teams
on the health of the financial
control environment,

» reviews of the Annual Report
undertaken at different levels
of the Group and by the senior
management team that aim to
ensure cansistency and overall
balance,

« external audit review

» clear guidance and instructton
of the disclosure requirement
provided to contributors,

« g vernfication process apphed to
factual content with the aim of
prowviding the information
necessary to assess the
Company’s performance, business
model and strategy,

- additional scrutiny by senicr
management including fecused
review of nsk registers and

« additional Commlttee reviews
of the draft Annual Report In
advance of final sign-off

Final approval of the Annual Report
Is provided by the Board, on the
recommendation of the Committee




MEMBERS
Duning the year and at the date of
this repert

lan Brindle (Committee Chairman until
retirement 7 August 2015)

+ Tom Lantzsch {appointed 11 May 2015)
» Duncan Lewis

» Tom Maxwell

= Jonathan Silver {appointed 25 June 2015,

appointed Committee Chairman
7 August 2015)
+ Sue Swenson

The Audit Committee comprises a
minimum of three members, all of whom
are independent non-executive directors
of the Company who have the necessary
range of financial and commercial
expertise to challenge management

Two members constitute a quorum

The membership of the Audit Committee
has changed over the last few menths
Tom Lantzsch was appolinted as 8 member
of the Commitiee on 11 May 2015, and
Jonathan Silver, appeinted to the Committee
on 25 June 2015, became Chairman of the
Committee on 7 Auvgust 2015 on the
retirement of lan Brindle

The Code requires the inclusion of

ane flnanclally quallfled member

{as recognised by the Consultative
Committee of Accountancy Bodies) with
recent and relevani financial experience
Currently, the Committee Chalrman fulflls
this requirement

KEY DUTIES
In accordance with its terms of reference,
the Audit Committee's key duties include

monitoring the integrity of the Group’s
financial statements and any formal
announcements relating to the
Company s performance, reviewing
significant financial reporting
Judgements contaned in them before
their submission to the Board for
approval,

on matters of financial reporting
reviewing and challenging where
necessary the consistency of and any
changes to accounting and treasury
policies, for example whether the Group
has followed appropriate accounting
policies and made appropriate estimates
and judgements the clarty and
compieteness of disclesure, significant

adjustments resulting from the audit
and the golng concern assumption and
compliance with auditing standards

at the request of the Board, reviewing
the content of the Annual Report and
Accounts and adwising the Board on
whether taken as a whole, it s farr,
balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Company s
position and performance business
model and strategy,

where requested by the Board, assisting
in relation to the Board's assessment of
the principal nisks facing the Company
and the prospects of the Company for
the purposes of disclosures required

In the Annual Report and Accounts
reviewing the effectiveness of the
Group s internal financial controls,
including the policies and overall
process for assessing established
systems of internal financial control
and imeliness and the effectiveness of
corrective action taken by management
overseeing the Group’s pelicies,
procedures and controls for preventing
bribery identifying money laundering
and the Group s arrangemenis for
whistleblowing, and

overseeing the relationshup with the
Group’s external auditors reporting to
the Board each year whether it considers
the audit contract should be put out to
tender taking into account any legal
requirements for tendering or rotation
of the audit contract, reviewing and
monitoring their objectivity and
independence including seeking
information from the external auditor
on an annual basis about its policies
and procedures for maintaining
independence, agreeing the scope

of therr work and fees paid 10 them

for audit, assessing the effectiveness
of the audit precess, and agreeing the
policy in relation to the provision of
non-audit services

HOW THE COMMITTEE OPERATES
All Committee members are expected
to be financially literate and to have an
understanding of the following areas

the principles of, and developments
In financial reporting including
applhcable accounting standards and
statements of recommended practice
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- key aspects of the Company's
operations including corporate
policies and the Group's Internal
control environment,

- matters which may influence the

presentation of accounts and

key figures

the principles of and developments in,

company law, sector-specific laws and

other relevant corporate legislation,

the role of internal and external auditing

and risk management, and

« the regulatory framework for the
Group s businesses

The Commiitee invites the Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Group VP
Finance and senior representatives of the
external auditors to attend its meetings In
full, although it reserves the nght to request
any of these individuals to withdraw

During the year the Committee held three
meetings with the external auditors without
any executive members of the Board

being present

The Committee has unrestricted access to
Company documents and information, as
well as to employees of the Company and
the external auditors

The Committee's effectiveness Is reviewed
on an annual basis as part of the Board s
performance evaluation process

The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee were reviewed and updated
during the year and can be viewed

on the Company's website at

http //corporate spirent com

MEETINGS

The Audit Committee met three times
during the year, with the Committee
agenda linked to events in the Group's
financial calendar

ACTIVITIES DURING 2015

The Audit Commitiee s activities principally
related to financial reporting internal
control and risk management the
preparation for publishing a viability
statement and the external audit In
addition, the Audit Committee considered
other specific matters such as the Group’s
approach to IT cantrols and cyber secunty
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FINANCIAL REPORTING
AND SIGNIFICANT ISSUES
During the year, the Audit Committee

- reviewed the full year and half-year
financial statements, trading updates
key accounting policies and significant
financial reporting Judgements contained
therein {(with particular reference to the
cntical accounting assumptions and
Jjudgements as set out in note 2 of the
conscldated financial statements) and
recommended the financial statements
to the Board for approval,

« reviewed whether the Annual Report
taken as a whole s fair balanced and
understandable and formed an opimion
thereon priot to recommending it to
the Board,

« reviewed and considered assumptions

In relation to the going concern basis

for preparation of financial statements

and

reviewed the external auditor s report

on the intenm review and year end audit

and management s responses to the

Issues raised

The Committee Chairman reports
any significant findings or identifled
weaknesses to the Board

SIGNIFICANT FINANCIAL

ISSUES CONSIDERED

The Audit Committee has reviewed each
of the following key significant financial
nsks by

-

reviewing papers and management

updates,

+ holding discussions with management
and key finance staff to challenge
assumpltions made

+ debating alternative treatments,

+ recelving periodic reporis on key areas
of Judgement,

« discussing with external auditor and

- considering presentations to analysts

to assess for Inconsistencies or areas

of bias

The Committee noted that Ernst & Young
LLP {"EY™) had in¢luded these areas of
significant risk In the Auditor’'s Report on
pages 78 1o 83 of this Annual Report and
was satisfied with the results of the
procedures followed

Audit Committee continued

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Committee (s aware that the potential
complexity of accounting, as well as the
pressure on management to meet certain
targets, may result in inappropriate
recognition of revenue and associated
balances Addittonal traiming and a
programme of awareness-rarsing has been
rolled out across the business units As
part of thewr audit procedures agreed with
the Committee EY would examine the
allocation of revenue and review specific
large and complex transactions to ensure
that revenue has been recognised
appropnately

TAX ACCOUNTING

The Committee recognises that by
operating in a number of jurisdictions with
differing tax regulations, there 15 a risk that
the Group may incorrectly recognise tax
charges in the income statement for the
period and deferred tax assets The
Comimittee noted that EY would be
perferming a detalled review of the
deferred tax recogmised and tax provisions
to ensure the appropnateness of tax
disclosures In the Group accounts as

part of their audit review

GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT

As indicated in 2014, the Committee was
aware of imited headroom in the Device
Intelligence business unit and would keep
thts under review After considenng varous
scenanos the Committee have concluded
that the Company should make a $3 8 mithon
goodwill impairment charge due to a change
n market expectations with tier-2 mobile
network operaters The Committee remains
of the view that management $ assessment
of goodwlll In the other acquired business
units is not overstated

RESTRUCTURING COSTS

The Committee recognises that it s
important that restructunng costs ansing
from decisions taken in December 201%
are properly accounted for Although a
high degree of judgement s involved In
identifying the appropriate accounting
treatment the Committee 15 satisfied that
this has been done appropnately
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MISSTATEMENTS

Management reported to the Committee
that they were not aware of any material
or immaterial misstatements made
intentionally to achieve a particular
outcome The auditors reported to

the Committee the misstatements that
they had found in the course of their work
After due consideration the Committee
concurred with management that no
adjustmenis were required

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT
During the year, the Audit Committee

+ monitored and reviewed internal control
and risk management systems,

« reviewed and approved the internal
audit programme for 2015,

« reviewed the Company s Ethics Policy
and anti-bribery and corruption
procedures and

« reviewed regular reports on taxation,
treasury operations health and safety
and cyber security

The Board has overall responsibility for
the Group s system of internal ¢ontrol

and nsk management and for reviewing
lis effectiveness The Board assisted

by the Audit Committee, has reviewed

the effectiveness of this system and this
review did not reveal any significant 1ssues
or weaknesses The Board confirms that
this system of financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management
was in place throughout the year under
review and up to the date of approval

of this Report

The pnmary aim of the Group's internal
controls 1s to operate a system which is
appropriate to the business and which can
support the Group i deliverning its strategic
objectives, safeguard the Group’s assets
and, over time, enhance shareholder value
The system 1s designed to identify,
evaluate and manage the significant nsks
faced by the Group rather than tc eliminate
the risk of falure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss




This 15 1n accordance with the Guidance
on Risk Management Internal Control and
Related Financial and Business Reporting
1ssued by the Financial Reporting Council
In September 2014 The Group consists of
a fimited number of entities and the Board
and Audit Commuttee continue to consider
that currently there 1s no need for a
dedicated internal control and risk
management department

The Group VP Finance Is responsible
for ensunng that the finance department
employs a level of management and
specialists appropriate for maintairing
financial records and processes that
provide financial information that 1s
relevant, reliable, comples with the
applicable laws and regulations and I1s
distributed both internally and externally
In a imely manner A review of the
conschdation and financial statements
15 undertaken by semor management

to ensure that the financial position and
results of the Group arg appropnately
reflected All financial information
published by the Group 15 subject to the
approval of the Audit Committee prior

to it being approved by the Beard

An indwidual has been i1dentified as
responsible for menitonng each principal
risk or uncertainty

The Group Executive Commitiee meet with
each business unit periodically to
challenge and debate the assessment of
risk within each busmess unit, who then
submit iocal nisk registers for analysis and
ranking together with Company-wide nsks
to form a robust corporate risk register
This corporate nisk register 1s then
presented to the Audid Committee three
times each year Actions arising from the
Audit Committee’s review of the corporate
nsk register can then be fed back to the
business units for therr management

Day-to-day responsibility for effective
internal control and risk management and
monitoning rests with senior management
at business unii level The Group VP,
Finance attends all Audit Committee
meetings to report on internal controf and
rnsk management and to apprise the
Committee of any control weaknesses
control failings and risks, therr impact and
the actions taken to dea!l with the 1ssues
The Group VP Finance 15 independent of
any business umit and is therefore able to

provide an objective view and contmual
assessment of the effectiveness of internal
contrel and nsk management throughout
the Group Detalled updates on specific
areas such as cyber security or business
continuity, are provided by the Group VP,
Finance at the Cormmittee s request

The Board and Audit Commitiee consider
that having the following key elements

In place are critical to underpinning the
overall internal control environment

OPERATING STRUCTURE

AND CONTRCLS

An orgarssational structure with clear
operating procedures defined lines
of responsibility and delegated levels
of authonty

FINANCIAL CONTROL STRUCTURE

A comprehensive strategic planning,
financial control and budgeting system
which 1s properly documented and
regularly reviewed

ETHICS POLICY

A policy that sets standards of
professionalism and integnty for all
employees and operations The Ethics
Policy includes sections relating 10 bribery
and cosruption to ensure that all of

Spirent s systems, controls and traiming
comply with the anti-bnbery and corruption
legislation in the countries where we
operate and that a culture of prevention
and detection of all forms of bribery and
corruption 15 1In place

ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTMENTS
A disciplined due diligence process and
post-acquisition integration programme

WHISTLEBLOWING AND FRAUD

The Group's "whistleblowing” policy which
forms part of the Ethics Policy contains
arrangements for a confidential reporting
facility for reporting to the Audit Commitiee
as appropnate The Audit Committee
reviews any reporis and the actions

arising therefrom

The Group's anti-fraud policy has been
communicated to all employees and states
that all employees have a responsibibty for
fraud prevention and detection Any suspicion
of fraud should be reported mmediately
and wlll be investigated vigorously
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EXTERNAL AUDIT
Dunng the year, the Aucht Committee

- reviewed and recommended to the
Board the re-appommtment of EY as
external auditor and approval of their
fees n particular in light of the UK
Corporate Governance Code s
recommendations regarcing the tender
of the external audit contract and
reviewed the policy on the engagement
of EY to supply non-audit services

The Committee places great Importance
on ensuring that high standards of quality
and effectiveness are maintained within
the external audit process It considers a
number of areas in relation to the external
auditor their performance in discharging
the audit and intenm review of financial
statements, therr ndependence and
objectivity, and their re-appotntment

and remuneration

AUDITOR APPOINTMENT

The Committee 1s aware of the Competition
and Markets Authornity s Order ("CMA
Order”) relating to its investigation of the
statutory audit services market for large
companies published in 2014 EY, orits
predecessor firms have acted as the
Company's auditor for more than 25 years
As such, under the transitional prowvisions
contained within the CMA Order, the
deadline for the appeointment of a new
avditor as a result of a tender process 15 set
as 2021

The Committee members consider that,
given the appeintment of a new Commitiee
Chairman in 2015 and with a new Chief
Financial Officer to be appointed 1n 2016,

It would be preferable for operational
reasons to recommend to shareholders
that EY be re-appointed as auditors of the
Company at the 2016 AGM The Committee
will keep this matter under review on an
annual basis

There are no contractual obligations in
existence that restrict the Company s
choice of auditor
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AUDITOR EFFECTIVENESS
To assess the effectiveness of the external
auditors, the Commitiee reviewed

- the external auditors fulfilment of the
agreed audit plan and vanations from it

« reports mighhghting the major 1ssues that
arose during the course of the audit,

- feedback from the businesses evaluating
the performance of each assigned audit
team, and

+ areport from the Audit Quality Review
Team of the Financial Reporting Councl!

The Audit Committee holds private
meetings with the external auditors after
each Committee meeting to review key
1ssues within therr sphere of interest
and responsityihty

To fulfitits responsibility for oversight
of the external audit process, the Audit
Committee reviewed

+ the terms, areas of responsibility
associated duties and scope of the
audit as set out In the external auditors
engagement letter,

» the overall work plan and fee proposat,

+ the major Issues that arose during the
course of the audit and their resolution

» key accounting and audit jJudgements,

+ the level of errors identified dunng the
audit, and

+ recommendations made by the external
auditors in their management letters and
the adequacy of management's response

The Commitiee reviewed and appropriately
challenged the basis for these before
agreeing the proposed approach and
scope of the external audit identified

As part of the review the external auditors
was questioned and challenged by the
Committee about the work undertaken,

its findings and what key assumptions

had been made during the audit
especially with regard to the key

areas of audit risk 1dentified

Audit Committee continued

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE

The Committee has formally reviewed

the Independence of Its auditors EY has
provided a letter confirming that it believes
1t remained independent throughout the
year, within the meaning of the regulations
on this matter and in acordance with their
professional standards

To fulfil its responsibility to ensure the
independence of the external auditors
the Committee reviewed

- changes in external audit executlves

In the audit plan for the current year,

a report from the external auditors

describing therr arrangements to identfy,

report and manage any conflicts of

interest, and

- the extent of non-audit services
provided by the external auditors

POLICY ON NON-AUDIT SERVICES

The Committee’s responsibility to monitor
and review the objectivity and
independence of the external auditors are
supportied by a policy relating to the
provision of non-audit services by the
external auditors Taking into account
relevant ethical guidance this pelicy
precludes a number of non-audit services,
including those relating to the accounting
records and financial statemenis internal
audt, IT consulting, legal and investment
services and other services deemed by
regulators to be precluded The Committee
accepts that certain work of a non-audit
nature may be best undertaken by the
external auditors The policy 1s reviewed
and financial limits for the provision of
non-audit services, including audit-related
fees tax-related fees and other fees are
set on an annual basis (2015 $0 6 million
(2014 $0 & milhon)) Any amounts in excess
of thts imit must be approved in advance
by the Audit Commitiee

The Committee considers that
notwithstanding the non-audit services
provided during the year totalling

$0 1 mitlion {2014 $0 2 million),

EY s objectlvity and iIndependence

as external auditors was not Impalred
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Report on directors’ remuneration

DEAR SHAREHOLDER,

As Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee {the “Committee™) | am pleased
to present our Remuneration Repoert for the
year ended 31 December 2015 This Report
has been prepared on behalf of the Board
by the Committee and has been approved
by the Board

In 2015 the Committee has focused on

= designing a new !ong-term incentive
plan {(“LTIP™),

+ placing more emphasis on profitabibty
In the 2016 annual cash Incentives, and

+ updating ocur Remuneration Pelicy to
incorporate the new LTIP while retaining
flexibility for the Company

LONG-TERM SHARE INCENTIVES
When drawing up our new LTIP, the
Commitiee aimed to ensure that rewards
only accrue as value is delivered ic
shareholders The Committee concluded
that it would take the opportunity to
simphfy arrangements but retain the
existing performance metncs as they
provide strong alignment between
management and shareholders We
consulted with major shareholders and
shareholder representatives on our plans
for the new LTIP as 1t remains the wish of
the Committee to retain strong shareholder
support for our approach to remuneration

PERFORMANCE METRICS

The Committee proposes to continue using
Target EPS and Absolute TSR performance
targets for LTIP awards We believe that
these measures provide an appropriate
balance between rewarding successful
strategy execution and creating value for
our shareholders The proposed targets
set out on page 57 reflect a significant
Increase from prior years as we seek to
encourage delivery of profitable growth
The Committee 1s canfident that onty
exceptional performance above typical
market growth wilt be rewarded with the
targets we have set

QUANTUM

To reflect the significant increase in stretch
targets we have increased the quantum of
awards for 2016 to 150% of base salary for
the CEO (2015 125%) Our market review
also demonstrated that our current award
level to the CFO was behind market and
we expect to make awards at a level

of 100% (2015 60%) when a new CFO

Is appointed

55
Sprent Communications plc Annual Report 2015

The Committee is satisfied thai the
addiional upside this makes avallable to
executive directors will be directly iinked 1o
performance achievabie only In a scenario
where the Company attains outstanding
results for shareholders

SIMPLIFICATION

Under previous plans the Company
was able to grant a range of awards to
management While Spirent continues to
compete for talent with sector peers based
In the US {where practices differ from the
UK general market), under the new LTIR,
executive directors will be granted
conventional performance shares only

in line with practice at the vast majority
of FTSE-listed companles

HOLEING PERIQDS

The Committee considered post-vesting
holding penods and also whether the
shareholding guideline for executive
directors was still appropriate We
concluded that in an industry with a pace
of change such as ours, the three year
vesting period was sufficiently long
Although 1t 1s important for directors

to have a significant shareholding, our
market review of similarly sized companies
suggested our existing guideline as set out
on page 59 was appropriate

ANNUAL CASH INCENTIVES

In ine with the Company's strategy for
2016 of focusing on driving profitability
across the Group, the annual cash
incentives for executive directors this year
have stretching targets that are weighted
70% on trading profit and 30% on order
intake (2015 20% and 80% respectively)

REMUNERATION POLICY

As the Company will be seeking
shareholder approval for the new LTIP at
the 2016 AGM, we will also be seeking
approval for a revised Remuneration Policy
While changes were necessary to reflect
the new LTIP we have also taken the
opportunity to make changes to ensure
that we have a workable policy over its
three year Iifespan and also to clarify
certain iIssues such as Committee
discretion, where market practice has
developed since our existing Policy was
approved 1n 2014

| hope you find this Report clear and
informative | will be avallable at the 2016
AGM 1o respond to any questions that
shareholders may have

TOM MAXWELL
Charrman Remuneration Committee
25 February 2016
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Report on directors’ remuneration continued

COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

This Report on directors remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2015 has been prepared on behalf of the Board by the
Remuneration Committee in accordance with Schedule 8 to the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and
Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 and the relevani sections of the Companies Act 2006 and meets the requirements of the
Listing Rules of the Financlal Conduct Authornty The Report also describes how the Board has complied with the provisions of the 2014
UK Corporate Governance Code

The Reportis presented in two parts the Directors Annual Remuneration Report and the Directors Remuneration Policy

The Directors’ Annual Remuneration Report sets out details of how our remuneration pohcy was implemented for the year ended
31 December 2015 and how it will be applied for the year ended 31 December 2016 At the 2016 AGM to be held on 4 May 2016 the
Directors' Annual Remuneration Report on pages 56 to 65 will be put to an advisory shareholder vote

The current Directors Remuneration Policy was approved by a binding vote at the 2014 AGM and became effectve on 24 Apnl 2014
An updated policy will be put to shareholders for approval at the 2016 AGM to Incorporate the terms of the new Spirent Long-term
Incentive Plan {the "LTIP") to formalise the alignment of the incentive plan with the policy Following shareholder approval, the revised
policy would become effective on 5 May 2016

DIRECTORS' ANNUAL REMUNERATION REPORT 2015

STATEMENT OF IMPLEMENTATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY IN 2016 (UNAUDITED)
Information on how the Company intends to implement the revised Directors’ Remuneraticn Policy in 2016 1s set out below

SALARY

2016 2015
Eric Hutchinson £400,000 £400000
Rachel Whiting' £250,000 £250,000
Note

1 Rachel Whiting will be retiring from the Board prior 10 the 2016 AGM and will therefore only receive a proportion of the figure shown for 2016

BENEFITS

+ Private healihcare cover for executive and family

+ Permanent health iInsurance

+ Life Insurance cover of four tmes annual base salary
« Car allowance (CEQ only)

RETIREMENT BENEFITS
Enc Hutchinson will recelve a taxable cash sum in lieu of pension at a rate of 20 per cent of base salary
Rachel Whiting wili recerve a taxable cash sum in lieu of pension at a rate of 14 per ¢ent of base salary

ANNUAL CASH INCENTIVE
The Commitiee has set targets for the year focused on trading profit and order intake Although the target detail
Is considered commercrally sensitive, the weghtings for the year ended 31 December 2016 are as follows

Trading profit 70%
Crder intake 30%

On target and maximum annual cash incentive payments are as follows

On target performance Maximum

% of base salary % of base salary

Erc Hutchinson 100 150
Rachel Whiting 50 75
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AWARD UNDER SPIRENT LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

Subyect to the LTIP’s approval by shareholders at the 2016 AGM 1t 1s anticipated that the folfowing award will be made under the new

LTIP In 2016

Anticipated value of award

Eric Hutchinson

£600,000

The awards are made in the form of performance shares, which are valued at the share price on the date of grant

Detalls of any award made to an incoming Chief Financial Officer will be disclesed in due course

Having reviewed the performance targets for awards under the LTIP the Committee has determined that for the Performance Shares
awards 10 be made n 2016 the following parameters are appropriate, calculated over a three year performance penod

50 per cent of award

Target EPS {adjusted) at the conclusion of the performance period

Proportion of Performance Shares vesting {%)

Below 8 cents

B cents

Above B cents and below 12 cents
12 cents or higher

0

25

Cn a straight hne basis between 25 and 100
100

The EPS performance penod normally starts at the beginning of the financial year in which the award 15 made

50 per cent of award

Absolute TSR Indicative share price' Proportion of Performance Shares vesting {%)

Up to 25% growth below 88 pence 0]
At 25% growth but below 100% growth 88 pence On a straight line basis between 25 and 100
100% growth or higher 140 pence 100
Notes

1 Share price including reinvested dividends

In determining TSR growlh for the Company share pnces will be averaged over 90 day peqnods immediately prior to the announcement
of the 2015 Fult Year results on 25 February 2016 (70 35 pence) and the 2018 Full Year resulls

AUDITED INFORMATICON
SINGLE FIGURE OF TOTAL REMUNERATION FOR 2015
The table below provides a single figure of total remuneration for 2015 and 2014 for the executive directors'

Annual tong term
Salary? Benefits? cash incentive* incentive® Pension® Total 2015
£000 €000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Eric Hutchinson 400.0 171 - - 80.0 497 1
Rachel Whiting 250.0 03 - - 35.0 485 3
Annual Long term
Salary? Benefits? cash incentive* Incentive® Pension® Total 2014
£000 £000 £000 €000 £000 £000
Eric Hutchinson 4000 171 - - 800 497 1
Rachel Whiting’ 2292 10 - - 320 2622

Notes

1 Both executive directors are UK based and paid in sterling therefore the data 1s presented in this currency tn the 2014 Report on directors
remuneration the data was presented In US dollars at an average exchange rate of $165 €1

2 Salary and fees cash paid in respect of the year

3 Benefits taxable value of all benefits in respect of the year which comprise private healthcare permanent health insurance hfe \nsurance

and car allowance

Annual cash incentive cash incentive payable in respect of the year

Long term incentive value of Performance Shares vesting in the year based on the performance condition that engs in the year

Pension cash value in heu of pension

Rachel Whiting was appointed to the Board as CFO on 1February 2014

~N Mo b

57
Spirent Communications p'c Annual Report 2015

1HO4IH DIDILVHLS

JONVNHIACD

SINIWILIVLS TVIDONVYNIL

NOILVWHOIN| ¥3H1O




Report on directors’ remuneration continued

ANNUAL PERFORMANCE INCENTIVES
During 2015 cash incentives were only available to executive directors on an annual basis with a8 maximum tetal cash incentive avallable
for Eric Hutchinsen and Rachel Whiting of 150 per cent and 75 per cent of base salary respectively

Growth targets in the Company’s order Intake and trading profit representing 80 per cent and 20 per cent of the incentive respectively
determined the maximum incentive which could be earned In respect of the annual incentive element Minimum performance thresholds
were set for order intake at $462 O mithon and trading profit at $43 7 mitkon As the minimum trading profit was not achieved, no cash
incentive awards were earned by the executive directors In the prior year targets were also not achieved with no awards earned

TOTAL PENSION ENTITLEMENTS

Ene Hutchingen receives a taxable cash allowance in lieu of pension of 20 per cent of base salary For 2015, the allowance pad

was £80 000 (2014 £80,000) Rachel Whiting receives a taxable cash allowance In lleu of pension of 14 per cent of base salary For 2015,
the allowance paid was £34,999 (2014 £32 083)

EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS
Neither Eric Hutchinson nor Rachel Whiting held any external positions during the year under review or to the date of this Report

PAYMENTS TO PAST DIRECTORS
There were no payments made 1o past directors durnng the year under review

PAYMENTS FOR LOSS OF OFFICE
There were no payments for loss of office during the year under review

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FEES
Details of Individual appointments are as follows

Director First appointed as a director Current appointment due to expire
Tom Lantzsch 11 May 2015 2016 AGM
Duncan Lewis 1 July 2007 2017 AGM
Tom Maxwell 1 October 2007 2017 AGM
Jonathan Silver 25 June 2015 2016 AGM
Sue Swenson 1 February 2012 2018 AGM
Alex Walker 22 December 2006 2018 AGM

Mr Walker was elected 10 the Board on 22 December 2006, and so reached his ninth anniversary of appointment before the 2016 AGM
Mr Walker although not required by the Code to meet the same level of independence as non-executive directors will be seeking
re-election at the 2016 AGM

Fees for the non-executive directors are normally reviewed by the Board once every three years and were last reviewed on 1 January
2016, having been frozen since 1 January 2008 It was determined that the basic annual fee for non-executive directors would remain at
£40,000 per annum for 2016 Fees for the Charrman, which are deterrmined by the Remuneration Committee, would remain at £160 000
per anaum for 2016 having been frozen since 1 January 2009 The Chairmen of the Audit and Remuneration Commitiees each receive
additicnal fees of £11,000 and £9 000 per annum respectively and the Senior Independent Non-executive Director receives an
additional fee of £7,500 per annum in recognition of the Increased time commitment of these roles

Fees for non-executive directors and the Charrman will be reviewed again for the penod effective 1 January 2017 onwards
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Details of fees patd to non-executive directers in 2015 and 2014 are as follows

2015 2014

£000 £000
Alex Walker (Charrmany) 1600 1600
lan Brindle' 305 510
Tom Lantzsch? 256 -
Duncan Lewis 400 400
Tom Maxwell 490 490
Jonathan Silver? 249 -
Sue Swenson 430 400
Total 3730 3400

Notes
1 lan Brindle retired from the Board on 7 August 2015
2 Tom Lantzsch joined the Board on 11 May 2015

3 Jonathan Silver joined the Board on 25 June 2015
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS AND SHARE INTERESTS
The beneficial interests of the directors and ther connected persons in the shares of the Company are set out below

At31December 2014 At 31December 2015 At 25 February 2016

Ordinary Shares Ordinary Shares' Ordinary Shares?

Executive directors
Eric Hutchinson 1,306,209 1,366,809 1367513
Rachel Whiting 84,937 86,937 87,289
Non-executive directors
lan Brindle? 38,396 nfa n/a
Tom Lantzsch? n/a - -
Duncan Lewis - - -
Tom Maxwell 50,000 50,000 50,000
Jonathan Silvers n/a 30000 30000
Sue Swensen — _ _
Alex Walker 214,530 270,959 270,959
Notes

1 Directors beneficial interests do not form part of the remuneration provided by the Company

2 Events since 31 December 2015
On 25 tanuary 2016 Enc Hutchinson and Rachel Whiting acquired 370 and 185 Ordinary Shares respectively under the UK Employee Share Purchase
Pian at a pnice of 67 5 pence per share
On 24 February 2016 Eric Hutchinson and Rachel Whiting acquired 334 and 167 Ordinary Shares respectively under the UK Employee Share Purchase
Pian at a price of 74 75 pence per share

3 lan Bnindle retired from the Board on 7 August 2015

4 Tom Lantzsch joined the Board on 11 May 2015

5 Jonathan Silver jomned the Board on 25 June 2015

SHAREHOLDING GUIDELINES FOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Committee believes that to further align their interests with those of shareholders executive directors should have a significant
shareholding in the Company equivalent to at least 100 per cent of their base salary in the form of shares and unfettered share incentive
awards which may be built up over time following appointment as an executive director The table below sets out the holdings of the
executive directors who served dunng the year at 31 December 2015

Beneficially Unfetiered share

Guidel:ne holding owned shares ncentives Guidelne met?

Eric Hutchinson 100% of 1 366,809 - Yes

Rachel Whiting base salary 86,937 60,348 No
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Report on directors’ remuneration continued

QUTSTANDING SHARE INCENTIVE AWARDS'
The share incentive interests of executive directors who served dunng the penod 1 January 2015 to the date of this Report are
set out below

ERIC HUTCHINSON

Exercised Lapsed Unvested

Plan Type EIP EIP EIP EIP EIP EIF
Award Type CSOP-A PS PS SAR PS PS
Award Date 25 AugQ 2005 21 Mar 2012 8May 2013 8May 2013 28 Apr2014 18 May 2015
At 1January 2015
{or date of appointment) 56,600 142,235 172,531 86 266 493 583 -
Granted dunng the period - - - - - 578,035
Vested during the penod - - - - - -
Lapsed during the penod - 142 2352 - - - -
Any other adjustments during the penod - - - - -
At 31 December 2015
{or at date of cessation) - - 172,531 86,266 493,583 578035
Market pnice at date of award (£)° 05300 15310 12910 12910 10130 08650
Face value of award granted in perod (&) - - 222,737 111,368 500,000 500,000
Exercise price (£) 05300 Nil* Nil* 12910 Ni* Ny
Subject to performance conditions? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

50% EPS, 50% EPS, 50% EPS 50% EPS,
Performance condition EPS 50% TSR 50% TSR EPS 50% TSR 50% TSR
Performance condition testing date® 25 Aug 2008 21 Mar 2015 8 May 2016 B8May 2016 28 Apr2017 18 May 2018
Result of performance condition testing 100% vest 0% vest - - - -
Market price at vesting date (%) 0 8000 08725 - - - -
Exercise date 14 Aug 2015 - - — - -
Market price at exercise date (£) 0805688 - - - - -
Gain on exercise {&) 15,442 33 - - - - -
Expiry date 24 Aug 2015 21 Mar 2015 8 May 2016 8May 2016 28 Apr2017 18 May 2018
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RACHEL WHITING Avalable to
exercise Lapsed Unvested

Plan Type EIP EIP EIP EfP EIP
Award Type SAR PS PS PS PS
Award Date 5 May 2006 21 Mar 2012 8May 2013 28 Apr2014 18 May 2015
ALY January 2015
{or date of appointment)® 60,348 19928 24262 148,075 -
Granted dunng the period - - - 173,450
Vested dunng the period - - - - -
Lapsed durnng the period - 19,9282 - - -
Any other adjustments during the period - - - - -
At 31 December 2015
{or at date of cessation) 60 348 - 24,262 148,075 173,410
Market price at date of award (£)? 04750 15310 12910 10130 Q8650
Face value of award granted in penod (%) - - 31,322 150,000 150,000
Exercise price (£) 04750 Nl Nil# Nil# Nil*
Subject to performance conditions? Yes Yas Yes Yes Yes

50% EPS, 50% EPS, 50% EPS, 50% EPS,
Performance condition EPS 50% TSR 50% TSR 50% TSR 50% TSR
Performance condition testing dates 5May 2009 21 Mar 2015 8 May 2016 28 Apr2017 18 May 2018
Result of performance condition testing 100% vest 0% vest - - -
Market price at vesting date (£) 0595 08725 - - -
Exercise date - - - - -
Market price at exercise date (£) - - - - -
Gain on exercise (&) - - - - -
Expiry date &5 May 2016 21 Mar 2015 8 May 20167 28 Apr 20177 18 May 20187
Notes

An explanation of each share plan and its operation 15 given 1n note 30 to the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group

1 Key to share pian and type of award

EIP CSOP A — 2005 Employee Incentive Plan HMRC-Approved Company Share Options
EIP SAR — 20Q5 Employee Incentive Plan Stock Appreciation Rights

EIP PS — 2005 Employee Incentive Plan Performance Shares awarded as conditional share awards

2 The awards of EIP Performance Shares granted on 21 March 2012 were due to vest on 21 March 2015 However after the testing of performance
conditions attached 1o these awards the Remuneration Committee confirmed that the perfarmance condition thresholds had not been met,

resulting In the lapsing of the awards In full

bW

Financial Officer

The market price on gate of grant is the price of an QOrdinary Share at the close of business on the day before the date of grant
There 1S no exercise price payable for a Performance Share upon vesting
Awards which have passed the date first exerclsable have vested and are unfettered having passed the relevant performance conditions

Rachel Whiting was appointed to the Board on 1 February 2014 some of the awards shown were awarded prior 1o her appointment as Chief

7 Rachel Whitng will be retinng from the Board pror to the 2016 AGM and outstanding share incentive awards will be dealt with in accordance
with the Remuneration Policy effective on the date she leaves the employment of the Company
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Report on directors’ remuneration continued

SCHEME INTERESTS AWARDED DURING THE YEAR
In 2015 the Committee approved an award of Performance Shares to Mr Hutchinson and Mis Whiting equivalent 1o 125 per cent and
60 per cent of base salary respectively

The performance conditions for Performance Shares awarded in 2015 under the EIP are calculated over a three year performance
period as set out In the following table

50 per cent of awarg

Growth in EPS' over the performance period (%) Proportion of Performance Shares vesting (%)
Below 15 0
15 30
Above 15 and below 30 On a straight line basls between 30 and 100
30 or above 100
Note

1 EPS means Adjusted Basic Earmings per Share after expensing of share based payments

50 per cent of award

Absolute TSR Proportion of Performance Shares vesting (%)
Up to 25% growth o]
At 25% growth but below 65% growth On a stralght line basis between 30 and 100
At or above 65% growth 100

In determining TSR fer the Company, share prices will be averaged over the 90 day period immediately prior to and at the end of
the performance perlod

SHARE INTERESTS VESTING DURING 2016
Awards which are due to vest on 8 May 2016 and are subject to an EPS performance condition have not passed that condition and will
lapse on that date

Awards which are due to vest on 8 May 2016 and are subject to a TSR performance condition will have that performance condition
tested on 8 May 2016

No new shares were 1ssued during the year, with all exercises of share incentives being satisfied by the transfer of shares held by the
Company s Employee Share Ownership Trust ("ESOT") At the date of this Report, the ESOT holds 0 6 milien Ordinary Shares for the
purpose of satisfying the exercises of current and future awards by employees and former employees of the Group

DILUTION

Overall shareholder dilution resulting from the Company's share incentive plans {on a rolling ten-year basis) has fallen by 0 9 per cent
when companng the positions at 31 December 2015 (7 4 per cent) and 31 December 2014 (8 3 per cent) The overall number of share
incentives outstanding has increased by 31 million during the year to 9 7 million at 31 December 2015 (2014 6 6 million}
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UNAUDITED INFORMATION

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN PERFORMANCE

The graph below shows the TSR performance for the last seven financial years of Spirent Communications plc against the FTSE 250
Index and the FTSE TechMARK 100 Index, excluding those companies who were also constituents of the FTSE 100 Index at the
commencement of the penod

Seven year TSR performance Spirent vs FTSE TechMARK 100' and FTSE 250
500

400

300

200

100
Dec 08 Dec 09 Dec 10 Decth Dec 12 Dec13 Dec 14 Dec15
e Spirent e FTSE 250 --- FTSE TechMark 100!

Note
1 Asof1January 2009 excluding FTSE 100 companies

The middle market price of an Ordinary Share at the close of business on 2 January 2015 and 31 December 2015 {being the first and last
days the London Stock Exchange was open for trading in 2015) was 77 25 pence and 71 50 pence respectively, and during that period
ranged between a high of 96 25 pence and a low of 65 25 pence

PERCENTAGE CHANGE IN THE REMUNERATION RETURNS TO
REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTOR PAID TO ALL SHAREHOLDERS
UNDERTAKING THE ROLE OF CEO EMPLOYEES $ MILLION
COMPARED TO THE PERCENTAGE $ MILLION?

CHANGE IN REMUNERATION OF
AVERAGE UK EMPLOYEE

200.4

185.8
2 19% 3 0%
2014
-56%
2015
-20 9%
] ceo (] On-market repurchase*
B Average employee? M Final dvidends

B Intenm dvidends®

Notes

1 The graph shows the change in CEQ's annual cash remuneration, defined as base salary taxable benefits and cash incentve compared to that of the
average UK employee for 2014 and 2015 Please also note that the 2014 figure for the CEO has been recalcutated using stering to remove the impact
of currency fluctuaticns

2 The figure for Average employee shown is the average percentage merit increase awarded to UK employees in January 2015

3 Total as set out In note 9 to the consehdated financial statements Note the increase in remuneration paid to all employees duning the period reflects
the adciional employees that have joined the Group as a result of acquired businesses

4 Total as set out In note 29 to the consolidated financial statements

5 Total as set out in note 13 to the consohdated financial statements
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Report on directors’ remuneration continued

TABLE OF CEO REMUNERATION'

Long term Incentive vesting

CEQ single figure Annual bonus payout rates agamst maximum

of total remuneration  agatnst maximum cpportunity opportundy

Year CEO £000 % %
2015 Ernc Hutchinson 4971 - —
2014 Erle Hutchinson 5216 - -
2013 Eric Hutchinson? 1869 120 -
2013 Bill Burns? 401 3 - -
2012 Bill Burns 9318 405 34
201 Bill Burns 1,309 6 8933 84
2010 Bill Burns 12799 1000 100
2009 Bill Burns 997 8 939 100

Notes

1 Prioryear data i this table has been recalculated from US dollars to be presented in sterling at the following average exchange rates 2014 $165 1
2013 $156€1 2012 $1 58 £1 2011 $160£1 2010 $1 54 €1 2009 $157 €1

2 Enc Hutchinson took up the position of Chief Executive Officer on 3 September 2013

3 Earnings disclosed are ta 3 September 2013 when Bili Burns stepped down as Chief Executive Officer

STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDER VOTING
At the 2015 AGM on 5 May 2015 the results of the advisory vote regarding the Report on directors remuneration for the year to
31 December 2014 were

Votes For' Votes Against Votes Casl Voles Withheld?
% %

480 558 525 89979 1004673 021 481563198 22642

Notes

1 The “For” vote includes those giving the Company Charman discretion
2 Avote withheld is not a vote in law and 15 not counted in the calcutatlon of the votes “For” and “Against” the resoluton

Votes “For” and “Against” are expressed as a percentage of lotal votes cast

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
RESPONSIBILITIES
The Remuneration Committee Is responsible to the Board for determining

« remuneration policy for the executive directors and Chairman taking into account remuneration trends across the Company,

- specific terms and conditions of employment of each individual executive director

- overall policy for remuneration for the executive directaors direct reports,

- design and momtonng of the operation of any Company share incentive plans,

- setting stretching incentive targets to encourage enhanced performance,

+ determining an approach that rewards fairly and responsibly contribution to the Company s long-term success and

= other provisions of the executive directers’ service agreements and ensuring that contractual terms on terminaticn, and payments
made are fair to the individual and the Company and that fallure 1s not rewarded and loss is mitigated

The Committee s remit 15 set outin detall in its terms of reference, which are reviewed regularly and were approved in February 2015
They are avallable on the Company's website at http ffcorporate spirent com

COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEE

At the date of this Report, the Remunreration Committee comprises five independent non-executive directors one of whom acis as
Commitiee Chairman The Company Secretary serves as Secretary to the Committee All members are considered independent within
the meaning of the 2014 UK Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
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ADVISERS TO THE COMMITTEE
During the year the Committee als¢ consulted with the Company's Charrman, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financiat Cfficer and the
Company Secretary & General Counsel but not on matters relating to their own remuneration

Kepler Associates Limited who were acquired in June 2015 by Mercer Limited, were appointed by the Committee some years ago to
provide the results of TSR testing to determine the vesting of share incentives The Committee has retained Mercer Limined in this role
because 1t values the robust data provided and continuity of advice from the consultants nvolved The Committee is satisfled that
Mercer Limited 1s iIndependent thoughtful and challenging Mercer Limited 1s a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and
complies with its voluntary Code of Conductin respect of the provision of remuneration consulting services details of which can be
found at www remunerationconsultantsgroup com and has no other connection to the Company The Committee considers them to
be iIndependent in thelr approach

The fees paid to Kepler Asscciates Limited and, after June 2015, to Mercer Limited to carry out work dunng the period under review
for the Remuneration Commitiee totalled £3,300 (2014 £2,850) and were based en time and materials

Deloitte LLP was appointed by the Committee in 2015 to undertake a market review of executive remuneration practces and assist with
the design of a new long-term incentive plan The Committee is sausfied that Deleitte LLP 1s independent thoughtfu! and challenging
Deloitte LLP 15 also a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and comphes with its voluntary Code of Conduct in respect of
the provision of remuneration consulting services detalls of which can be found at www remuneratlonconsultantsgroup com and has
no other connectlon to the Company The Committee considers them to be independent In their approach

The fees paid to Deloitte LLP to carry out work during the penod under review for the Remuneration Committee totalled £27,300
{2014 £nil) and were based on time and materials

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION POLICY (UNAUDITED)

This section sets out a revised Remuneration Policy for executive and non-executlve directers This Remuneration Policy is subjectto a
binding vote at the 2016 AGM on 4 May 2016 and (f approved at the 2016 AGM will become effective on 5 May 2016 The Policy will be
put to shareholders again no iater than the 2019 AGM

The most signiftcant change from the policy approved at the Company’s 2014 AGM 1s the introduction of the new Spirent Long-term
Incentive Plan (the “LTIP"), details of which are set out on page 57 and also in the Company's Notice of AGM

Our previous Remuneration Policy was approved by sharehelders at the Company s 2014 AGM held on 23 April 2014 with 99 02 per cent
of all votes cast in favour and it had a binding effect on the Company from 24 Apnl 2014

COMPONENTS OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTCR REMUNERATION

The Committee s policy 1s to set remuneration levels which ensure that executive directors are farrly and responsibly rewarded in return
for high levels of performance The remuneration policy set by the Committee aims to promete value creation through transparent
alignment with the agreed corporate strategy supporting performance and encouraging the underiying sustainable financial health

of the business while promoting sound risk management for the benefit of all stakeholders The Committee belleves that the aims of
the policy are achieved by ensuring that a significant preportion of executive remuneratlon Is tled to the achievement of the agreed
corporate strategy and long-term value creation
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Report on directors’ remuneration continued

FIXED PAY

PURPOSE AND LINK TO STRATEGY

KEY FEATURES

BASE SALARY

To provide fixed remuneration for each role which reflects the
size and scope of the executive director's responsibilies and
therr indwvidual skills and expenence

Base salaries are normally reviewed annually with changes
effective from 1 January

Set at levels to recruil and retain the high calibre talent needed
to deliver the Group s strategy without paying more than is
considered necessary

Salanes are typically set after considering various factors
including the salary levels in comparues of a similar size and
complexity, the responsibilities of each individual role
progression within the role, individual perfarmance and an
individual’s experience and with regard to market salary levels in
the country in which the executive resides Our overall policy
having had due regard to the factors noted, 1s normally to target
salanes al the median market level

BENEFITS

To provide market levels of benefits on s cost-effective basis

May include private health cover for the executive and theur
family, Iife insurance cover of up to four imes annual base salary,
permanent health insurance and a car allowance

Executive directors may participate in any all-employee share
plans which may be operated by the Company on the same
terms as other employees

Global relecation support and any associated costs or benefits
may also be provided if considered by the Commitiee o be
appropriate and reasonable to meet the requirements of

the business

Other benefits may be offered from time to tme broadly n line
with local market practice in the country of residence of the
executive director

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

To provide cost-effective and competitive
post-retirement benefits

Defined contnbution scheme or cash allowance in heu of
Company pension contnbutions or a combination of both

Gther post-retirement benefits may be offered from time to
time broadly In line with local market practice In the country
of residence of the executlve director
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MAXIMUM POTENTIAL VALUE PERFORMANCE METRICS

While there is no defined maximum salary any increase In salary None
will ordinarlly be (in percentage terms) in line with those of the

wider workfoice, having particular regard to the increases n

the country In which the individual resides

Increases beyond those granted to the wider workforce

{in percentage terms) may be awarded In certain circumstances,
for example where there 1s a change in responsibility
progression in the role, experience or a significant inciease

In the scale of the role and/or size, value and/or complexity

of the Group

Detalls of current salary tevels are set out in the Annual report
on remuneration

The overall value of benefits will depend on the individual s None
circumstances and therefore there 15 no formal maximum

Participation in all-employee share plans will be 1n ling with
relevant statutory hmits

It 15 intended that the maximum value of benefits offered will
remain broadly in line with market practice In the location in
which the executive director operates

Iti1s intended that the maximum value of retirement benefits None
offered will remain broadly in line with market practice in the
location in which the executive director operates

Pension arrangements for current executive directors are
set out 1n the Annual report an remuneration
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Report on directors’ remuneration continued

VARIABLE PAY
PURPOSE AND LINK TG STRATEGY KEY FEATURES

ANNUAL INCENTIVE

To reward and incentivise the achievement of annual financial The annual Incentive 15 normally payable in cash and 1s
and strategic goals which are selected to align the strategy of not penslonable

the business and support enhancement of shareholder value
PP The Remuneration Committee may, in exceptional circumstances |

amend the payments shouid this not, in the view of the
Committee reflect overall business performance or individual
contribution Any such amendment woutd be reported 10
shareholders

Clawback provisions apply to any annual iIncentive payments
made Pnor to payment of any cash incentive the Committee
could exercise its discretion and make no payment due to

a malus event

LONG TERM INCENTIVE

To incentivise executives to achieve the Company's long-term Discretionary awards of conduional awards (or economic
strategy and enhance sustainable shareholder value equlvalent) may be granted to executive diractors annually,
calculated as a percentage of base salary

Malus and clawback provisions will apply 10 all awards made
under the new Spireni Long-term Incentive Plan

NOTES TO THE POLICY TABLE

PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS FOR AWARDS UNDER THE SPIRENT LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN {“LTIP"}

The Committee reviews the appropriateness of performance parameters for each award under the LTIP and sets stretching performance
conditions in the ight of the Company s current and expected performance over the performance cycle

2016 POLICY ON SHARE INCENTIVE AWARDS
The Committee expects to approve an award of Performance Shares to the CEQ equivalent 10 150 per cent of annual base salary
The Committee expects to make an award equlvalent to 100 per cent of base salary to the new Chief Financlal Officer when appointed

APPROACH TO RECRUITMENT REMUNERATION

In the event that the Company récruns a new executive director (either from within the organisation or externally) when determining
the appropnate remuneration arrangements, the Committee will take into consideration ali relevant factors, {includiag but not imited
to quantum the type of remuneration being offered and the junisdiction which the candidate was recrutted from) to ensure that
arrangements are In the best interests of both shareholders and the Company without paying more than 1s necessary to recruit

an executive of the required cahbre

The Committee would generally seek to align the remuneration package offered with our Remuneration Policy outlined in the table
above However, the Committee retains discretion 1o make proposals on hiring a new executive director which are ocutside the standard
Policy In the first year of appointment the Committee may offer additional remuneration arrangements that it considers approprate and
necessary to recrunt and retain the indiwvidual Such remuneration may be in the form of cash or share-based awards which may vest
immediately or at a future pointin time Vesting may be subject to performance conditions selected by the Committee

The Committee may make awards on appointing an executive director to “buy-out” remuneratton arrangements forfeited on leaving
a previous employer on a like-for-like basis In doing so the Committee will take account of relevant facters, including any performance
conditions attached to those awards the form in which they were granted and the time over which they would have vested

In the event of recruitment, the Committee may also grant an award to a new executive under Listing Rule 9 4 2 which allows for the
granting of awards, specifically to facilitate, in unusual circumstances, the recruitment or retention of an executive director, without
seeking prnier shareholder approval
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MAXIMUM POTENTIAL VALUE

PERFORMANCE METRICS

The annual incentive starts accruing from threshold levels
of performance

CEO On target opportunity of 100 per cent base salary, subject
to cap of 150 per cent base salary

CFQO Detalls of the annual cash incentive avallable 1o the
incoming CFO wtll be disclosed In due course

Annual incentives may be based on a mix of financial and
indrvidual and business objectives with the majority of the
weighting being given to financial metncs

Measures weightings and targets are determined by the
Remuneration Committee each year taking into account the
Group s key strategic pnonties and the approved budget for
the year and are set out in the Annual report on remuneration

Maximum plan imit for awards 1s 200 per cent of base salary

Detalls of proposed award levels for 2016 are set cut In the

Award levels and performance conditions are reviewed before
each award cycle to ensure they remamn appropriale Vesting

is based on performance measured over three r
Annual report on remuneration P ee years

A full description of the performance conditions apphcable to
long-term Incentive awards are set out In the Annual report
on remuneration

The maximum leve! of vanable pay which may be awarded to new executive directors would normally be in ine with the maximum level
of variable pay set out In the palicy table above but In any event would be imited to 400 per cent of base salary, excluding any buy-out
awards Any addihional cash or share-based awards on recruitment of an executive director which may fall outside the policy statement
would be performance-related and would therefore be regarded as variable remuneration and fall within the Company’s standard

400 per cent cap

For an Internal appointment any remuneration terms awarded In respect of the previous role may either continue on its onginal terms
or be adjusted to reflect the new appointment

When recruiting non-executive directors the remuneration arrangements offered would normally be in ine with those paid to existing
non-executive directors, detalls of which are set cutin the Annual report on remuneration

SERVICE CONTRACTS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

In normal circemstances, it 1s the Company s Policy that service contracts for executive directors have no fixed term and are capable
of terminaticn on ne more than 12 months netice from either the Company or the executive director 1t)s intended that this polhicy would
alse apply to new appointments of executive direclors

Beth Enc Hutchinson and Rachel Whiting currently have a service agreement with Spirent Communications plc, and being UK residents,
both thelr contracts are In ine with UK employment practice and are governed by the laws of England and Wales Rachel Whiting s
service agreement, dated 1 February 2014 was terminated by Mrs Whiting giving six months’ notice on 4 November 2015 Eric
Hutchinson s service agreement dated 8 December 2014 may be terminated on 12 months notice from the Company and six months
notice from Mr Hutchinson

The Company recognises that its executive directors may, from time to time, be invited to become non-executive directors of other
companies and that such appointments can broaden therr knowledge and experence to the benefit of the Company Detatls of any
such appointments are set out In the Annual report on remuneration

The service agreements of executive directors are avalable for inspection on request and will be avatlable for inspection at the
2016 AGM
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Report on directors’ remuneration continued

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
All non-executive directors have a letter of appointment with the Company for a penod of not more than three years, subject to the
Company's Articles of Association Howewver, since 2011 and in accordance with the Code all directors stand for re-election at each AGM

The letters of appointment of non-executive directors are availlable for inspection on request and will be available for inspection
at the 2016 AGM An example of a letter of appointment for a non-executive director I1s avallable on the Company s website at
http /corporate spirent com

REMUNERATION POLICY FOR NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Board aims to recrult high calibre non-executive directors with broad commeraial international or other relevant expenence

The Company's Remuneration Policy with regard to fees for non-executive directors, including the Chalrman, Is to pay fees which are in
line with market practice for companies of a similar size and camplexity Individual fees reflect responsibiily and commitment Additionat
fees may be paid for further responsibilibes, such as chairmanship of committees

Non-executive directors are not eligible to participate in cash incentive or share incentive arrangements and thew service does not
qualify for pension No element of their fee s performance-related Travel and other reasonable expenses (including fees incurred in
obtaimng professional advice in the furtherance of their duties and any associated taxes) incurred in the course of performing their
duties may be paid by the Company or reimbursed to non-executive directors

When racruiting non-executive directors, the remuneration arrangements offered will generally be in line with those set out above

EXIT PAYMENT POLICY

The Committee 15 committed to ensuring that it does not pay more than 1s necessary when executives leave Spirent and its policy

on exit payments is and will continue to be in line with market practice i the country in which the executive director resides The current
exit payment policy 1s

« Service contracts contam provisions for the removal of the director without compensation for not performing their duties to the
standard required by the Board or matenal misconduct

« Payment in heu of notice may be paid under service contracts If the relevant nolice period I1s not given to the director or If, having
recelved notice from the director the employer does not wish him/her to serve it

+ Unless provided for in the service contract, the Company would seek to apply practical mitigation measures to any payment of
compensation on termination, for example by reducing payments to reflect payments received 1n respect of alternative employment
taking into account all relevant circumstances

- Service contracts do not contain provisian for additional compensation on termination following a change of control (as detaled in the
Change of Control provisions set out 1n the Report of the directors on page 74)

- Service contracts do not contain provision for lquidated damages of any kind

- Service contracts contain appropriate provisions io protect the legitimate interests of the Company with respect to preventing any
terminated director from working 1in a business which competes against the Company

= Incentives
« Cashincentives Unless otherwise provided In the service contract to be consistent with market practice In the country in which

the executive resides, execulives are not entitled to accrued cash Incentlves payable following termination unless the individual is

determined by the Committee to be a good leaver (defined as an individual leaving employment due to redundancy, ill-health, injury

or disability, retirement death, the individual’s employing company ceasing to be under the control of the Group, a transfer of the

undertaking m which the indvidual works ("Good Leaver”)),

Spirent Long-term Incentive Plan Subject to approval by shareholders at the 2016 AGM, unvested awards will generally lapse at the

ume of exit Forindivduals determined by the Committee 1o be a Gooed Leaver, the Committee has discretion to either (1) assess

performance conditions at the point of exit by testing the performance conditions up to the date of exit for TSR performance and to

the end of the most recent financial penod for EPS performance or (1} assess performance condiions at the end of the applicable

vesting penod or such earlter date as may be appropriate Any shares which vest would then normally be pro-rated to reflect the

proportion of the vesting period actually served by the Indlvidual,

Employee Incentive Plan (EIP) Leaver provisions were approved by shareholders when they approved the EIP in 2005 and 2015

Unvested awards generally lapse at the time of exit For individuals determined by the Commitiee to be a Good Leaver,

performance conditions are assessed by the Committee at the point of exit by tesung the performance condiions up te the date

of exit for TSR performance and to the end of the most recent financlal petiod for EPS performance Vesting Is then pro-rated for

the preportion of the performance petlod actually served and the Individual has 12 months following the date of termination of

employment in which to exercise them

CONSIDERATION OF EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION ARRANGEMENTS ELSEWHERE IN THE GROUP

When setting the policy for directors remuneration, the Committee has regard to the pay and employment conditions elsewhere within
the Group parucularly in the junsdictions in which the executive directors are based The Committee 1s kept iInformed on a regular basis
of salary increases for the general employee population and takes these into account when determining salary increases for executive
directors No salary increase has been awarded for the role of either Chief Executive Cfficer or the current Chief Financiat Officer for 2016
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White the Committee does not directly consult with employees as part of the process of reviewing executive pay, the Committee does
recewve updates and {eedback through employee engagement surveys and takes these into account when reviewing executive pay
An employee engagement survey was undertaken In 2014 and the results reviewed by senlor management It Is expected that further
amployee engagement surveys will be undertaken every two years

CONSIDERATION OF THE VIEWS OF SHAREHOLDERS IN SETTING REMUNERATION POLICY

The Committee 15 mindful of the views of shareholders In determining appropriate levels of remuneration and in ensuring that
shareholder and director interests are aligned The Committee i1s committed to an ongoing dialogue with shareholders and seeks
shareholder views when any significant changes are proposed lo remuneration arrangements In particular the Committee consulted
with major shareholders and shareholder representatives in January 2016 regarding the introduction of the new LTIP

LEGACY MATTERS

For the avoidance of doubt, in approving this Remuneration Policy authonty 1s given to the Company tc make payments and honour any
commiiments entered into with current or former directors (such as the payment of pension or the unwinding of legacy share schemes)
where the terms were agreed enther prior to 24 Apnl 2014 (the effective date of the first directors’ remuneration policy) or at a time when
a previous remuneratien policy was in force Detalls of any payments will be set out in the Annual Report on Remuneration as they anse

ILLUSTRATIONS OF THE APPLICATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY IN 2016
The charts below show an illustration of the proportion of total remuneration made up of each component of the Remuneration Policy
and the value of each component

Three scenarnos have been illustrated for each executive director

Minimum performance — Fixed remuneiation (salary benefiis and retirement benefits)
- No payment under the Annual Cash Incentive
— No vesting under the Spirent Long-term Incentive Plan

On target performance — Fixed remuneration (salary benefits and retirement benefits)
— On-target payment under the Annual Cash Incentive {two-thirds of maximum)
— 25 per cent vesting under the Spirent Long-term Incentive Plan

Maximum performance — Fixed remuneration {salary benefits and retirement benefits)
- Maximum payment under the Annual Cash Incentive
— Full vesting under the Spirent Long-term Incentive Plan

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER POLICY FOR 2016 TOTAL (£000)
Minimum performance [ | 496
100%
On target performance [ ] 1,046 6
48% 38% 14%
Maximum performance [ . 1,696 6
30% 35% 35%
[ Fixed B Cash incentive B Long term incentive

Chief Financial Officer policy for 2016

Minimum performance [ | 286
100%
On target performance | ] 473.5
60% 26% 14%
Maximum performance { ] 7238
40% 26% 34%
O Fixed B Cash incentive B Long term incentive

Note The Chief Financial Officer policy 1s based on the remuneration of Rachel Whiting at ihe date of this Report A new Chief Financial
Officer will be appointed duning 2016 and scenanos reflecting therr remuneratton will be provided 1n the 2016 Annual Report
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Report on directors’ remuneration continued

DILUTION
The Commitiee 15 strongly committed to managing shareholder dilution in a responsible manner Details of the Company s dilution 1s set
out In the Annual report on remuneration on page 62

COMMITTEE DISCRETION

The Committee has powers delegated by the Board under which it operates In addition, it comphes with rules which have either been
approved by shareholders (the long-term incentive plans) or previcusly by the Commitiee {annual cash incentives) These rules provide
the Committee with certain discretions which serve to ensure that the implementation of the Remuneration Policy 1s fair both to the
individual director and to shareholders, taking overall performance and the position of the Company into account The Committee also
has discretions to set components of remuneration within a range from time to time The extent of such discretions are set outin the
relevant rules or in the maximum opportunity and performance metrics sections of the Policy Table

The Commiitee may make adjustments to awards to reflect corporate events, such as a change in the Company's capital structure
The Committee may adjust the callbration of performance measures and vesting cutcomes, or substitute or amend any vesting condition
(eg due to a significant acquisition or disposal) provided that the resulting conditton Is appropnate

The Committee may make minor amendments to the Remuneration Policy to aid its operation or implementation without seeking
shareholder approvals (eg for regulatory, exchange control, tax or administrative purpeses)

In addition the Commiitee requires discretion 1o deal with genuinely exceptional or unforeseen circumstances This form of discretion
will only be applied in the best interests of the Company and when 1n the view of the Committee 1t would be disproportionate to seek
specific approval from shareholders in general meeting It 1s intended that this discretion be used only in the event of changed
circumstances or strategy that has not been prowvided for in the Remuneration Policy

The Remuneration Committee will not exercise discretion to reward fallure and will report on any exercise of discretion that changes
the amount of remuneration paid in any year

The Remuneration Committee can confirm that no discretion was used either during the period or to the date of this Report and
lar that it does not envisage any cash payment belng offered which could be construed as a "golden hello”

airm Remuneration Committee
February 2016
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The directors of Spirent Communications
plc {the *Caompany”) present ther report
for the perlod ended 31 December 2015
In accordance with section 415 of the
Companies Act 2006 The UKLAS
Disclosure and Transparency Rules and
Listing Rules also require the Company to
make certain disclosures, some of which
have been included in other appropriate
sections of the Annual Report

As permitted by section 414C(ll) of the
Companies Act 2006, the information set
out on pages 1to 39 and the following
cross-referenced matenal 1s incorporated
into this Directors’ Report

» Likely future developments in the
Group's business (pages 10to 19)

- Greenhouse gas emissions (page 38)

- The Board of directors and the
Statement on Corporate Governance
(pages 40 to 48)

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The consolidated iIncome statement 1s on
page 84 Profit for the financial year
attnbutable 10 equity shareholders
amounted to $13 3 million

The directers recommend a final dividend
of 2 21 cents per Orcinary share to be paid,
subject to shareholder approval, on 6 May
2016 Together with the internim dividend
of 1 68 cents per Ordinary share pald

an 11 September 2015, this amounts

1o 3 89 cents for the period Dividends

are detailled on page 104

DIRECTORS

The names of the persons who were
directors of the Company duning the pernod
under review and as at 25 February 2016
appear on pages 40 and 41 All the
directors are standing for election or
re-election at the 2016 AGM, with the
exceplion of Rachel Whiting who will be
stepping down from the Board prior 1o

the AGM

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS

The Company s Articles of Association
{the “Articles”) give the direclors power
to appolint and replace dlrectors Under
the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee an appoiniment must be
recommended by the Norunation
Committee for approval by the Board
The Articles require directors to submit

Directors’ report

themselves for election at the first AGM
following their appointment and all directors
who held office at the time of the two
preceding AGMs to submit themselves for
re-election The Articles notwithstanding,
all directors, with the exception of Rachel
Whiting, will stand for election or re-
elecuon at the AGM thus year in comphance
with the UK Corporate Governance Code
Detalls of unexpired terms of directors’
service contracts are set outin the Directors’
report on remuneration on page 58

POWERS OF DIRECTORS

The directors are responsible for managing
the business of the Company and may
exercise all the powers of the Company
subject to the provisions of refevant
statutes, 10 any directions given by special
resolution and to the Company’s Articles
Powers relating to the issuing of shares
are Included in the Articles and such
authonties are renewed by shareholders
at the AGM each year

DIRECTORS' SHARE INTERESTS

Detalls regarding the share interests of
directors and their connected personsin
the share capital of the Company including
any Interests under long-term incentive
plans, are set out In the Direclors report
on remuneration on page 59

EMPLOYEES

The average number of Group employees
during 2015 was 1,754 people worldwide
{2014 1,727) While the Group s approach
to human resource management is
deceniralised with flexiblity given to each
of the businesses, as 8 Group It strives to
maintain the following principles

EQUAL OPPCRTUNITIES

The Group 1s committed 1o offering equal
opportunities In recrutment, traiming,
career development and promotion to afl
people, Including those with disabilities,
having regard for their particular aptitudes
and abilities As a matter of policy, full and
fair consideration I1s given o apphicants
with disabilities and every effort 1s made
to give employees who become disabled
whilst employed by the Group an
opportunity for retraining and continuation
in employment It s Group policy that

the training, career development and
promotion of disabled persons should

as far as possible be the same as that

of other employees
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

Health and safety are considered as equal
1n importance to that of any other function
of the Group and i1ts business obyectives
and the Group 1s committed to providing

a safe and healthy workplace to protect
all employees visltors and the public

from foreseeable work hazards

HARRASSMENT

Sexual, mental or physical harassment

In the workplace will not be tolerated

It Is expected that incldents of harassment
are reported to the approprate Human
Resources director

HUMAN RIGHTS

The Group provides apportunities that
promote human rights and dignity every
day through the employment created
both directly and indirectly In its global
supply chams and through the positive
contripution its products make to people's
lives Further details on the Group s
appreach to human nghts can be found
In the Corporate responsibility report on
pages 36 to 39

COMMUNICATION

Employees are briefed on all relevant
matters on a regular basis to achieve a
common awareness of all the financial
and economic facters affecting the
performance of the Group Information
relevant to employees will be provided
to them

Employees are provided with information
on the performance of therr business

unlt and their Involvement is encouraged
in a varlety of ways, such as through
engagement surveys, “town hall” meetings
and management presentations

The Group encourages an open culture In
all its dealings between employees and
people with whom It comes inte contact
The Group s whistleblowing procedure
sets out guidelnes for individuals who feel
they need to raise Issues in confidence
with the Company or their own business
unit Every effort 1s made to protect the
confidentiality of those who raise concerns
and employees may come forward without
fear for their position
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Directors’ report continued

CHANGE OF CONTROL PROVISIONS

The Company does not have agreements with any director or employee that would provide compensation for loss of office

or employment resulting from a takeover except that provisions of the Company's share Incentive plans may cause outstanding
unvested optlons and awards granted to employees under such plans to vest on a takeover as follows

Share incentive plan Change of control provisions in the rules Effect on vesting Performance condition
2005 Employee Incentive Plan Yes Pro-rated Sull applies
Spirent Long-term Incentive Plan Yes Pro-rated Sull apples

The Company 15 not aware of any significant agreements 1o which 1t 1s party that take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control
of the Company following a lakeover

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS
In accordance with Listing Rule 9 8 6(2), the Company has been notified of the following significant interests in its Ordinary Shares
pursuant to Disclosure and Transparency Rule 5

As at 31 December 2015

Date cf notification Total holding % of Company s total voting rights
Ameriprise Financial Inc 30 November 2015 84 266,420 1377
Prudential pl¢ 29 January 2014 67,877,796 1110
AXA Invesiment Managers SA 18 October 2011 47,515,946 777
Artemis Investment Management Limited 17 September 2010 32,940,888 538
Standard Life Investments Limited 27 January 2011 32370026 529
PrnimeStone Capltal LLP 13 November 2015 31,215,569 510
Neptune Investment Management Limited 1 September 2015 30,701,866 502
Fidelity International 28 January 2015 29,483,020 482
Schreders ple 9 Qctober 2014 26,986,598 441
Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada (UK) Limited 5 December 2008 23382347 382
Kames Capital 6 February 2012 18,507,514 303

The following notifications have been receved during the perlod 1 January 2016 to 25 February 2016

Date of notification Total holding % of Company s total voting nghts
Ameriprise Financial, In¢ 5 February 2016 86,826,707 1419
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SHARE CAPITAL

The Company has a single c¢lass of share
which i1s divided into Ordinary Shares of
35 pence each Each Ordinary Share
carnes one vole and all of the Ordinary
Shares rank pan passu There are no
special control nights relating to any of the
Ordinary Shares At the date of this Report
611 7 miltlon Ordinary Shares of 3% pence
each had been issued which are fully paid
up and are listed on the Lendon Stock
Exchange The Company also operates

a Level 1 American Depositary Recelpt
("ADR") programme with each ADR
representing four Ordinary Shares The
ADRs trade on the US over-the-counter
market and BNY Mellon s the authorised
depositary bank for the programme
Further detalls on share capital are set out
In note 29 to the consonhdated financial
statements and note 13 to the parent
Company financial statements The nghts,
inctuding those relating to voling, obligations
and any restnictions on transfer relating to
the Company’s Ordinary Shares as well
as the powers of the Company’s directars
are set out in the Company's Articles of
Association a copy of which can be found
on our website at hitp //corporate spirent
com/ or can be obtained from Companies
House or by writing to the Company
Secretary The Company s Articles of
Association may only be amended by a
special resolution at a general meeting of
shareholders The most recent changes to
the Articles of Association were approved
at the 2010 AGM and became effective at
the close of that meeting on 5 May 2040

The Company has established two
employee benefit trusts in connection with
the operation of the Company's share
incentive plans the Spirent ESOT and the
Spirent Sharesave Trust {*S57") The
trustees of both trusts have wawved therr
nght 1o receive dividends on any Qrdinary
Shares held by them except for a nominal
amount of 1 pence other than for those
Crdinary Shares held in the ESOT which
are the beneficial property of an employee/
shareholder For further details on the
employee benefit trusts see “investment
In own Otdlnary Shares” in note 29 to

the consolidated financial statements and
note 13 to the parent Company financial
statements Trusiees of both trusts do not
vote their Ordinary Shares, except for
those Ordinary Shares held in the ESOT
that are the beneficial property of an
employee/shareholder, which the trustees
will vote in accordance with the Instructions
recewved from the beneficiat owner

RESTRICTIONS ON SHARE TRANSFERS
There are no restrictions on the transfer
of Ordinary Shares in the capltal of the
Company other than certain restrictions
which may from time to time be imposed
by law, for example Insider trading law

In accordance with the Listing Rules of
the Financial Conduct Authority, certain
employees are required to seek the
approval of the Company prier to dealing
Ints securities

The Company s not aware of any
agreements between shareholders that
may result In restrictions on the transfer of
securities or on voting rights The Company
1s alsoc not aware of any contract of
significance between itself or any subsidiary
undertaking and a controling sharehoider

POWERS FOR ISSUE OF NEW SHARES
During the year to 31 December 2015 and
to the date of this Report, no new Ordinary
Shares have been allotted as a result of the
exercise of options and rights pursuant to
the Company s share incentive plans

At each AGM, the directors seek authonty
to allot shares for cash and to disapply
pre-emption rights within prescnbed limits
At the 2016 AGM, authority wiil be sought
to allot new Ordinary Shares up to a
nominal value of £6,797,132, which 1s equal
to approximately 33 3 per cent of the
Company's 1ssued share capnal as at

4 March 2016

RETURN OF CAPITAL

The Company was first authonsed to
repurchase up to 14 99 per cent of its own
issued Ordinary Shares, within ¢certain
hmits and as permitted by the Company s
Arucles of Association, at the 2006 AGM
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This authority has been renewed at each
suhsequent AGM, reducing to 9 99 per
cent at the 2010 AGM and subsequent
AGMs The authonty from the 2015 AGM
remains valtd unti the earlier of the 2016
AGM or 20 June 2016 Since the Company
began returning capital to shareholders in
May 2006, a total of £270 2 million has
been returned, through the repurchase

of 397 6 milllon Ordinary Shares

No shares were repurchased during 2015
or to the date of this Report

The Company will seek authority to
repurchase up to 999 percent of its
own Ordinary Shares at the 2016 AGM
to facliitate any further return of capiltal
if the Board concludes that it 1s in the
best interests of shareholders to do so

POLITICAL DONATIONS

In accordance with the Group’s Ethics
Policy no peliucal donations were made
during the year (2014 nil)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Details of the Group s use of financial
instruments, together with information
on our risk objectives and policies and
our exposure to ptice, credit, liquidity,
cash flow and interest rate risks, can be
found in note 27 to the consclidated
financial statements

GOING CONCERN

After making appropriate enguiries and
taking into account the matters set out In
the Principal risks and uncertainties section
on pages 22 to 25 of this Annual Report,
the directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue 1n operational
existence for the foreseeable future For
this reasan they continue to adopt the
going concern basis on prepanng the
financial statements
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VIABILITY STATEMENT

In accordance with provision C 2 2 of the
2014 Cede, the directors have assessed
the prospects of the Company over a
period of three years

This period was selected for the
followlng reasons

the Group s strategic planning cycle

covers a three-year period,

+ the Board reviews a three-year financial
corporate plan, and

= when considering a major investment

In product development, three years

Is considered by the Board to be a

reasonable time horizon in which

the product should achieve

meaningful sales

The Board's assessment has been made
with reference to the Company s current
position and prospects, the Group s
strategy, the Board's risk appette

and the Group’s principal risks and
uncertainties as set out on pages 22 to 25
of this Annual Report

The Board has reviewed plausible and
severe stress tests hased on the occurrence
of a mix of the principal risks to which the
Company I1s exposed, considernng the
potential impact of these risks on the
business model future performance
solvency and hquidity over the period

Based on this assessment and the
expected successful impact of mitigating
actions, the directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Company will be able
to continue in operation and meet its
ltabilities as they fall due over the three
year penod

Directors' report continued

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

No post balance sheet events are required
to be disclosed in the consohdated
financial statements

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION

TO AUDITOR

Each of the directors of the Company al the
date of this Report confirms that

- 5o far as the director is aware, there Is
no informatlon needed by the Company's
auditor in connection with preparing
their Report of which the Company s
auditor 15 unaware, and

+ he (she) has taken all the steps that he
(she) ought to have taken as a director
In order to make himself (herself) aware
of any information needed by the
Coempany s auditor in connection with
preparing their Report and to establish
that the Company’s auditor 1s aware of
that information

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

As described in more detail on page 53

of the Audit Committee report, the Board
will be proposing a resolution to re-appoint
EY as auditor at the 2016 AGM

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2016 AGM will be held at 1 00pm

on Wednesday 4 May 2016 at the offices
of UBS 1Finsbury Avenue, London
EC2M 2PP

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD
ANGUS IVESCON

Company Secretary

25 February 2016

Spirent Communications p
Company number 470893
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The directors are responsible for preparing
the Annuat Report, the Report on directors’
remuneration the conselidated financial
statements of the Group and the financial
statements of the parent Company

Company law requires the directors to
prepare financial statements for each
financial year Under that law they are
required to prepare the consolidated
financtal statements of the Group In
accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") as adopted
by the Eurcpean Union ("EU") and have
elected to prepare the parent Company
financtal statements in accordance with UK
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
{including FRS101) and applicable law

The consolidated financial statements of
the Group are required by law and IFRSs to
present farly for each financial penod the
financial position and performance of the
Group the Companies Act 2006 provides
In relation to such financial statements, that
references in the relevant part of that Act
to financial statements giving a true and
fair view, are references to ther acheving
a falr presentation

The parent Company financlal statements
are required by law to give a true and

falr view of the state of affalrs of the
parent Company

In preparng each of the consohdated
financial statements of the Group and
parent Company financial statements,
the directors are required to

select sutable accounting policies
and then apply them consistently,
make judgements and estimates
that are reascnable and prudent,
staie for the audited consclidated
financial statements of the Group
whether they have been prepared

In accordance with I[FRSs as adopted
by the EU

Directors’ responsibilities statement

- state for the parent Company financial
statements whether applicable UK
Accounting Standards have been
followed, subject to any matenal
departures disclosed and explained
In the parent Company financial
statements, and

- prepare the financial statements
on a golng concern basks unless it Is
inappropriate to presume the Group
and the parent Company will continue
In operational business for the
foreseeable future

The directors confirm that they have
complied with the above requirements
In preparing the financial statements

The directors are responsible for keeping
adequate accounting records that are
sufficient to show and explain the
Company's transactions and that disclose
with reasocnable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Group and the
parent Company and enable them to
ensure that its financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2006 and for the
Group Article 4 of the International
Accounting Standards (“1IAS™) Regulation
They have general responsibility for taking
such steps as are reascnably open to
them to safeguard the assets of the Group
and to prevent and detect fraud and

other Irregularities

Under applicabie law and regulations

the directors are also responsible for
preparing a strategic report, a directors
report, a directors remuneration report
and a statement on corporate governance
that comply with the law and those
regulations They are also responsible

for the malntenance and Integrity of the
corporate and financial Informaton
Included on the Company s website
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Legislation in the UK governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in
other junsdictions

The directors consider that the Annual
Report, taken as a whole s fawr, balanced
and understandable and provides the
information necessary to assess the
Company's perfermance business model
and strategy

This Annual Report complies with the
Disclosure and Transparency Rules
{“DTR") of the Financlal Conduct Autharlty
Iin respect of the requirement to produce
an annual financial report

The Annual Report and consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility
of, and have been approved by

the directors

Each of the directors confirms that 1o the
best of ther knowledge

+ the consolidated financial statements of
the Group and parent Company financal
statements prepared in accordance
with the applicable set of accounting
standards, g/ve a true and fair view of
the assets, liabllitles, financial position
and the profit or loss of the Company
and the undertakings included in the
consolidation taken as a whole, and

» the Annual Report includes a fair review
of the development and performance
of the business and the positlon of the
Company and the undertakings included
in the ¢consolidation taken as a whole,
together with a descrniption of the
principal risks and uncertainties that
they face

BY CRDER OF THE BOARD
RACHEL WHITING

Chief Financial Qfficer

25 Fepruary 2016
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Independent auditor's report to the members of Spirent Cemmunicattons plc

OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In our opinton

- the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company s affairs as at 31 December
2015 and of the Group s profit for the year then ended,

- the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,

- the parent Company financial statemenis have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice including FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and

- the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Compantes Act 2006 and as regards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

Spirent Communications plc financial statements comprise

Group Parent Cempany

Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2015 Balance sheet as at 31 December 2015
Statement of changes in equity for the year

Consolidated income statement for the year then ended then ended

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended Related notes 1to 17 to the financral statements

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
Consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended
Related notes 1to 34 to the financial statements

The financial reporting framework that has been apphed In the preparation of the Group financial statements 1s applicable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by the European Union The financial reporting framework that has
been applied in the preparation of the parent Company financial statements 1s applicabie law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepled Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”

OVERVIEW OF OUR AUDIT APPROACH

Risks of material misstatement = Revenue recognition
» Recoverability of deferred tax assets

« Carrying value of goodwill and investments in subsidiary undertakings
{parent Company only)

- Appropnateness of the accounting for restructunng costs

Audit scope - We performed an audit of the complete financial Information of five components and audit
procedures on specific balances for a further four components
- The components where we performed fult or specific audit procedures accounted for
64 per cent of adjusted proflt before tax used to calculate materlality and 85 per cent of
revenue The adjusted profit before tax coverage has been Impacted by one full scope
compeonent being loss making in the year

Materiality « Overall Group materiality 15 £1 31 milliion which represents 5 per cent of adjusted profit
before tax'

1 Profit before tax adjusted for non-recurring items as defined in ‘The application of matenality section of this report
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OUR ASSESSMENT OF RISK OF MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT
We identiflied the nisks of materal misstatement described below as those that had the greatest effect on our overall audit sirategy, the
allocation of resources in the audit and the direction of the efferts of the audit team In addressing these nisks, we have performed the
procedures below which were designed in the context of the financial statements as a whole and consequently we do not express any

optrion on these individual areas

Risk

Our response to the nsk

What we reported to the Audit Committee

Revenue recognition
Refer to the Audit Committee Report
{page 50) Accounting policles (page
89) and Note 2 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Group has reported revenues of
$4771 milion (2014 $457 2 muthen)
There is a rnisk in relation to incorrect
allocation to components for multi-
element contracts and inappropriate
cut off

We performed full and specific scope
audit procedures over this risk area In
six locations, which covered 85 per
cent of reported revenue

For significant revenue streams at each full and
specific scope audit location

« We performed walkthroughs of each significant
class of revenue transactions and assessed the
design effectiveness of key controls

+ We have tested revenue in relation to sales
contracts specifically focusing on the accounting
for the service element of multiple element sales
contracts as well as allocation of revenue In
contracts with separate components consisting of
hardware and subsequent software upgrades,

- In addition we have selected for testing the large
and complex transactions and a representative
sample of regular transactions at each location,

+ We have tested deferred revenue and other
revenue associated balances to ensure they have
been recognlsed in accordance with Group
accounting policies and IFRS and

« We have tested cut off in relation to revenue on
contracts recognised close to the year end This
was a particular focus in China and India where
our testing included direct confirmations of
customers where considered necessary

We also considered the adequacy of the Group's
disclosures in respect of the accounting policies for
revenue recognition in note 2 to the consolldated
financial statements

We concluded that revenue
recognised In the year and deferred
as at 31 Decembey, I1s materialty
correct on the basis of our
procedures performed both at Group
and by component audit teams

Recoverability of deferred tax assets
Refer to the Audit Committee Report
(poge 50) Accounting palicies

(page 889), and Note 2 of the
Consofidated Financial Statements

The Group has deferred tax assets of
$25 6 million {2014 $20 5 million)
There is a nsk that inappropriate use
of brought forward tax losses and
volatilty in forecast sales may result in
incoirect recognition of deferred tax
assets This risk 1s further heightened
due to performance in the year to date
as well as the continued integration of
a number of prior year acqulisitions

In the year resulting in an increased
complexity within the business

We have performed the following procedures over
the Group deferred tax assets as at 31 December

+ We have performed detalled testing over the
recognised deferred tax assets to ensure
recognition is In accordance with IFRS,

« In additien, we have reviewed and challenged the
future profit forecasts, underlying assumptions
and utibsation of unrecognised brought forward
losses, and

= We have challenged the accuracy and
appropnateness of related disclosures in the
Group financial statements

We concluded that deferred tax
assets recognised In the year,
and deferred tax assels as at

31 December, Is materlally correct
on the basls of our procedures
perfaormed both at Greup and by
component audit teams
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Spirent Communications plc continued

Risk

Qur response to the risk

What we reported to the Audit Committee

Carrying value of goodwill and
investments in subsidiary
undertakings {parent Company only)
Refer to the Audit Committee Report
foage 50) Accounting policies (page
89) and Note 2 of the Consociidated
Finonciol Statements

The Group has goodwill of $216 9
mullion (2014 $223 2 million) and
Investments In subsidiary
undertakings of £347 2 milhon {2014
£346 2 mithon) Given the continuing
uncertain ecenomic environment and
the performance of the business in the
year, there 1s an increased risk that
goodwill in the Group financial
statements and investments in the
parent Company accounts may be
overstated

In addition we focused our audit effort
on the DI CGU due to the impairment
charge of $3 8 million recognised in
the current year (2014 impairment
charge of $ nil) The remaining
carrying vatue Iin relation to Dlis

$10 5 million at 31 December 2015

Goodwill was subject to full scope
audit procedures by the primary
audit team

We challenged management’s assumptions
used In its iImpairment models for assessing
the recoverabihty of the carrying value of
goodwill We focused on the appropnateness
of CGU identification forecast cash flows
methodology applied to estimate
recoverable vatues and discount rates

We concluded that goodwill

and Investments In subsidiary
undertakings {parent Company only)
as at 31 December, is materially
correct on the basls of our procedures
performed both at Group and by
component audit teams

Specifically

We have reviewed the allocation of the
respective goodwill to groups of cash
generating units for impairment testing
purposes,

Together with our valuations experts we
have revlewed the annual impairment
calculations prepared by management,
including appropriate challenge of
underlying assumptions and cash flow
forecasts,

We have reviewed the performance of
recent acquisitions against plan for
indicators of impairment, and

In addition for DI, we performed sensitivity
analyses by testing key assumptions (n the
model to recalculate a range of potential
outcomes (n refation to the imparment
charge to be recognised in the year

We constdered the appropriateness of the
related disclosures provided In note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements

Appropristeness of the accounting
for restructuring costs

Refer to the Audit Committee Report
(page 50), Accounting pohicies (page
89} and Note 2 of the Consohdated
Financial Statements

The Group has restructuring
provisions of $7 0 milhon and total
exceptional costs of $12 5 million {2014
$2 & milhon with total exceptional
costs of $4 1 million) The risk 1s due to
the high degree of jJudgement
involved in the identfication and
accounting treatment of the various
restructuning activity which took place
in December In addition there Is 8 nsk
over the incorrect allocation of the
restructuring costs between the
current year, and 2016

We have performed the following procedures over
the restructuring provisions as at 31 December

We concluded that the restructuring
costs recognised in the year, and
the restructuring provisions as at

31 December Is materially correct
on the basis of our procedures
performed both at Group and by
component audit teams

We have reviewed the underlying support and
held discussions with both Group and local
management to gain comfort over the
identification and accounting treatment

of the restructuring costs

We have read the significant contracts and
assessed management s accounting for the
financial matters We have considered the
accounting in hght of performance and the
changes to the business in the year

We held discussions around judgemental areas
with senior members of the Company including
the CFO, internal legat counsel, Group and local
finance and local operational management We
corroborated the discussions with supporting
documentation

We have assessed managment s classification
of costs as restructuring and as excepticnal

In the prior year, our auditor s report
included a risk of matenial misstatement

in relation to acquisition accounting which

inclugded the risk over the carrying value
of goodwilll In the current year this has
been re-defined to address the specific
nsk over carrying value of goodwill and
investments in subsidiary undertakings
{parent Company only) in hght of the

absence of any significant acguisitions
but challenging performance in the year
In the prior year, our auditer s report also
included a nisk of matenal misstatement in
relatlon to tax accounting In the current
year this this been re-defined to address
the specific risk over the recoverability of
deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty
over future performance The resolution in

the year of a significant tax provision
results in a reduced nsk over uncertain tax
positons Lastly there s a new sigruficant
risk in respect of the appropriateness of
accounting for restructuring costs as

a result of the scale and complexity

of the arrangements
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THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT

TAILORING THE SCOPE

Our assessment of audit sk, our
evaluation of matenality and our ailocation
of performance materiality determine our
audit scope for each entity within the
Group Taken together this enables us

to form an opinton on the consolidated
financial statements We take into account
size risk profile the organisation of the
Group and effectiveness of group-wide
controls, ¢changes in the business
environment and other faciors when
assessing the level of work to be
performed at each entity

In assessing the nsk of material misstatement
to the Group financial statements, and to
ensure we had adequate quantitative
coverage of significant accounts in the
financial statements, of the reporting
components of the Group, we selected
companents covenng entities within UK,
North America and Asia which represent the
principal business units within the Group

Of the nine components selected we
performed an audit of the complete financial
information of five components (full scope
components) which were selected based
on thelr size or risk characteristics For
the remalning four components {speclfic
scope components), we performed audit
procedures on specific accounts within
that component that we considered had
the potential for the greatest mpact on
the significant accounts In the financial
statements either because of the size

of these accounts or thelr risk profile

For the current year the full and specific
scope components contributed 85 per cent
(2014 87 per cent) of the Group’s revenue
The audit scope of specific components may
not have included testing of all significant
acceunts of the component but will have
contrbuted to the coverage of significant
accounts tested for the Group The coverage
obtained in relation to iIndividual expense
accounts ranged from 77 per cent to 100 per
cent of the total Indwidual expense amounts
The coverage obtained in relation to
individual balance sheet accounts ranged
from 81 per cent to 100 per cent of the total
individual balance sheet amounts The Group
audit risk in relation to revenue recognition
was subject to audnt procedures at each of
the full and specific scope locations with
revenue The Group audit sk in relation

to the carrying value of goodwilll and
investments in subsicharies {parent Company
only), as well as deferred tax assets and
restructuring costs was subject to audit
procedures by the primary audit team on the

entire balance For the current year, the full
and specific scope components contrbuted
64 per cent {2014 80 per cent) of the Groups
adjusted profit before tax measure used fo
calculate matenalily The adjusted profit
before tax coverage has been impacted

by one full scope component being loss
making in the year

Of the remaining companents, we performed
review scope procedures in respect of two
additional components which accounted for
21 per cent of the Group s adjusted profit
before tax and 12 per cent of the Group's
revenue For all remaining components,

we performed other procedures including
analytical review procedures and testing

of consolidation journals, Intercompany
elimmations and foreign currency translation
recalculations to respond to any potential
risks of material misstatement to the Group
financial statements

INVOLVEMENT WITH COMPQONENT TEAMS
In establishing our overall approach to the
Group audit, we determined the type of
work that needed 10 be undartaken at each
of the compeonents by us, as the pnmary
audit engagement team, or by component
auditors from other EY global network firms
operating under our instruction Of the five
full scope components, audit procedures
were performed on three of these directly
by the primary audit team and two by the
component audit team For the four
specific scope components, where the
work was performed by component
auditors, we determined the appropnate
level of Invoivement with the component
teams to enable us to determine that
sufficient audit evidence had been
obtained as a basis for our opinion

on the Group as a whole

At the start of the audi, a global team
planning event was held in the UK with
representatives from all full and specific
scope component audit teams in attendance
Detalled instructions were sent 1o all auditors
inthese locations These instructions
covered the significant areas that should be
addressed by the component team auditors
{which included the relative nsks of material
misstatement detalled above) and set out the
information to be reported back to the Group
audit team In addition, the Group audit team
continued to follow a programme of planned
visits that has been designed 1o ensure that
the Senigr Statutory Auditor visits certain
material or high risk locations ¢n a rotational
basis During the current year's audit cycle,
visits were undertaken by the pnmary audit
team to the component teams in North
America and Paignton These visits involved
discussing the audit approach with the
camponent team and any 1ssues arising from
theirr work meeting with local management,
attending closing meetings, and reviewing
key audit working papers on the Group nsk
areas The primary team interacted regularly
with the component teams where
appropriate dunng vanous stages of the
audit including attendance at close meetings
reviewed key working papers and were
responsible for the scope and direction of
the audit process This together with the
additional procedures performed at Group
level, gave us appropriate evidence for our
opirion on the Group financial statements

OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY
We apply the concept of materiality
In planning and performing the audit,
In evaluating the effect of Identified
misstatements on the audit and in
forming our audit opinien

STARTING BASIS

+ Profit before tax — $9 6 million

+ Adjusted for non-recurnng items
— Exceplional tems of $12 5 million
— Goodwill impairment of $3 8 million
— Acquisition costs of $01 milion

. Totals $26 O milon
Matenality of $1 31 milhon
(5 per cent of matenality basis)
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Independent auditor's repoert to the members of Spirent Communications plc continued

MATERIALITY

The magnitude of an omission or
misstatement that, mdividually or in
aggregate could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decislons of the users
of the financiol statements Matenalty
provides a basis for determining the nature
and extent of our oudit procedures

We determined mateniahty for the Group
to be $1 31 million (2014 $1 65 million),
which is 5 per cent (2014 5 per cent) of
adjusted profit before tax We bhelieve
that ad)usted profit before tax provides
us with a conslstent year on year basls
for determining materlality and Is the
most relevant performance measure to
the stakeholders of the entity Detailed
audit procedures are performed on
matenal non-recurring items

During the course of our audit, we
reassessed iniial mateniahty and the
only change In flnal materlality was to
reflect the actual reported performance
of the Group in the year

PERFORMANCE MATERIALITY

The appiication of mateniahity at the
mdvidual account or balance fevel It is set
at an amount to reduce to an approprictely
fow level the probabiitty that the oggregate
of uncorrected and undetected
musstatements exceeds materiality

On the basis of our risk assessments
together with our assessment of the
Group s overall control envirenment

our judgement was that performance
materiality was 75 per cent (2014 75 per
cent) of our planning mateniality namely
$1 0 million {2014 $1 2 million) We used
75 per cent rather than 50 per cent due
to the historically low number of audit
adjustments found In prior years We
have set performance materiality at this
percentage to ensure 1hat total detected
and undetected audit differences do
not exceed our planning matetrlality of
$1 31 milllon for the financial statements
as awhole

Audit work at component locations for the

purpose of obtaining audit coverage over
significant financial statement accounts is

Notes

undertaken based on a peircentage of total
performance matenality The performance
matenality set for each component i1s
based on the relative scale and risk of the
component o the Group as a whole and
our assessment of the nsk of misstatemeny
at that component In the current year the
range of performance materiality aliocated
to full and specific scope components was
$0 9 milhon to $0 2 millon (2014 $1 2 muhon
to $0 2 million)

REPORTING THRESHQLD

An amount below which identified
misstotements are considered as being
clearly trivial

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we
would report {o them all uncorrected audit
differences in excess of $0 07 millon

{2014 $0 Q9 million), which Is set at 5 per cent
of planning matenality, as well as differences
below that threshold that, In our view,
warranted reporting on qualitative grounds

We evaluate any uncorrected
missiatements against both the
quantitative measures of materialty
discussed above and in light of other
relevant quabtative considerations in
forming our opinion

SCOPE OF THE AUDIT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

An audit involves obtaining evidence
about the amounts and disclosures n
the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud
or error This Includes an assessment of
whether the accounting policies are
appropnate to the Group s and the
parent Company’s clrcumstances and
nave been consistently applied and
adequately disctosed, the reasonableness
of significant accounting estimates
made by the directors and the overall
presentation of the financlal statements

In addltlon, we read all the financial

and non-financlal Informatlon in the
Annual Report 2015 to Identify materlal
inconsistencies with the audited financial
statements and to identify any information

that 1s apparentty matenally incorrect
based on, or matenally inconsistent with,
the knowledge acquied by us In the
course of performing the audit If we
become aware of any apparent matenal
misstalements or inconsistencies we
consider the implcations for our report

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES

OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

As explained more fully in the Directors’
responsibilities statement set out on page
77. the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and
for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view Qur responsibility 1s to audit and
express an opinion on the financial
statements in accordance with applicable
law and International Standards on Auditing
{UK and Ireland) Those standards require
us to comply with the Auditing Practices
Board s Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report is made sclely to the

Company s members, as a8 body n
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006 Our audit work has
been undertaken so that we might state to
the Company s members those matters we
are required to state to them in an auditer's
report and for no other puipose To the
fullest extent permitied by law we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the
Company’s members as a body, for our
audit work, for this report or for the
opinions we have formed

OPINION ON OTHER MATTERS
PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES
ACT 2006

In our opinion

« The part of the Directors Remuneration
Report to be audited has been properly
prepared In accordance with the
Companies Act 2006, and

+ The information given in the Strategic
Report and the Directors’ Report for the
financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared Is consistent
with the financial statements

1 The maintenance and integnty of the Spirent Communications plc website is the responsibility of the directors the work carned out by the auditors
does not involve consideration of these matters and accordingly the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the
financial statements since they were initially presented on the website

2 Legistation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other junisdictions
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MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION

LH0d3y 21931vYLS

ISAs (UK and Ireland) reporting  We are required to report to you If, in our opinion financial and non-financial We have no
infarmatien in the Annual Report 1s exceptions
- Matenally nconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements, 1@ report
or

+ Apparently materially incorrect based on, or matenally inconsistent with, our
knowiedge of the Group acquired in the course of performing our audit or
+ Otherwise misleading

In particular we are required to report whether we have identtfied any
inconsistencies between our knowledge acquired in the course of performing
the audit and the directors statement that they consider the Annual Report and
accounts taken as a whole 1s farr balanced and understandable and provides
the Information necessary for shareholders to assess the entity's performance,
business model and strategy and whether the Annual Report appropniately
addresses those matters that we communicated to the audit committee that
we conslder should have been disclosed

JINVYNY3ACO

SINIWILVLS TVIONYNIL

Companies Act 2006 reporting  We are required to report to you if In our opinion We have no
- Adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, exceptions
or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not ta report

visited by us, or

« The parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the accounting
records and returns, or

- Certain disclosures of directors’ remuneraticn specified by law are
net made, or

+ We have not received all the information and explanations we require
for our audit

NOULYWYOINI J3IH10

Listing Rules review requirements We are required to review We have no
. The directors statement in relation to going concern set out on page 75, exceptions
and longer-term viabllity, set aut on page 76, and to report

+ The part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company's
comphance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code
specified for our review

Statement on the Directors’ Assessment of the Principal Risks that Would Threaten the Solvency or Liguldity of the Entity

ISAs (UK and Ireland) reporting  We are required 1o give a statement as to whether we have anything material to We have nothing
add or to draw attention to In relation to matenal to add

. The directors’ confirmation in the Annual Report that they have carried out a or o draw
robust assessment of the pnincipal risks facing the entity, including those that ~ alténton to
would threaten its business model future performance solvency or hquidity,

« The disclosures in the annual report that describe those risks and explain how
they are being managed or mitigated,

« The directors statement in the financial statements about whether they
considered 1t approprniate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing them, and therr identification of any material uncertainties to the
entity s abiiity to continue o do so over a period of at least twelve months from
the date of approval of the financial statements and

« The directors expianation in the Annual Report as to how they have assessed
the prospects of the entity, over what period they have done so and why they
consider that penod to be appropnate and therr statement as to whether they
have a reasonable expectation that the entity will be able to continue In
operation and meet its labihties as they fall due over the period of their
assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention 1o any

A hecessary qualfications or assumplions

“ p—
&/‘-‘}\, \HO
KARL HAVERS
{Senior Statutory Auditor)
Faor and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP Statutory Auditor
Lendon

25 February 2016
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Consolidated income statement
Year to 31 December 2015

2015 2014
Notes % million $ milion
CONTINUING OPERATIONS
REVENUE 3,4 4771 457 2
Cost of sales (145 3) {140 9)
GROSS PROFIT 3318 3163
Product development 4 {118 3) {115 4)
Seling and distribution (127 2) (1135)
Administration (76.2) 63 7)
OPERATING PROFIT 4 101 237
Finance income 7 04 04
Finance costs 8 (05) -
Share of loss of associate 16 (04) -
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 4,5 96 241
Tax 11 39 {35
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 135 206
ATTRIBUTABLE TO*
Owners of the parent Company 133 205
Non—-controlling interest 0.2 01
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 135 206
EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic 12 218 335
Diluted 217 335

The notes on pages 89 to 121 and page 137 form part of these financial statements
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Year to 31 December 2015

2015 204
Notes  $ million % milhion
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 135 206
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange differences on retranslation of forelgn operations {5.9) {4 2)
Items that will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss
Re-measurement of the net defined beneflt pension llabiity 10 {9.2) (16 0)
Income tax effect 1 18 33
(7.4) {127)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME {13.3) {16 9)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 0.2 37
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
Owners of the parent Company - 36
Non-contrelling interest 02 01
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 02 37

The notes on pages 89 10 121 and page 137 form part of these Ninancial statements
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Consolidated balance sheet
At 31 December 2015

2015 2014
Notes $ million % million
ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets 14 2616 2733
Property, plan and eguipment 15 511 522
Trade and other recevables 20 43 42
Investment in associate 16 46 -
Cash on deposit 21 01 -
Defined benefit pension plan surplus 10 1.2 o8
Deferred tax asset 23 25.6 205
338.5 3510
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 19 229 265
Trade and other receivables 20 1280 1229
Current tax asset 06 67
Cash and cash equivalents 21 1020 998
2535 2559
TOTAL ASSETS 5820 6069
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 22 {123.4) (127 2)
Current tax liability 0.8) (39
Provisions 26 (89) 67
{133 1) (137 8)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 24 {20.2) {12 6)
Other financial habilties 25 {2.6) 27)
Deferred tax liability 23 {0.6) {2 5)
Defined benefit pension plan deficit 10 (21.0) {15 3)
Provisions 26 (2.4) {1 6}
(46.8) (34 7}
TOTAL LIABILITIES {179 9) {172 5)
NET ASSETS 4121 434 4
CAPITAL AND RESERVES 29
Share capital 302 318
Share premium account 299 315
Capital redemption reserve 195 206
Other reserves 64 21
Translation reserve 132 191
Retained earnings 3126 3292
TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY 411.8 4343
NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 03 01
TOTAL EQUITY 4421 434 4

The notes on pages 89 to 121 and page 137 form part of these financial statements

Signed on behalf of the Board

RACHEL WHITING
Cirector ~
25 February 2016
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Consoclidated cash flow statement
Year to 31 December 2015

2015 2014

Notes  $ million $ million
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash flow from operations 32 678 489
Tax recewved/(paid) 26 {7 2)
NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 604 417
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTSVITIES
Interest recerved 04 06
Transfer (to)/from long term deposit (0 1) 1
Purchase of Intangible assets 14 (0.9) {06)
Purchase of property, plant and eguipment {(25.9) (322)
Proceeds from the sale of property plant and equipment 1.3 12
Investment in assoclate 16 (5.0) -
Acquisition of subsidianes and businesses net of cash acquired 33 {1.7) (85 9)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (319) (116 8)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cividend paid 13 (23 5} (222}
Employee Share Ownership Trust o1 -
Share repurchase - (16 4)
Loan repayment - (G 1}
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (23 4) (387)
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 51 {1138)
Cash and cash eguivalents at the beginning of the year 998 2162
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes {(29) (26)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 21 1020 998

The notes on pages 89 to 121 and page 137 form part of these financial statements

87
Spirent Commurucations ple Annual Report 2015

140434 21931vH1S

FONYNYIAOD

SINIWALYLS TVIDNYNIY

NOLLVWHO4NI ¥43HL0




Consoldated statement of changes in equity

Attributable to the equity holders of the parent Company $ million
Share Capital Non-
Share premium redemption Cther Transiation Retained contreiling Total
Notes capial account reserve reserves reserve eamings Total Interest equity
AT 1 JANUARY 2014 344 335 213 (32) 233 3431 4524 - 452 4
Profit for the year - - - - - 205 205 01 206
QOther comprehensive
income (a) - - - - 42 127) (169) - {169)
Total comprehensive
Income - - - - (42) 78 36 a1 37
Share-based payment N - - - - - o7 07 - 07
Tax charge on share
incentives 11 - - - - - (01) Q1) - (01)
Share cancellation 29 (05) - 05 — — - — - -
Share repurchase 29 — - - — — (156) {15 6) - {15 6)
Share buyback
obligation 29 - - - - - 182 182 - 182
Equity dvidends 13 - - - - - (22 2) (22 2) - (22 2)
Other movements 25 - - - - - 27 27) - 27
Exchange adjustment 21) 20) (12 53 - - - - -
AT 1 JANUARY 2015 s 315 206 21 191 3292 434 3 o1 434.4
Profit for the year - - - - - 133 3.3 02 135
Other comprehensive
income (b) - - - - (S9) (74) {13.3) - (13.3)
Total comprehensive
income - - - - {59 59 - o2 0.2
Share-based payment 3 - - - - - 0.8 [+X -} - 0.8
Tax credit on share
Incentives 11 - - - - - 0.1 01 - 0.1
Employee Share
Ownership Trust 29 - - - - - 0.1 o1 - 01
Equity dividends 13 - - - - - {23.5) {23 5) - (223 5)
Exchange adjustment {1.8) {1.6} {1.1) 4.3 - - - - -
AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 30.2 29.9 195 6.4 13.2 3126 411.8 03 4121

(a) The amount included in other cemprehensive income for 2014 of $12 7 million represents re-measurement [osses of the net defined benefit pension
hablity of $16 O milion net of a tax credit of $3 3 million
The amount Included In the translation reserve of $4 2 miltian represents other comprehensive income related to the translation of forelgn operations

(b) The amount included in other comprehensive income for 2015 of $7 4 rullion represents re-measurement losses of the net defined benefit pension
liabifity of $9 2 midlion net of a tax credit of $18 million
The amount Included in the translatlon reserve of $5 9 million represents other comprehensive Income related 1o the translation of forelgn operations

The notes on pages 89 o 121 and page 137 form part of these financial statements
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Notes 1o the consolidated financial statements

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION
The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 were authorised for issue by the Board of directors
on 25 February 2016 Splrent Communications plc Is a public limited company incerporated and domiclled in England and Wales

The Company s Crdinary Shares are traded on the Londen Stock Exchange

As required by the Eurgpean Umion s ("EU) IAS Regulation and the Companies Act 2008, the Group has prepared its consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards {*IFRSs™) as adopted by the EU and 1ssued by
the Internatlonal Accounting Standards Board {"IASB")

The Company has elected to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards These are
presented on pages 89 to 94 and the accounting policles In respect of the Company are set out on pages 126 to 128

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

ACCOUNTING CONVENTION

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis apart from certain financtal Instruments that have been
measured at fair value

GOING CONCERN BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
At 31 December 2015 the Group had cash balances of $102 O million and no debt

The directors have reviewed the detailled financial projections for a period of 12 months from the date of thus report and the business
plans for the 2017 and 2018 Hinancial years They have also considered the principal nsks and uncertainties that the Group faces and its
current financial position and are satisfied that the Group has adequate financial resources to continue 1n operational existence for the
foreseeable future a penod of not less than 12 months from the date of this report Accordingly, the going concern basls of accounting
continues to be used In the preparation of the financlal statements

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
No new standards amendments to standards and interpretations have been applied by the Group which have resulted a significant
impact on its consolidated resulls or financial position

BASIS OF CONSOLICATION

The consolldated financlal statements Incorporate the financlal statements of the Company and Its subsidiaries made up to 31 December
each year The financlal statements of subsidianies are prepared for the same reporting year as the parent Company using consistent
accounting policies Full list of subsidiary undertakings are listed on page 137

Subsidiary undertakings are entities that are directly or indirectly controlled by the Group The Group controls an entity when itis exposed,
or has rights to varlable returns from its Involvement with the entity and has the abillty to affect those returns through its power over the entity

Results of subsicianies are conseclidated from the date on which controiis transferred to the Group and cease 10 be consohdated
from the date on which control Is transferred out of the Group

The separable net assets, including intangible assets of newly acquired subsidianes are incorporated inio the consohdated
financial statements based on their falr values at the effective date of control

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control over the financial and operating policies
Significant Influence 15 presumed to exist when the Group holds between 20 and 50 per cent of the voting power of another entity

Associates are accounted for using the equity method and are inibially recogmsed at cost The Group's investment includes goodwilil
identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment lesses The consolidated financial statements include the Group s share
of the total comprehensive income from the date that significant Influence commences until the date that significant Influence ceases
When the Group’s share of losses exceeds s interest In an equity accounted investee, the Group s carrying amount 1s recuced to nii
and recognition of further losses I1s discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of an associate

Dividends received from associates reduce the carrying value of the associate

Allintra-Group transactions, balances income and expenses are elimmated on consohdation

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

A business combination 1s a transaction or other event in which an acquirer obtains control of one or more businesses

Business combinaticns are accounted for using the acquisition method

At acquisition date the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed including intangible assets, are measured at their farr values
The cost of an acquisition 1s measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount of any non-controlling interest

tn the acquiree Non-controlling interests are measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree s Identifiable net assets

B9
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Contingent consideration resulting from business combinations 1s valued at fair value at the acquisition date as part of the business
combination When the contingent consideration meets the definition of a financial habihty 1t s subsequently re-measured to farr value
at each reporting date, with changes In fair value recognised In profit or loss The determination of fair value Is based on discounted
cash flows The key assumptions take into consideration the probability of meeting each performance target and the discount rate

Acquisition costs are expensed and included in administralion costs

Goedwill ansing on the acquisition of subsidiaries, representing the excess of cost over the net fair value of the net assets acquired,
Is capitallsed as an Intanglble asset Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated Impairment losses

Goodwill s subject to an annual review for impairment For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill 1s allocated to the related
cash-generating units monitored by management Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 1s less than its carrying
amount including gocdwill an impairment loss Is recogmsed in the income statement

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets are carned at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses Separately identifiable
intangibie assets such as patent fees licence fees trademarks and customer lists and relationships are capitalised on the balance
sheet only when the value can be measured reliably, or the intangible asset 1s purchased as part of the acquisition of a business
Such intangible assets are amortlsed over thelr useful economic lives on a stralght line basls The carrylng value of intangible assets
Is revlewed for impalrment if events or changes In clrcumstances indicate the carrylng value may not be recoverable

Acquired Intangible assets being customer list current technology, database brand names and nen-compete covenant are amortised
on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives and the charge (s included within admnistration expenses in the income
statement Licences are amortised over therr useful lives or term, and are expensed within cost of sales or selling costs

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets and the amortisation expiry dates are as follows

Useful hfe  Expiry date

Customer list 2to 7 years 2020
Current technology Sto 7 years 2021
Database 25t0 7 years 2021
Brand names S years 2020
Non-compete covenant 4 years 2018
Licences 3to Syears 2018

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

Research expenditure 1s recognised In the year in which 1it1s incurred Intangible assets ansing on the Group's varlous product
development projects are recognised only If the recogmuon criteria of 1AS 38 “Intangible Assets” are met

Product development costs are expensed as incurred until the technological feasibiity of the product under development has

been established Technological feasibility In Spirent s clrcumstances occurs when a working model Is completed For software
development technological feasibiiity 15 not established until the process of developing the software 1s complete After technological
feasibility 15 established additional costs are capitalised and amortised on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life

Al 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 no amounts have met the recegnition critena

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accemulated impairment Depreciation 1s not
provided on freehold land Depreciatton s provided to wnte-off the cost, less estimated residual value, of all other assets over thewr
estimated useful ives on a straight hine basis at rates which take into account commercial conditions at therr location Usual asset lives

are as follows

Freehold buildings

Plant and machtnery

Fixtures, fittings and eguipment
Buitding installations

50 years
3to Byears

20 years or lease period if less

Fitttngs and equipment 3to Byears
Motor vehicles 3to Svyears
Business systems software 4 years

The carrying values of property plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment if events or changes n circumstances indicate the

carrying value may not be recoverable
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

Intangible assets with finite useful ives and property plant and equipment are tested for impairrment at each reporting date where there
15 an Indication that an asset may be impairec Goodwilk and Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are assessed at least annually
When an tmpairment test 1s performed the recoverable amount s assessed by reference to the higher of the net present value of the
expected cash flows {value in use) of the relevant cash-generating unit or asset and the fair value less cost of disposal In assessing
value In use the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time vatue of money and the rnisks specific to the asset Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount, the asset 1s considered impaired and 15 winitten down to 1ts recoverable amount Impairment losses are recognised
in the income statement in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impared asset

Where an impairment [0ss has been recognised against an asset, it may be reversed in future penods where there has been a change
In the estimates used to determine the asset s recoverable amount since the last Impalrment loss was recognised, but only te the
extent that the asset's carrylng amount does not exceed the carrylng amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation had no Impairment loss been recognised In prior years Such a reversal is recognised in the income statement

This does not apply for goodwilll, for which an Impalrment {ess must not be reversed [n any clrcumstances

LEASES
Operating leases are leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset and are not finance
leases Cperating lease rentals are charged Lo the iIncome statement on a straight ine basis over the period of the tease

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value after provisions for obsolescence Costincludes all costs
incurred in brninging each product to its present location and condition, being the full manufacturing cost on a first-in-first-out basis
including all attnbutable overheads based on a normal level of activity

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recorded when the Group has a present, legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, for which it 1s
probable that the Group wiil be required to settle by an outflow of resources and for which a reliable estimate of the ameount of the
obligation can be made Prowisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted 1o reflect the current best estimate

Where the effect of the ime value of money is materiat the amount of the provtsion shall be the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settte the obligation

FOREIGN CURRENCIES
The consolidated financia! statements are presented in US dollars which ts the Group’s presentation currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the rates ruling at the date of the transaction Monetary assets and habilities
denominated in foreign currenctes are retranslated at the rates ruling at the balance sheet date All exchange differences are taken to
the consoldated income statement Non-monetary assets and lhabilities dencminated in foreign currencies are measured I1n terms of
historical costs using the exchange rate at the date of the imtial transaction

The functional currencies of the Group s operations are principally US dollar, stering or euro On consohdation the assets and habilities
of the Group's foreign operations are translated into the Group's presentation currency at exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet
date The results of forelgn cperatlons are translated into US dollars using average rates for the perlod The exchange differences
ansing on retranslation are classified as a separate component of equity, the translation reserve Such transtation differences are
recognised as part of the proflt or loss on disposal should an operation be disposed of The Group has elected to apply the exemptlon
in IFRS 1 "First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards® which allows the cumulative translation differences for all
foreign operations to be deemed to be zero at the date of transition to IFRSs, belng 1 January 2003

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets and lhabilities are recognised on the Group's balance sheet when it becemes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument

Trade receivables
Trade recervables are non-interest beanng and are stated at onginal invoiced amount less an appropriate allowance for estimated
lrrecoverable amounts Such allowances are based on an assessment of deblor ageing, past experlence or known customer exposures

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash eguivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term deposits which usually have
an orlginal maturity of three months or less For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement cash and cash equivalents
consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above There are no bank overdrafis

Trade payables

Trade payables are non-interest beanng and are stated at the onginal invoiced amount
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received net of direct Issue costs Spirent Communications plc QOrdinary Shares held
by the Group are classified in equity as treasury shares and are recognised at cost and included as a deduction from retained earnings
Consideration received for the sale of such treasury shares 1s also recognised in equity

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group uses forward forelgn currency exchange contracts to manage exposures ansing on receipts and payments in foreign
currencies relating to firm commitments

Forward foreign currency exchange contracts are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which the contract Is entered into, and are
subsequently re-measured to fair value at each reported balance sheet date The fair value of forward forergn currency exchange contracts
Is calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles The Group has not adopted the
hedge accounting rules Consequently all gains and losses arising frem changes In falr value are taken to the Income statement

Dernvauves embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separale denvalives when their risks and
characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates two funded defined beneht pension plans which are in the United Kingdom all other pension plans are defined
contribution in nature For the defined contnbution plans the amount charged {0 the income statement I1s the employers contributions
pad or payable dunng the year

For defined benefit pension plans full actuarial valuations are carred cut every three years using the prgjected unit credit method and
updates are performed at each balance sheel date Re-measurement comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of changes to the
asset celling {if relevant) and the return on plan assets (excluding interest) 1s reflected immedtately in the balance sheel hatifity or asset
with a charge ar credit recognised in other comprehensive income 1in the period in which they occur Re-measurement recegnised In
other comprehensive Income will not be reclassified to profit or loss Past service cost Is recognised In profit or loss In the perlod of plan
amendment Netinterest s calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the perniod to the net defined benefit pension
liability or asset, taking account of any changes in the net defined benefit pension lability during the penod as a result of contribution
and benefit payments Defined benefit pension costs are categorised as

« service cost (Including current service cost, past service cost and gains and losses on curtallments or settlements),
« netinterest expense or ncome, and
+ re-measurement

The Group presents the first two components of defined benefit pension costs 1n profi or loss

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue 1s recognised when it 1s probable that economic benefits will flow 1o the Group, the revenue can be reliably measured and
when the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant nisks and rewards of ownership In addition revenue i1s only recognised
when collectabllity Is probable

For the sale of services revenue Is recognised (n accounting periods in which the service 1s rendered Revenue from maintenance
contracts is recognised over the period of performance on a straight hne basis

Revenue from product sales of hardware and software 1s recognised at the ume of delivery and acceptance and when there are
no significant vendor obligations remaining It is not until acceptance has occurred that the risks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the buyer Terms of acceptance are dependent upon the specific contractual arrangement agreed with the customer

Revenue from sales or usage-based royalties 15 recognised as the subsequent sale or usage occurs

Contractual arrangements are accounted for as two or more separate transactions only where the commercial substance is that

the individual components operate independently of each other, because they are capable of being provided separately from one another
and it Is possible 10 atirlbute reliable falr values to every component To the extent that a separate component comprises a product sale of
hardware or software, revenue Is recognised as descilbed above Revenue is recognised on other components as the Group fulfils its
contractual obligations and to the extent that it has earned the rright to consideratwoen

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

A government grant s recogrused in the balance sheet initially as deferred income when there 1s reasonable asswance that it will be
received and that the Group will comply with the conditions attached to it Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as other operating income on a systematic basls in the same periods In which expenses are Incurred Grants that
compensate the Group {or the acquisition of an asset are presented by deducting them from the acquisition cost of the related asset
in accordance with IAS 20
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

When an employee has rendered services to the Group during an accounung penod short term benefits expected to be paid
in exchange for those services are recognised In the same accounting period

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
The Group operates various equity-settled share-based compensation plans and accounts for these awards I accordance with IFRS 2

The fair value of these awards I15 recognused In the Income statement on a straight line basis over the vesting pernod together with
a corresponding change [n equity The fair value is measured using the Hull-White tnnomial mode! by reference to the share price,
and taking Into account the terms and conditions of the award, excluding non-market vesting conditions, at the date the awards
were granted The charge Is reassessed at each balance sheet date to reflect the expected and actual levels of vesting, due to
achievement or otherwise of non-market conditions Awards where vesting 1s conditional upon satisfying a market condition or
non-vesting condition are treated as vesling trrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition has been satisfied

The Group has an employee share trust for the granting of certain share incentives to employees Shares in the Group held by the
employee share trust are treated as treasury shares and presented in the balance sheel as a deduction from equity

TAX
income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax Income tax Is recognised in the income statement
except 1o the extent that it relates to items in other camprehensive income or equity

Current tax 15 the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year using tax rates enacted or substanuively enacled at the
balance sheet date and any adjustments to tax payable for previous years

Deferred tax I1s recognised on all temporary differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and lhiabilities and their carrying amounts
in the financral statements, with the following exceptions

+ where the tlemporary difference anses from the iniial recognition of goodwill {taxable temporary differences only) or of an asset or
llabllity in a transaction that is not a business combinatlion that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss,

- inrespeci of taxable temporary differences associated with iInvestments in subsidiaries asseociates and jomnt ventures where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be contrelled and it Is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
In the foreseeable future

A deferred tax assetl s recognised only ta the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences carried forward tax credits or tax iosses can be utilised

Deferred tax assets and labihities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related
asset Is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

DIVIDENDS PAID
The intenm dividend 1s iIncluded in the financial statements in the period in which it1s paid, and the final dividend in the perniod it 1s
approved by the shareholders at an annual general meeting

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ASSUMPTIONS AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the Group to make estimates and assumplions that affect items reported Such
estimates and assumptions are based on management's best knowledge of current facts, circumstances and future events, actual
results may differ, possibly significanity, from those estimates The areas requining a high degree of jJudgement or where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are discussed below

Business combinations and goodwill

The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed Is based on a number of assumptions and Judgements by
management In establishing the fair value of Intangible assets recognised at acquisiion and thelr estimated useful ives the Group
considers each entity acguired Valuation estimates are used to determine the fair values of intangible assets and this includes
estimation of future cash flows weighted average cost of capital, external royaity rates and useful lives

For the purpose of impairment tests, the goodwill ansing from each business combination 15 allocated to cash-generating units (*CGUs™)
that are expected to benefit from the combination and which represent the lowest level within the Group at which management monitors
goodwill There have been changes in the identification of CGUs in the year which are disclosed m note 14

The Group tests annually by CGU whether goodwill has suffered impairment and more frequently when events or caircumstances indicate
that the current carry(ng value may not be recoverable The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been determined based on value in

use calculations which require estmates and assumptions to be made in relation to management’s expectations of growth in adjusted
operating profit before depreciation and amortisation, long term growth rates, and appropriate discount rates to reflect the nisks involved
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Changing the assumptions selected by management, in particular the discount rate and growth rate assumptions used in the cash
flow projections could significantly affect the Group's impalrment evaluation and hence reported assets and profits and losses
Further details, Including sensitivity analysis |Is Included in note 14 to the consolidated financlal statements

Defined benefit pension plans

The pension cost and the defined benefit pension obligation of the Group's defined benefit pension plans are based on a number

of selected assumptions, these Incfude the discount rate, inflation rate, salary growth and longevity Differences arlsing from actual
experlence or future changes in assumptions wilt be reflected In future periods The effect of changing these assumptlons is described
In note 10

Revenue recognition

For revenue recognition purposes contractual arrangements are accounted for as two or more separate transactions only where the
commercial substance Is that the individual compoenents operate independently of each other, because they are capable af being
provided separately from one another and it 5 possible to attribute reiable fair values to every component Management exercises

a degree of judgement In setting the criterla used for determining when revenue which Involves several elements should be recognised
and the fair values allocated to each element The fair values determined and allocated to each element may impact the tming of
revenue recognition and the determination of fair values can involve complex judgements The Group generally determmes the fair
value of individual elements based on prices at which the deliverable 1s regularly sold on a standalone basis after considernng customer
discounts where appropriate

Income taxes

The Group 1s subject to iIncome taxes In a number of tax Junsdictions and judgement is applied In determining the worldwide provision
for Income 1axes There are many transactlons for which the final tax determinabllity is uncertaln For example liabilitles are recognised
for anticipated tax audit 1ssues based on whether additional taxes are likely to be due based on the facts and circumstances known

at the time the financial stalements are prepared Where the final outcome differs from the amounts that were Initlally recorded the
differences will be recorded in the future penod In which the determination 1s made

Recognition of deferred tax assets

The recognition of deferred tax assets Is based upon whether it 15 more likely than not that there will be sufficient and suitable taxable profits In
the relevant legal entity or 1ax group against which to utilse the assets in the future The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognised
Is based on current forecasts and estimates prepared by management A change to these forecasts and estimates could result In a different
recogrition outcome Judgement 1s required when determiring probable future taxable profits, which are estimated using the latest avalable
profit forecasts Unrecognised deferred tax assets are disclosed in note 23

Provisions

Provisions are estimates and the actual cost and timung of future cash flows are dependent on future events The Group exercises
Judgement in recognising provisions Judgement is necessary to assess the likelihoad that a liability will arise and to quantify the
possible amount of any financial settlement The inherent uncertainty of such matters means that actua! amounts of transactions may
differ materially from estimates provided Any difference between the amounts previously recogrmised and the actual amount Is
recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT APPUED
The IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards and interpretations with an effective date for the Group after the date of these
financial statements

International Acceunting Effective for annual penods
Standards (TJAS/IFRS") heginning on or after
IFRS & Financial Instruments 1 January 2018
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018
IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019
1AS 1 Disclosure Iniliative 1 January 2016
1AS 16 and 38 Amendments 1o IAS 16 and IAS 38 - Clartfication of Acceplable Methods of

Depreciation and Amortisation i January 2016
1AS 19 Amendments to IAS 19 — Employee Contrbutions 1 February 2015
Annual Improvements
2010-2012 Cycle 1 February 2015
2012-2014 Cycle 1 January 2016

The cirectors are still evaluating the potential impact of IFRS 9, 15 and 16 on the Group's consolidated financial statements in the penod of initial
application but the other standards are not expected to have a matenal impact
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3. REVENUE
2015 2014
$ million % miltion
Sale of goods 3423 3257
Maintenance and support services 1321 1306
Royaity income 27 09
Total revenue 477 1 4572

4 OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group s organisational structure 1s based on differences in the products and services offered by each segment and information
regularly reviewed by the Group's Chief Executive Officer, its chief operating decision maker 1s presented on this basis The Group’s
operating segments follow this structure

The Group s reportable operating segments are Networks & Applications Wireless & Service Experience and Service Assurance

The Group evaluaies segment operating profit before exceptional Items, acquisition related costs, acquired Iintangible asset amortisation
and imparrment goodwili tmpawrment and share-based payment Finance income, finance costs and share of results of associated
companies are not allocated to the reportable segments Corporate Is not an operating segment and costs are separately reported

and nat allocated to the reportable segmenis

Information on segment assets and segment labilities I1s not regularly provided to the Group's Chief Executive Officer and 15 therefore not
disclosed below

The principal activittes of each of the reportable operating segments are as follows

» Networks & Applications develops innovattve soluttons for functional, performance and secunty testing of next-generation networks
and applications that simulate real-world conditions in the lab before a commercial launch and In the live network

- Wireless & Service Expenience develops solutions for functional and performance testing of 4G LTE and 3G mobile devices and
services and satellite posittoning devices as wel! as products and services for assessing the service experience on live networks

« Service Assurance provides solutions to enable service providers to turn-up new services and diagnose and troubleshoot network and
customer 1ssues, as well as systems for mobile dewsice management device analytics and intelligence solutions for mebille operators

With effect from 1 January 2016 the following changes will be made to the pperating segments

« The Service Expenence hine of business will be combined with the core Service Assurance business and reclassified from
Wireless & Service Expenence to Service Assurance, following this change the operating segments will be renamed as follows
- The Wireless & Service Experience operating segment with be renamed Wireless & Positroning
- The enlarged Service Assurance operating segment will continue to be named Service Assurance

- The Testing Technologies line of business, acquired In February 2014, will be integrated Into the Networks & Applications business
and reclassified from Wireless & Service Experience to Networks & Applications

The above changes reflect how these lines of business were organised and managed towards the end of the year with nternal reporting
changed with effect from 1 January 2016

A document showing restated comparative information 1s avallable to view and download at http /corporate spirent com/
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

4 OPERATING SEGMENTS CONTINUED

2015
$ million
Wireless
Networks & & Service Service
Notes Applications Experience Assurance Corporate Total
REVENUE
External revenue 2419 1687 66.5 - 477 1
There were no inter-segment sales
PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Total reportable segment profitiloss) before exceptional items 18.4 15.5 140 (5 8) 42 1
Exceptional items 6 (2.6) (9.4) {0 6) 01 (12 5)
Total reportable segment profit/{loss) 15.8 6.1 134 (5.7) 296
Unallocated amounts
Acquisitron related costs (01)
Acquired intangible asset amortisation (14 8)
Goodwill impairment 14 (3 8)
Share-based payment 31 {08)
OPERATING PROFIT 101
Finance income o4
Finance costs (05)
Share of loss of associate o4
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 9.6
OTHER INFORMATION
Product development 607 39.2 18.4 - 118 3
Expenditure on intangibles 14 - 0.9 21 - 30
Expenditure on property, plant and equipment 15 165 9.3 07 - 265
Intangible asset amortisation — other - 1.1 - - 11
Depreciation 15 101 136 11 02 250
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4 OPERATING SEGMENTS CONTINUED

2014
$ milion
Wireless
Networks & & Service Service
Notes Applications Expernence Assurance Corporate Total
REVENUE
External revenue 2215 1786 571 - 457 2
There were no Inter-segment sales
PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Total reportable segment profit/{loss) before exceptional tems 76 240 207 {63) 460
Exceptional items 6 (23 (09) ©2) (O] (4 1)
Total reportable segment profit/{loss) 53 231 205 (70) 419
Unallocated amounts
Acquisition related costs (38
Acquired intangible asset amortisation (127)
impairment of intangible R&D asset 14 (10
Share-based payment N 07
OPERATING PROFIT 237
Finance income 04
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 241
OTHER INFORMATION
Product development g 7 432 125 - 1154
Expenditure on intangibles 14 10 301 615 - 926
Expenditure on property, plant and equipment 15 169 126 472 01 338
Intangible asset amortisation — other - 13 - - 13
Depreciation 15 97 89 co 02 197
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION
2015 2014
$ milllon $ milion
REVENUE BY MARKET
Americas 268 1 2450
Asta Pacific 1482 1425
Europe Middle East and Africa 608 697
477 1 457 2
Europe, Middle East and Africa includes United Kingdom revenue of $76 milhion {2014 $11 6 million)
Americas includes United States revenue of $254 9 milhon {2014 $233 2 million)
Asia Pacific includes China revenue of $82 1 milion (2014 $70 9@ million)
Revenues are attributed to ¢ountnes based on customer !ocation
2015 2014
$ million $ million
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Americas 2587 2633
Asia Pacific 5.8 87
Europe Middle East and Africa 38.2 535
302.7 3255

Europe, Middle East and Africa includes United Kingdem non-current assets of $2 O million (2014 $2 3 million)
Americas includes Urited States non-current assets of $258 8 milhon (2014 $263 3 million)
No one custemer accounted for 10 per cent or more of total Group revenue in either 2015 or 2014
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

S PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The following items have been charged or (credited) in arnving at profit before tax and are disclosed for continuing and
discontinued operations

2015 2014
Notes  $million $ million
Employee benefit costs 9 225.6 2119
Costs of inventeornies recognised as an expense 92.9 913
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 19 0.7 08
Amortisation of intangible assets 14 15.9 140
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Owned assets 15 25.0 197
Operating leases
Minimum lease payments o4 90
Product development costs 118.3 1154
Net foreign exchange gain 16) (11)
Services provided to all of the operations of the Group by the auditor Ernst & Young LLP and Its associates 2015 So14

$ mitlion $ milion

AUDIT SERVICES

Group audit fee 0.9 09

Audit of subsidianies 0.1 (o]

Total audit fee 1.0 10

OTHER FEES TO AUDITORS

Other assurance services - 01

Taxation advisory services 0.1 01
0.1 02
1.1 12

A description of the work of the Audit Commuttee 15 st out 1n the Audit Committee report on pages 50 to 54 and includes an explanation
of how auditor objectivity and independence Is safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by the auditor

6. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
2015 2014
$ million % milhen
Expense of cost reduction actions in response t¢ market changes 125 -
Reorganisabion in response to market changes - 41
125 41

In 2015 as a result of changes in the wireless device test and carner acceptance market Spirent undertook targeted cost reduction
actions in order to protect profitability The most significant action taken was to outscurce engineering services in the Wireless &
Service Expernence operating segment to provide a more cost effective and flexible resource for the future The cost reduction actions
compnsed employee severance of $6 9 million, accelerated amortisation charged on property plant and equipment of $3 7 million,
outsourcing fees of $17 milion lease provision an vacant space of $0 S million and other costs of $0 3 milllon Exceptional items
charged in 2015 are net of provision releases of $0 6 milion from 2014

In 2014, following dynamic changes In Spirent’s markets and the need to ensure the Group was Investing In the right areas to maximise
its potential, Spirent undertook a senes of steps to reatlocate resources In its worldwide operations

The tax effect of exceptional items 1s a credit of $4 2 million (2014 $1 2 million) The total cash outflow in respect of exceptional ilems
charged in 2015 s anticipated to be $8 8 milllon with $1 8 million actually paid in the year (2014 $3 3 milllon)

7 FINANCE INCOME

2015 2014
$ miltion % milion
Bank interest recevable 04 04
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8. FINANCE COSTS

2015 2014

Note  $ milllon % million

Net defined benefit pension plan interest 10 0.5 -

9 EMPLOYEES

The average number of people employed by the Group duning the year was

2015 2014

Number Number

Manufacturing 360 356

Product development 677 705

Selling and distribution 515 461

Administration 202 205

1,754 1727

Employee benefit costs were

2015 2014

Note  $milllon $ mitlion

Remuneration 2004 1858
Social security costs 163 170
Pensicn and other related costs 81 76
Expense of share-based payment 31 o8 Q7

2256 2111

Please refer to the Report on directors remuneratton on pages 55 to 72 and note 34 for disclosures relating to the emoluments,
share Incentives and penslons of the directors

10 PENSIONS

DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

i) Characteristics and risks associated with the Plans

The Group sponsors two funded defined benefit pension plans in the United Kingdom the Spirent Communications plc Staff Pension &
Life Assurance Plan (“Staff Plan™) and the Spirent Communications plc Retirement Cash & Life Assurance Pian (“Cash Plan®) These plans
are funded and have full UK HM Revenue & Customs ("HMRC") tax-exempt approval Both schemes are administered by a trustee board
which Is comprnised of representatives from the employer, member nominated trustees and an independent trustee The trusiee board
operates (n accordance with the Trust Deed and Rules of each Plan and acts in the interests of all of its members

The Staff Plan 1s the Group s most significant plen and it provides its members with retirement benefits based on therr final salary
and length of service The Staff Plan was closed to new entrants on 1 October 2002

« The Cash Plan 1s primarily a defined contnibution arrangement, although there are some legacy defined benefits (*Old Section™
that have been valued for the purpose of these accounts in accordance with IAS 19 Members who left service before 1992

are entltled to a cash lump sum on retirement that is based on thelr salary and length of service Members of the Old Section

are entltled to deflned contribution benefits, but with an underpin based on salary and length of service

There is also a United Kingdom unfunded plan which consists of a contractual obligation for the Group to top up certain former
employees benefils whose salaries exceeded the statutory earnings cap

As with the vast majonty of similar arrangements in the United Kingdom, the Group ultimately underwrites the nisks relating to the
defined benefit plans These nisks include investment risks and demographic risks, such as the risks of members iving longer
than expected

The plans hold a significant propertion of their assets in equity Strong future equity returns would be expected 1o reduce the Group's
future cash contnbutions (and vice versa)

Expected contributions to the defined benefit plans in 2016 are $7 6 milion This includes the contributions agreed with the funded
plans trustees in accordance with UK legislation Following the tnennial valuations as at 1 April 2012 the Group has agreed to pay
the following centributions in order to clear the funding deficit as assessed by the trustees’ independent actuary

- Staff Plan $3 9 million per annum from 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2049, plus a further contnbution of up to $3 7 milion by July 2016
if the plan remalns in deflcit
« Cash Plan $0 3 milhon per annum from 1 July 2013 to 31 March 2015

The latest tnenmal valuations as at 1 April 2015 are 1n the process of being finalised
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

10 PENSIONS CONTINUED
If the contnbutions currently agreed are insufficient to pay the benefits due, the Group will need to make further contributions

ii) Amounts in the financial statements
The assets and liabliities on the balance sheet are as follows

2015 2014
$ milllon % milign
ASSETS

UK defined benefit pension plan — Cash Pian 12 08

LIABILITIES
UK defined benefit pension plan — Staff Plan {20 3) {14 5)
UK unfunded plan {07) (O B)
{24 0) {15 3)

For the purposes of the following disclosures the Staff Plan and Cash Plan have been combined as the Cash Plan 1s )immatenal to these
financlal statements

a) The assets and liabilities 1n each plan

2015 2014
$ million % million
STAFF PLAN
Quoted
Equities 62.3 760
Government bonds 46 -
Unguoted
LDl funds 262 393
Cash benchmarked bonds 894 1089
Corporate bonds 33 -
Hedge funds 234 -
Insured annuities 4.1 53
Property 16 150
Cash and other 302 227
Fair value of plan assets 245 1 267 2
Present value of defined benefit pension plan obligations {265 4) (2817
DEFICIT IN THE PLAN ON THE BALANCE SHEET (20 3) {14 5}
CASH PLAN
Quoted
Equities 43 45
Government bonds a1 44
Unguoted
Insured annurties 0.2 03
Cash and other 2.8 3
Farr value of plan assets 1.4 123
Present value of defined benefit pension plan obligations {10.2) {11 5)
SURPLUS IN THE PLAN ON THE BALANCE SHEET 1.2 08

The plans are prchibited from investing in Spirent s own financial Instruments

The fair values of the gquoted equity and debt instruments are determined based on quoted market psices in active markets whereas
the falr values of the other assets are not
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10. PENSIONS CONTINUED
b) Analysis of the amounts charged to the income statement

2015 20014
$ millon $ milion
Plan agdmunistration expenses 0.8 07
Current service cost 02 02
AMOUNT CHARGED TO OPERATING COSTS 10 09
NET INTEREST ON THE NET DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION LIABILITY [+] -
NET CHARGE TO THE INCOME STATEMENT 1.5 09
c) Analysis of amount recogmised directly in the statement of comprehensive income
2015 2014
$ milllon % million
Re-measurement (losses)/gans on plans assets {(10.9) 163
Actuanal {loss)fgain ansing from expernence (5.5) o8
Actuarial gainf{loss) ansing from changes in financial assumptions 72 (331)
RE-MEASUREMENT OF THE NET DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION LIABILITY {9.2) {16 0)
d) Movements in the present value of funded defined benefit obligations
2015 2014
$ million $ milton
At1January 293.2 2800
Current service cost 0.2 02
Interest cost 10.3 122
Benefit payments {11.5) (12 9)
Actuanal loss/{gan) ansing from experience 85 08
Actuanal {gam)/less ansing from ¢changes in financial assumptions {(7.2) 331
Exchange adjustment {14.9}) {18 6)
PRESENT VALUE OF FUNDED DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS' OBLIGATIONS 275.6 2932
) Movements in the fair value of plans’ assets
2015 2014
$ million $ milhon
At1January 2795 2775
Interest Income ¢on plans’ assets 98 122
Employer contributions 43 48
Benefit payments (115) (129
Plan administration expenses (08) 07
Re-measurement {loss)/gain on plans’ assets (109) 163
Exchange adjustment 13 9) (17 7)
FAIR VALUE OF PLANS' ASSETS 2565 2795
f) The key financial assumptions
The assumptions used for both plans using a weighted average were as follows
2015 2014
% %
Inflation — RPI 29 29
Inflation — CPi 18 18
Rate of increase in pensionable salaries 3.0 30
Rate of increase for pensions in payment pre 2001 service 36 36
Rate of increase for pensions m payment 200110 5 Apri 2005 service 2.8 28
Rate of increase for pensions post 5 Apnl 2005 service 20 20
Rate of increase in deferred pensions 1.8 18
Rate used to discount plan liabilities 3.8 36
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

10 PENSIONS CONTINUED

The mortality assumptions are based on standard mortality tables which allow for future mertality improvements The assumptions are
such that a member currently aged 65 {2014 aged 65) will live on average for a further 23 6 years (2014 23 5 years) If they are male and
for a further 25 8 years (2014 25 7 years) if they are female For a member who retires in 2035 (2014 in 2034) at age 65 {2014 age 65) the
assumptions are that they will live on average for a further 24 5 years (2014 24 4 years) after retirement if they are male and for a further
26 Y years (2014 26 8 years) after retirement If they are female

i) Amount, timing and uncertainty of future cash flows
The approximate impact to the past service liabihitles of changing these main assumptions 15 as follows

« Reducing the discount rate by Q1 per cent per annum would increase past service labilities by $3 8 million {2014 $4 1 million)

+ Increasing RPIinflation by O 1 per cent would increase the plans’ labilities by $1 3 milion {2014 $17 mullion)

- Increasing the life expectancy of a member by one year (by modifying the standard mortalily tables using an appropnate scaling
factor) would Increase past service liabilities by $11 0 million {2014 $117 milllon)

There will also be an Impact on the fulure service cost but given the small active population in these plans this Is likely to be Insignificant

The sensiuvity figures have been calculated to show the movement In the defined benefit obhgation for each assumption change In
isolatlon, and assuming no other changes in market condltions at the accounting date and may not be representative of the actual
change as the changes in assumptions may not occur In isolation

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation i1s 15 years (2014 15 years)

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

United Kingdom

The Group maintains defined contribution pension plans for employees in the United Kingdom Employer contributions into these plans
for 2015 were $1 0 milion (2014 $1 2 milhon)

United States

The Group maintains a defined contnibution pension plan for employees of its United States subsidianes This plan also known as

a 401(k) Plan, allows employees to defer a percentage of their salary for retirement The investment choices offered by the plan are

a selection of diversified mutual funds offering a bread mix of Investment return potential with varying fevels of rlsk In aggregate,
the Group's contributions to the US plan totalled $4 2 milllon for 2015 (2014 $3 7 million) Total assets In the defined contiibution plan
at the end of 2015 were $221 8 million (2014 $222 5 milllon) There were no defined benefit plans in the United $tates In 2015 or 2014

Other jurisdictions

Qutside the United Kingdom and the United States employees are provided wilth pension arrangements determined in accerdance with
approved local practice and regulations These arrangements are defined contribution plans Total employer contributions for 2015 in
respect of these plans amounted to $1 3 milion (2014 $1 2 million)

Total employer contributions to defined contributlon plans were $6 S million (2014 $6 1 million)

Dlirectors’ pension arrangements
The pension arrangements of the executive directors are described in detail in the Report on directors’ remuneration on pages 55to 72

" TAX
2015 2014

$ million $ million
Tax charge in the income statement
CURRENT INCOME TAX
UK tax 0.3 (¢
Foreign tax 4.8 38
Amounts overprovided in previous years (3.8) (14)
Total current income tax charge 1.3 25
DEFERRED TAX
Recognition of deferred tax assets o7 [le]2)]
Reversal of temporary differences (20) 20
Adjustments in respect of prior years (25) C4)
Total deferred tax {credit)/charge (5.2) 10
TAX (CREDIT)/CHARGE IN THE INCOME STATEMENT (39) 35
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11 TAX CONTINUED

The tax credit for the year ended 31 December 2015 was $3 9 million (2014 $3 5 million charge) This was afier a prior year lax credit of
$6 3 million (2014 $1 8 million credit) resulting from the reassessment of tax provisions far previous years Excluding the prior year tax
credit the effective tax rate was 25 0 per cent (2014 22 O per cent)

Tax relating to nems charged/(credited) to other comprehensive income or equily

2015 2014

$ million $ million

Deferred tax on share incentives (01) 02

Current tax on share incentives - ©1)
Tax {creditycharge on share incentives (0.1) 01

Deferred tax on defined benefit pension plan (1.8) (33)

RECONCILIATION OF THE TOTAL TAX CHARGE
The tax expense in the income statement for the year 1s lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20 25 per cent
(2014 lower and 215 per cent) The differences are reconciled below

2015 2014
$ million % milion
Accounting profit before tax 96 241
Accounting profit multiphed by the UK standard rate of corporation tax of 20 25 per cent (2014 215 per cent) 19 52
Share-based payment {0 1) Q1
Differences In overseas rates and other adjustments 13 20
Tax overprovided In prior years {6 3) (18)
Recognition of deferred tax assets o7 {0 6)
US Research and Experimental tax credit (14) {14)
Withholding tax 14 -
TOTAL TAX (CREDIT)/CHARGE REPORTED IN THE INCOME STATEMENT (39) 35

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE

BASIC

Earnings per share i1s calculated by dividing the profit for the year attnbutable 10 owners of the parent Company by the weighted
average number of Ordinary Shares outstanding during the year

DILUTED

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent Company by the weighted
average number of Ordinary Shares outstanding during the year plus the welghted average number of Ordinary Shares that would be
1ssued on the conversion of all dilutive potential Ordinary Shares into Ordinary Shares

2015 2004
$ mitlion $ million
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY 133 205

Number Number

million million
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in 1ssue — basic 6105 6112
Diutive potential of employee share incentives 17 15
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares inissue — diluted 6122 6127

Cents Cents
EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic 218 335
Diluted 217 335
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE CONTINUED
ADJUSTED

The Group 1s disclosing adjusted earmings per share for continuing operations attributable to owners of the parent Company 1n order
to provide a measure 1o enable period-on-penod comparisons to be made of its performance The following items are excluded from

adjusted earnings

« exceptional items

= acquistion related costs

- acquired intangible asset amortisation and impairment
« goodwill impairment

- share-based paymeni

+ tax effect on the above items

« prior year tax

A reconciliation Is provided below

2015 2014
EPS EPS
Notes $ million cents $ mubon cents
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT
COMPANY 13.3 218 205 335
Exceptional tems 6 125 41
Acquisition related costs 0.1 38
Acquired intangtble asset amortisation and impairment 14.8 137
Geoodwiil iImpairment 14 3.8 -
Share-based payment 3 o8 07
Tax effect on the above items (8 5) (54)
Prior year tax credad 11 (6.3) (18)
ADJUSTED BASIC 305 500 356 582
ADJUSTED DILUTED 498 581

There were no Ordinary Share transactions that occurred after 31 December that would have significantly changed the number of
Ordinary Shares or potentual Ordinary Shares outstanding at the period end (f those transactions had occurred before the end of the

reporting period in either year

13. DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED

2015 2014
% million % million
DECLARED AND PAID IN THE YEAR
EQUITY DIVIDEND ON ORDINARY SHARES
Final dividend paic for the year ended 31 December 2014 of 2 21 cents {143 pence) per
Qrdinary Share (31 December 2013 2 01 cents {1 20 pence)) 134 123
Interm dividerd 2015 1 68 cents {1 08 pence) per Ordinary Share (2014 168 cents (0 99 pence)) 101 99
235 222
PROPOSED FOR APPROVAL AT AGM (NOT RECOGNISED AS A LIABILITY AT 31 DECEMBER)
EQUITY DIVIDEND ON ORDINARY SHARES
Ftnal dividend 2015 2 21 cents (1 59 pence) per Ordinary Share {2014 2 21 cents (143 pence)) 134 134

The directors are proposing a final dvidend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2015 of 2 21 cents per Ordinary Share
{159 pence) (2014 2 21 cents (1 43 pence)), which will absorb an estimated $13 4 million of shareholders’ funds (2014 $13 4 million) It will
be paid on 6 May 2016 to Ordinary shareholders who are on the Register of Members at close of business on 4 March 2016 Payment

will be made to ADR halders on 16 May 2016 No liabllity is recorded in the financlal statements in respect of this final dividend

Dividends are determtned in US dollars and paid 1n pounds sterling The exchange rate for determining the amount of the final dvidend

to be paid for 2015 was $139 £1(2014 $i 55£1)
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14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

$ milhon
Non-
Customer Current R&D Brand  compete
Note Goodwill st technology asset  Database names  cavenant Licences Tatal

COST,NET OF

ACCUMULATED

AMORTISATION AND

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
AT 1 JANUARY 2014 1690 77 167 - 13 12 - 29 1988
Acquisitions 566 102 193 10 29 09 11 - 920
Additions - - - - - - - 06 06
Impairment - - - {10 - - - - (10
Amartisation for the year - (38) 72 - (11) (05) o1 (13) (14 0)
Exchange adjustment (24) 01) 04 - ©2) - - - 31
AT 1 JANUARY 2015 223.2 140 28 4 - 29 16 10 2.2 273.3
Acquisitions 33 1.3 02 05 - - o1 - - 21
Additions - - - - - - - 09 09
Impairment (3.8) - - - - - - - (3.8)
Amortisation for the year - {5 1) (8 3) - (0.6) {05} {03) 11 {15.9)
Exchange adjustment (38) (0.3) (0.6} - {0.3) - - - (5 0)
AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 2169 88 200 - 2.0 12 0.7 20 251.6
AT 31 DECEMBER 2014
Cost (gross

carrying amount) 6271 213 442 10 53 26 11 19 7145
Amortisation

and accumulated

impairment losses (403 9) (73 {15 8) (10 (2 4) (10 1) 97 (441 2)
Net carrying amount 2232 140 28 4 - 29 16 10 22 2733
AT 31 DECEMBER 2015
Cost (gross

carrylng amount) 6234 21.2 44 1 10 5.0 27 11 128 7113
Amortisation

and accumulated

impairment losses (406 5) (12.4) {24 1) (10) (3.0) (1.5) (0 4) {10.8) (4597)
Net carrying amount 216.9 8.8 200 - 2.0 12 0.7 2.0 2516

AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

Goodwill s allocated at acquisiion to the cash generating units {"CGUs") that are expected to benefit from that business combination

The Group identfies CGUs at the lowest level at which cash flows are largely independent of other cash flows

105

Spirent Communications pic Annual Repert 2015

LY0OdIY JIDILVHLS

IONVNEIAOD

SLINIWILYLS TVIDONVNIH

NOWYWHO-NT 43HLO




Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

14 INTANG!BLE ASSETS CONTINUED
Goodwill has been allocated to seven CGUs as follows

2015 204
$ million $ million
Networks & Applications an operating segment 853 850
Wireless & Positioning, product ines within the Wireless & Service Experience operating segment 56.2 515
Service Expenence & Service Assurance Broadband product ines within the Wireless & Service Experience
and Service Assurance operating segments 309 309
Testing Technologies, a product line within the Wireless & Service Experience operating segment - 21
Developer Tools, a product kine within the Wireless & Service Expenence operating segmeni 13.3 190
Customer Expernience Management a product line within the Service Assurance operating segment 23.8 238
Device Intelligence, a product line within the Service Assurance operating segment 6.1 109
Epitiro Group Limited, a product line within the Service Assurance operating segment 1.3 -

216.9 2232

The Testing Technologtes product line is no longer a separate CGU because following 1ts integration into the Networks & Applications
operating segment separately I[dentifiable cash flows are no longer available

The Service Experience product ine has been combined with the Service Assurance Broadband Iine of business and therefore 1s no
longer a separate CGU as separately identifiable cash flows are no longer avallable

$5 7 milon of goodwilf has been reallocated from the Developer Tools CGU to the Wireless & Positioning CGU on the basis of the
relative falr values at the date of transition fellowing the integration of a specific technology inte the Wireless product portfeho

ANNUAL IMPAIRMENT TEST
Spirent engaged an external professional firm to perform an independent valuation of the CGUs on a value in use basis as at 30
November 2015 (annual impairment testing date) The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations were

= revenue growtn rates

= gross margin,

» operating expenses,

« discountrate and

= growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the five-year penod covered by management’s projections

The cash flows are derived from the most recent financial budgets for the next financial year, as approved by the Board, and the Group s
three-year strategic plan Cash flows for years four and five are then extrapolated based on long range plans Cash flows in subsequent
years have heen extrapolated using a sieady 2 5 per cent for all CGUs (2014 2 0 per cent for Developer Tools and 2 75 per cent for

all other CGUs}, which management estimates to be the approximate average long term growth rate for the Industries in which these
units operate Fundamentally this long term growth 1s based on a proxy for global long term inflation taking into consideration more
developed and developing markets The growth rates used in the value in use calculations are sel at the same level for each CGU as all
the CGUs operate within similar markets which share the same growth dnivers and charactenstics The discount rates incorporate the
specific risks relating to each CGU

The discount rate apphied to the cash flows 1s based on the weighted average ¢ost of capital of comparable companies by taking the rnisk
free rate for 30-year government bonds and making an adjustment to reflect the increased risk of investing in equities In making this
adjustment, the inputs required are the eguity market sk premium beta and the nsk adjustment applied 1o reflect the systematic risk
of Spirent and the specific CGUs, taking Into account factors such as size and the territories in which each CGU cperates

The cash flows have been discounted using the following pre-tax discount rates

2015 2014

% %

Networks & Applications 14.8 143
Wireless & Positioning 149 145
Service Expenence & Service Assurance Broadband 17.1 171
Testing Technologies - 147
Developer Tools 14.2 135
Customer Expenence Management 17.8 175
Dewvice Intelligence 16.1 160
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14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONTINUED

For Spuent the key factor in the cash flow forecasts 1s the ability to forecast revenue All CGUs operate in the data technology market
and generate a high gross profit (gross margm), cansequently changes in revenue can have a significantimpact on the operatng profit
and cash flows Revenue growth rates used in the projections are based on management s estimate of growth in the markets served
and take into account histeric levels of growth expected future developments in products and technology, industry forecasts and
macro-economic conditions in the territonies in which the CGUs operate Gross margin and operating expenses are based on histarical
values adjusted for the effect of revenue growth, recent acquisitions and cost reduction actions committed prior to year end

Networks & Applications and Customer Experience Management product ine revenues are expected to continue to grow driven by
demand for high speed Ethernet, ¢loud and virtualisation, mobtility infrastructure and application security product offerings, and in the
case of Customer Expenence Management the roll-out of the InTouch CNA platform The Wireless product line has expengnced a
decline in revenues and profit due to a change in demand for smartphone development and validation testing As such the forecasts
have been downgraded compared to the prlor year and cost reductlon actlons have been implemented In the mid term the beneflt from
new opportunities presented by 10T connectivity begins to deliver incremental revenue and profit The Posiioning product ine revenue
15 expected lo experience continued steady growth in existing core markets with incremental growth from addressing GNSS
vulnerablilies Management expects that Service Experience & Service Assurance Broadband revenue will decrease in 2016 due to the
fact that significant one off revenue from 2015 will not repeat Driven by new ecosystem opportunities Service Experience & Service
Assurance Broadband revenue Is expected to Increase [n 2017 and 2018 and margins are expected to improve due to operational
leverage combined with continued costs management

The recoverable amount of each CGU was calculated on a value 1n use basis and was in excess of its carrying value for every CGU,
except Device Intelligence, a product ine within the Service Assurance operating segment Consequently, an impairment loss of

$3 8 million has been recognised for the Device Intelligence CGU and relates solely to goodwilll No impairment loss was recognised for
the other CGUs The impairment charge was dnven by lower projected cash flows within the Device Intelligence business plan resuiting
In our reassessment of expected future business performance in the light of current trading and economic conditions The imparrment
loss has been recognised in the consolidated income statement within administration expenses As the Networks & Applications CGU
satisfied the carry forward critena as per IAS 36, no detalled value in use calculation was undertaken for this CGU

The acquisition of Epitiro Group Limited was completed just prior to the year end and therefore the amount paid is provisionally considered
to be reflective of the CGU s fair value less costs of disposal As such no impairment testing was completed for the Epitiro CGU

Sensitivity to changes In key assumptions

The directors believe that no reasonable possible change In any of the key assumptions used In isolation would cause the value
in use of the Networks & Applications, Wireless & Positioning, Service Experience & Service Assurance Broadband and Customer
Expenence Management CGUs to fall below carrying value

The headroom on the Developer Tools CGU was $2 2 million

The Developer Tools CGU offers a complete test suite for voice and video over IP communications including VoLTE The forecasts
have been updated to reflect changes in the CGU’s operating and reporting structure, as well as developing changes in product mix
and related development strategy ExIsting revenue streams are expected to benefit from prior investment and the development of
new channels as well as growth In the markets served and there |s expected to be revenue growth as a result of the loT Initiative
Trading margins are expected to improve due to changes mn revenue streams that do not require significant iIncremental costs

Sensitivity analysts around the key assumptions has indicated that for the Developer Tools CGU, the following changes in assumptions
in isclation, would cause the value 1n use to fall below the carrying value
Year ended 31 December 2015
change required to tngger imparment

DEVELOFPER TOOLS

Forecast revenue’ 14 S% decrease
Long term growth rate No reasonable change
Discount rate 1 4 percentage polnt increase to 15 6%
Note

1 Cumulative effect of a decrease in revenue in year one and continuing to apply the forecast growth rates to subsequent years

The Device Inteligence CGU 15 a mobile device management business, which sells mobile carners a system that helps smartphone
subscnbers optimally connect onto data networks The business has not delivered on the expected forecasts cutlined at acquisition
as a result of difficult trading conditions and changes in markets and consequently the forecasts for the core business have been
revised down The business s expected to benefit from the MVNO element of revenue and growth from loT

The estimated recoverable amount of the Device Inteligence CGU after the $3 8 mithon impairment loss s equal to Its canrying value of
$10 5 million Consequently, any adverse change In key assumptions wou!d in isolation cause a further imparrment loss to be recognised
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONTINUED
The changes in the following table to assumptions used in the impairment review would, in 1solation lead to an {increase)/decrease
10 the aggregate impairment loss recognised in the year ended 31 December 2015

Year ended 31 December 2015

Increase Impact Decrease Impact
by % $ million by% % million

DEVICE INTELLIGENCE
Forecast revenue’ 10 o9 10 08)
Leng term growth rate? 2 18 2 {12)
Discount rate? 2 17 2 23

Note
1 Cumulative effect of an increase/decrease in revenue in year 1 by 10 per cent and continuing to apply the forecast growth rates 10 subsequent years
2 Cumulative effect of an increasefdecrease of 2 per cent in the stated assumption on the aggregate impairment loss recognised in the year

Intangible asset Impalrment
Year ended 31 December 2015
There was no imparrment loss 1n respect of the other intangible assets

Year ended 31 December 2014

Anantangible asset impairment charge of $1 0 milion was incurred m respect of the R&D asset ansing on the acquisition of NetGend
The asset had been acquired at a pre-production stage and, although the Intention was 1o use this technology to enhance Spirent's
solutions, the extent and the means by which this would be achleved had not been determined at 31 December 2014, resulting In an
imparrment charge Following this impairment the recoverable amount of NetGend was nil

The impairment charge was expensed to administrative expenses in the iIncome statement

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

$million
Fixtures
Landand  Plantand fittings and
buldings machinery equipment Total
COST, NET OF ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT
AT 1 JANUARY 2014 23 289 84 396
Addiions
Cwned assets 110 17 1 57 338
Disposals - (12 - (12)
Acquisitions - (o] 01 02
Bepreciation charge for the year (13) {14 1) 43) (197)
Exchange adjustment ©1 ©4 - {05)
AT 1 JANUARY 2015 119 304 99 522
Additions
Owned assets 60 169 36 265
Disposals - {1.6) (0 5) (2 1)
Inter-class transfers - (1.4) 14 -
Depreciation charge for the year {(1.9) (18.3) (4 8) (25 0)
Exchange adjustment (0.1) (03) (0.1) (0.5)
AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 15.9 257 95 51.1
AT 31 DECEMBER 2014
Cost 226 916 479 1621
Accumulated deprecialion and accumulated impairment (107) {612} {38 0} (109 9)
Net carrying amount 119 304 99 522
AT 31 DECEMBER 2015
Cost 24.5 945 49.2 168.2
Accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment {B.6) (68 B) (39.7) (117.1)
Net carrying amount 15.9 257 95 51.1

Nane of the property, plant and equipment s held under finance lease arrangements
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16 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE
2015
% million

Carrying amount for Jolata, Inc 4.6

Jolata, Inc ("Jolata™) 1s a company incorporated mn the US and its principal activity is the provision of network testing

Jolata 15 considered an assoclate as the Group controls 28 per cent of the voting power and therefore has significant influence over
the antity

The following table summarises the financial iInformation of Jolata as included n 1its own financial statements, adjusted for fair value
adjustments at acquisition and differences 1n accounting policies

2015

$ million
Non-current assets 0.4
Current assets 38
Current habilhties (0.9)
The above amounts of assets and habiliies inciude the following
Cash and cash equivatents 34
Net assels (100%) 34
Spirent s ownershtp interest 28%
Group's share of net assets 10
Acquisition fair value and other adjustments 36
Carrying amaunt of interest In associate 46
Summarised profit and loss in respect of Jolata reflecting 100% of the relevant
figures for the penod post acquisition, is set out below
Revenue -
Total comprehensive iIncome {100%) {1 6)
Group s share of total comprehensive ncome (0 4)

17 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group had capital commitments of $2 O million at 31 December 2015 (31 December 2014 $3 1 million)

The Group has provided mndemnities of $0 1 milhon (2014 $0 1 million) for certan ongeing business obligations under letters of credit
for subsidiary comparies

The Group has provided guarantees totalling $16 million (Euro 14 milion) {2014 $1 7 million (Eurc 14 million)) in respect of the minimum
consicgeration for the acquisition of minority shareholdings in Testing Technologies IST GmbH and which expire on 31 March 2016
{see note 25)

18 SUBSIDIARIES
A list of subsidiaries including the name, country of incorporation and proportion of ownership inierest is given on page 137 of these
financial statements

19 INVENTORIES

2015 2014

$ million $ milion

Raw materials 8.9 65
Work in progress 11 09
Finished goods 129 191
229 265

An expense of $07 million (2014 $0 8 milllon) has been recognised In the year for inventory wrte-downs There were no reversals
of prior perlod inventory write-downs {2014 nil)

No inventones are carried at faiy value less costs to sell (2014 nil)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2015 2014
$ million $ million

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Trade receivables o1 -
Other recevables 40 38
Prepayments accrued income and deferred cosls 02 04
4.3 42
CURRENT ASSETS
Trade recelvabtes 1111 1078
Other receivables 53 49
Prepayments, accrued income and deferred costs 116 102

1280 1229

1323 1271

The trade recevables are stated net of provisions for doubtful debts The movement in the provision was as follows

2015 2014

$ millien $ milion

AT 1 JANUARY 11 10
Charge for the year 07 03

Released In the year (04) {02)
AT 31 DECEMBER 14 11

The directors consider that the ¢arrying amount of trade and other recelvables approximates to their fair value

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk attributable to its trade recevables as the exposure I1s spread over a large
number of customers

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2018 2014

$ miliion $ million

Cash at bank and in hand 97.0 94 8
Short term bank deposits 5.0 50
102.0 998

Cash at bank and i hand earns interest at floating interest rates Of this balance $5 0 milhen {2014 $5 O milllon) is callable at notice
of between seven and 35 days

Short term bank deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the cash requirements
of the Group and earn interest at the shori term deposit rates appropriate for the term of the deposit and currency

At the end of 2015 the currency split of cash and cash equivalents was US dollar 60 per cent (2014 57 per cent), sterling 28 per cent
(2014 30 per cent) and other currencies 12 per cent {2014 13 per cent)

For the purposes of the cash flow statement cash and cash equivalents comprise the above amounts

2015 2014
$ miliion $ million

NON-CURRENT
Cash on deposit o1 -

At 31 December 2015 $0 1 mitlon of cash was held as a property deposit
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES — CURRENT

2015 2014

$ million % mitlion

Trade payables 15.7 178
Payments received on account 1.3 12
Other taxes and social secunty costs 31 39
Accruals 430 402
Deferred income 603 641

123 4 127 2

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 {o 60 day terms Other payables are non-interest bearing
The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fairr value

23 DEFERRED TAX
The movements In the deferred tax assets/{llabilities) are as follows

% million
Temporary Tax Tax UK pension
Notes differences losses credits plans Total

AT 1 JANUARY 2014 14 162 - 07 183
Charged/ficredited) in the year 11 29 (31) — {08) (10)
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension plan 11 - - - 33 33
Deferred tax on share incentives recognised in equity 11 €2} - — - 32
Acquisitions 33 23) - - - 23
Exchange adjustment 01 01 - {03) ©1)
AT 1 JANUARY 2015 1.9 132 - 29 180
Charged/{crediied) i the year 11 4.1 (0 3) 20 {0 6) 52
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension plan 11 - - - 18 18
Deferred tax on share incentives recognised In equily 11 0.1 - - - 01
Acquisitions 33 (0.1) Q.1 - - -
Exchange adjustment - - - {0.1) (0.1)
AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 60 13.0 2.0 4.0 250
Amounts on the balance sheet
AT 31 DECEMBER 2014
Deferred tax asset 44 132 - 29 205
Deferred tax habihty {25) - - - {2 5)

19 132 - 29 180
AT 31 DECEMBER 2015
Deferred tax asset 7.9 117 20 4.0 256
Deferred tax hability {1.9) 1.3 - - (0 6)

6.0 130 20 40 250

A deferred tax asset of $25 6 million has been recognised at 31 December 2015 (2014 $20 5 milhon) $6 8 million 1s 1In the United
Kingdom (2014 $6 4 milllon) $17 7 million s In the United States (2014 $13 0 mililon) and $11 milllon Is in the rest of the world
{2014 $1 1 mlllion)

The deferred tax asset includes $0 6 milhon {2014 $0 4 milhion) in respect of the tax deduction which may be available on the future
exercise of share incentives

Defetred tax assels on temporary differences and tax losses/credits of $13 5 million {2014 $5 8 millign) have not been recognised
$8 9 million Is In the Unlted States (2014 nll) and $4 & milllon Is In the rest of the world (2014 $5 8 million)

The Group has tax losses ansing in the United Kingdom of $47 2 million (2014 $56 4 million) that are available for offset against suitable
future taxable profits A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of these losses as thelr future recovery is uncertain
United Kingdom tax losses can be carned forward indefinitely United States tax losses and credits can be carnied forward until 2021
through 2035 In total deferred tax assets amounting to $22 0 million {2014 $17 1 milllon) have not heen recognised

The Group also has capital iosses carned forward of $1,218 5 mullion {2014 $1 284 3 million) for which no deferred tax asset has been
recognised on the balance sheet These capital losses have no expiry date
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

23. DEFERRED TAX CONTINUED
FUTURE CHANGES IN TAX RATES
The UK current tax rate was reduced from 21 per cent to 20 per cent with effect from 1 Apnl 2015 In the Budget on 8 July 2015

the Chancellor announced additional planned reductions to 18 per cent by 2020 This will reduce the Group’s future current tax

charge accordingly

In line with these rate changes deferred tax assets and liabilities being realised or settled before 2020 have been based on the

existing 20 per cent rate those belng realised or settled after 2020 have been based on a rate of 18 per cent

24 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES — NON-CURRENT

2015 2014
$ milllon $ mdlion
Other payables 1.8 16
Accruals 40 0%
Deferred income 14 4 105
202 126

25 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
2015 2004
$ million $ milhon
Put option 26 27

In relation to the acquisition of Testing Technologies IST GmbH in 2014 the minonty stake of 42 per cent of the share capital is the
subject of a put and call optlon which expires on 31 March 2016 The consideration Is based on the 2015 revenue performance of
Testing Tech and set at a minimum amount of Euro 14 milion The option was exercised in January 2016 which triggered payment

of the mimimum amount with the balance to be paid following agreement of 2015 revenue

A financial hability of Euro 2 4 million (32 6 million) has been recorded to reflect the fair value of the exercise price of the optian,
measured at recurning far value through profit and loss and considered to be categonsed within level 3 as no observable market

data 1s avalable

The fair value of the put option over the non-controlling interest has been measured using discounted cash flows with inputs denved

from the actual financial performance tn accordance with the agreement

26 PROVISIONS

% milhen
Lease Restructuring Other
provisions provisions  provisions Total
AT 1 JANUARY 2014 27 18 19 65
Charged in the year - 41 Q3 44
Asset retirement obligatron 16 - - 16
Released in the year 01 01) - 02)
Utllised in the year 05) (33) - (38)
Exchange difference Q1) - o 02)
AT 1 JANUARY 2015 3.6 2.6 21 8.3
Charged n the year 05 8.8 - 9.3
Asset retirement obligation 0.6 - - o6
Released in the year {0.7) {0 6) (0.4) (17
Utiised in the year {1.1) (37) (0.2) {50)
Exchange difference {0.1) {0 1) - (02)
AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 2.8 70 15 13
2015 2014
$ million $ million
Current 89 67
Non-current 24 16
113 83
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26. PROVISIONS CONTINUED

The lease provisions are for the continuing obligations under leases in respect of properties which have been vacated by the Group and
property dilapidation and restoration provisions Where maternial lease obligations are discounted The Group expects these provisions
to be utiised over one to eight years

Restructuring provisions relate to severance costs and outsourcing fees which are expected to be utilised within one year

Other provisions are mainly environmental provisions related to property disposed of The Group expects these provisions to be utilised
in less than one year

27 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The mamn purpose of the Group s financial instruments other than trade receivables trade payables and provisions, i1s to fund the
Greup's fiquidity requirements

All of the Group s financial assets and liabilities are categorised as loans and receivables and these are shown in the following table

2015 2014
Notes $ million % milion
Loans and Loans and

recelvables recewvables
atamortised at amortised

cost cost
Non-current cash on deposit 21 0.1 —
Non-current trade and other recewables 20 41 38
Cash and cash equivalents 21 102.0 998
Current trade and other receivables 20 116 4 127
Financial assets 222.6 2163
Non-current other payables and accruals 24 5.8 21
Current trade payables and accruals 22 587 580
Other financiat habilties 25 26 27
Provisions 26 113 83
Financial habilities 784 711

The Group enters into denvative transaclions, forward foreign currency exchange contracts for the management of the Group s foreign
currency exposures when deemed appropriate These dervative financial iInstruments are measured at fair value, however, the fair
values at 31 December 2015 and 2014 were immaterial to these accounts

The key objective ¢f the Group’s treasury department 1s 1o manage the financial risks of the business and to ensure that sufficient
hquidity 1s available to the Group All treasury activity operates within a formal control framewark The Board has approved treasury
policies and guidelnes and periodrcally reviews treasury activittes Additionally, it Is the Group s policy that speculative treasury
transactions are expressly forbldden

A) MARKET RISK
The main types of market risk that affect the Group are interest rate risk and exchange rate risk

Interest rate risk
The Group has no external debt and has [tmited exposure to interest rate risk

The Group's excess funds are pnncipally held in the United Kingdom and the United States and invested in on-demand or short term
bank deposits It therefore has some exposure 10 interest rate nsk ansing on changes (n sterling and US dollar interest rates

Cash and cash equivalents, long term cash on deposit and forward foreign currency exchange contracts are the Group's financial
instruments which are exposed to inlerest rate risk
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Notes to the consoldated financial statements continued

27 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FENANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED
Short term bank deposits and forward foreign currency exchange contracts mature within three months The financial iInstruments bear
the following Interest rates

2015 2014
Effective Effective
interest interes!
rate rate
% $million % $ million
FIXED RATE
Fixed deposits 040 50 024 50
FLOATING RATE
Cash at bank and in hand 97.0 948

Inlerest rates on financial Instruments classified as fixed rate are fixed untll the maturity of the instrument All fixed rate deposits mature
within three months after which date they will be exposed to floating rates of interest

Interest recevable for the year was $0 4 million {note 7) {2014 $0 4 mithon) and 15 under the effective interest method

The other financial instruments of the Group that are not included n the above table are non-interest bearing and are therefore not
subject to interest rate risk

A movement of 25 basis points in interest rates based on levels of investment at 31 December 2015 would increase or reduce interest
incame and eguity by $01 million (214 $0 2 miilion)

Exchange rate risk
Currency exposures arise from trading transactions undertaken by the Group in foreign currencies and on the translation of the
operating resulis and net assets of overseas subsidiaries

The Group has the majority of its operations in the United States and presents its consolidated financial statements in US dollars
The Company’s functional currency is sterling and its share capital Is denominated In pounds sterling, the Group also has operations
in Europe and Asla and therefore 1ts results and assets and lisbilities are affected on translation by movements in exchange rates in
relation to the US dollar The Group does not enter into instruments to hedge the translation exposure of the operating results or net
assets of its overseas subsidiaries since these are considered accounting and not cash exposures

The Group undertakes transactions denominated In foreign currencies, consequently exposures 10 exchange rate fluctuations arlse
Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters using forward foreign currency exchange contracts

The maln exposures arise in relatlon to US dollar recelvables and cash balances held by non-US operatlons Group treasury, by means
of forward foreign currency exchange contracts, carrles out transaction hedging A 10 per cent appreclation or depreclation of sterling
and euro against the US dollar would Increase or reduce proflt before tax by $1 2 milllon {2014 $11 milllen) based on the balance at the
reporting dates

B) CREDIT RISK
Investment counterparties are subject to pre-approval by the Board with pre-approved limits set for each bank to avoid any
concentrations of credit risk

The maximum credit exposure at the balance sheet date under financial Instruments in relation 1o cash and bank deposits Is equal
to the carrying value of $102 0 million (2014 $99 8 million)

Trade recelvables, which generally have 30 to 90 day terms, are carrled at original involce amount less an allowance for uncollectable amounts
where appropnate Trade receivable exposures are managed in the business units where they anse Allowance is made for bad and doubtfu
debts based on management s assessment of the risk taking inte account ageing profile, experience and circumstance
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27 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

The Group has no significant concentration of credit nsk attnbutable to i1s trade recewvables as the exposure 1s spread over a large
number of customers with no one customer accounting for more than 10 per cent of total Group revenue The maximum credit exposure
at the balance sheet date in relation to trade receivables 1s equal to the carrying vatue of $1111 million (2014 $107 8 millior)

The composition of trade receivables at 31 December i1s as follows

2015 2014

$ million $ mithon

Neither impalred nor past due 685 682
Past due but not impaired

Less than 30 days overdue 207 205

30 to 60 days 108 79

Over 60 days 111 112

Trade receivables 1111 1078

The Group closely monitors amounts due from customers and performs activities such as credit checks and reviews of payment history
and has put in place appropnate credit approval hmits Based on these procedures management assessed the quality of those
receivables that are past due but not impaired as low nsk

The movement on the receiwvables provision during the year 1s given in note 20 The value of impaired trade recewvables is $1 4 million
{2014 $11 milion) For all other financial assets the maximum exposure to credit nsk Is represented by the carrying amount

C) LIQUIDITY RISK
The Group s objective I1s to ensure that there are sufficient sources of funding to meet projected requirements Its operations are
financed through cash and cash equivaients held centrally and cash generated from operations

At 31 December 2015 the Group had cash and cash equivalents of $102 O million (2014 $39 8 mulion) of which $97 0 million
{2014 $94 8 million) is available on demand and $5 Q mililon matures within three months (2014 $5 O million matures within three months)

During 2015 the Group generated $60 4 mlllion of cash from operating activites (2014 $41 7 million) and considers that with current cash
resources, no debt and positive cash flow from its operating activities it has adequate resources availlable to it to remain in operational
existence for the foreseeable future

The Group has emered inte forward foreign currency exchange cantracts ail of which mature within three months The gross settlement
amounts of these contracts are as follows

2015 2014
$ million $ mithon
Sale of US dollars against sterling 44 63

The Group 1s debt free and does not have loans payable Financial fiabilities are trade and other payables, the majority of which are all
due 1o be settled within one year, and provisions (note 26) In addition, the Group has a liability in respect of a put and call option with
a falr value of $2 6 milllon {2014 $2 7 million) which will be settled In 2016 (see note 25)

The Group does not have any other matenal financia! contractual commitments

D) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying value of all financial assets and habihties is a reasonable approximation of fair value

Derivative financial tnstruments are stated at fair value although the amounts at 31 December 2015 and 2014 were immatenal

E) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Group s capital management 1s 10 support its business and maximise shareholder value The Group s
capital is Its total shareholders' funds

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the hght of changes in economic condibions During 2014
the Company operated an on market share repurchase programme and repurchased 9 7 million of Its Ordinary Shares at a cost of
$15 6 millicn No share buybacks were transacted during 2015 and no further share buybacks are currently planned

Sprrent s policy on the payment of dividends to shareholders 1s to maintain a sustainabte dividend
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

28 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
At 31 December the Group had outstanding commitments for future mimimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases,
which fall due as follows

2015 2014

$ millien % million

Within one yeat 9.0 91
In the second to fifth years 29.0 181
Qver five years 18.2 138
56.2 410

The Group leases certain land and bulldings under non-cancellable operating lease agreements with a vaniety of terms The Group also
leases certain plant and equipment under nen-cancellable operating lease agreements

29 EQUITY
A)ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL
Issued and fully pald Ordinary Shares of 3% pence each

Number of

Ordinary

Shares
milion $ milien
AT 1 JANUARY 2014 6214 344
Cancelled during the year 97) {©5)
Exchange adjustment 21
AT 1 JANUARY 2015 6117 318
Exchange adjustment (16)
AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 6117 302

Durning 2015 and 2014 ne Ordinary Shares were transferred from the Spirent Sharesave Trust ("SST7) to satisfy options exercised
under the UK all employee share schemes and in 2015 01 millon Ordinary Shares were transferred from the Spirent Emplayee Share
Ownership Trust {(*"ESQT") te satisfy options exercised under the Spirent Stock Incentive Plan and 2005 Empioyee Incentive Plan
{2014 0 2 million Ordinary Shares)

B) EQUITY AND RESERVES
The nature and purpose of each reserve within equity 1s as follows

+ Share premium account this reserve records the consideration premium for shares issued at a value that exceeds their nominal value,
- Capital redemption reserve this reserve anses in relation i share capital cancellation
« QOther reserves share capital, share premium account and capital redemption reserve are translated into US dollars at the rates
of exchange at the balance sheet date and the resultant exchange differences are included in other reserves, and
« Translation reserve this reserve I1s used {o record exchange differences ansing from the translation of the financial statements
of forelgn subsidiaries

Investment in own Ordinary Shares

At 31 December 2015 the ESOT held @ 6 milhon Ordinary Shares (2014 0 7 million Ordinary Shares) to satisfy awards under various share
incentive plans At 31 December 2015 the SST held O S milion Ordinary Shares (2014 O 5 milion Ordinary Shares) to satisfy awards
made to United Kingdom based employees under an all employee share scheme The market value of own Qrdinary Shares held in trust,
being In total 11 millien Ordinary Shares (20141 2 million Ordinary Shares), at 31 December 2015 was $1 2 millien (2014 $1 4 million)

Capital redemption reserve
Buring 2014 the Company cancelled 9 7 million Qrdinary Shares that had been the subject of the on market share repurchase
programme, and transferred $0 S million to the capital redemption reserve No Ordinary Shares were cancelled in 2015

Share repurchase
During 2014 the Company repurchased 97 million Ordinary Shares on market at a cost of $15 6 million which were subsequently
cancelied No Ordinary Shares were repurchased in 2015
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30 EMPLOYEE SHARE PLANS
Movements In share Incentives over a twa-year pertod ending on 31 Decemnber 2015 are shown below

2005 Employee Spirent Stock
Incentive Plan® Incentive Plan?
Weighted Weighted

Number average Number average
of share exercise of share exerase

Incentves price incentives pnce
milien pence milhon pence
INCENTIVES OUTSTANDING AT 31 DECEMBER 2013 54 82 01 60
Exercised {0 4) 51 o 1) 60
Granted 40 47 - -
Forfeited (24) 81 - —
INCENTIVES CUTSTANDING AT 31 DECEMBER 2014 €6 63 - -
Exercised 1) 52 - -
Granted 48 52 - -
Forfeited {16) 74 - -
INCENTIVES OUTSTANDING AT 31 DECEMEBER 2015 97 56 - -
INCENTIVES EXERCISABLE
AT 31 DECEMBER 2014 02 50 - -
AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 o1 48 - -
Notes

1 Figures for the 2005 Employee Incentive Plan Include share cptions stock appreciation rights and Performance Shares in aggregate
2 Fugures for the Spirent Stock Incentive Plan show beth share options and stock appreciation nghts in aggregate

The weighted average share price at exercise date was 78 O pence (2014 104 3 pence)

The following information relates te outstanding share incentives at 31 December 2015

2015 2014

Weighted Weighted

Weighted Number average  Weighted Number average

Range average of share remaining average of share  remaining

of exercise exerclse Incentives contractual exer¢ise incentives contractual

Exercise period prices price outstanding life price outstanding Iife

Share plan {as at 31 December) pence pence million years pence mithen years

200% Employee 05 09.09-17 05.25 0-72 1 4.5 86 3 32 85

Incentive Plan 2203 15-100825 87-153 101 53 8.6 120 34 86
Total 97 66

DISCRETIONARY PLANS
SPIRENT LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (“LTIP"}
The LTIP will be put 1o shareholders for approval at the 2016 AGM

The LTIP witl be available for selected employees, including executive directors on a discreticnary basis
Full details of how the LTIP will be operated are availlable in the Report on directors remuneration and in the Nolice of 2016 AGM

2005 EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE PLAN ("EIP7)
The EIP will close for new awards following the 2016 AGM and will be replaced by the Spirent Long-term Incentive Plan

The EIP which was approved by shareholders and introduced 1n 2005 was available for selected employees including executive
directors on a discreticnary basis

Under the EIP, the Company was able to grant share cptions, ncluding HMRC-approved options, share settled stock appreciation rights
("SARs") and Perfermance Shares No price was payable on the grant of an award

In normal circumstances, EIP awards vest three years following the date of grant provided the relevant performance conditions have
been met For share options and SARs, the performance conditions relate to the Company’s earnings per share ("EPS”) For Performance
Share awards made prior to 2011 performance conditions related to Total Sharehelder Return {"TSR”) For awards made since 201,
performance conditions relate to the Company’'s EPS and TSR
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

30 EMPLOYEE SHARE PLANS CONTINUED
Further information on the performance conditions for EIP share incentives 1s set out in the Report on directors’ remuneration

Options and SARs granted under the EIP expire on the tenth anniversary of their grant unless they have previously lapsed or
been exercised

SPIRENT STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN (*SSIP")

The SSIP was introduced in 2000 This discretlenary plan was primarily targeted at US employees with grants normally determined by
reference to the semonty and contribution of the individual, together with the performance of the relevant business and prevaiing local
market practice Grants were also permitted to selected newly hired and promoted employees on a monthly basis Under the SSIP,

the Company was able to grant share options and share settled SARs At 31 December 2015 there are no remalning outstanding SSIP
awards and the plan has therefore been closed

ALL EMPLOYEE PLANS

UK EMPLOYEE SHARE PURCHASE PLAN {("UK ESPP7)

The UK ESPP which 1s an HMRC-approved share incentive plan, was approved by shareholders in 2005 and 2015 and 1s avallable 1o all
UK employees The UK ESPP offers four ways to provide Ordinary Shares to employees free shares, partnership shares, matching
shares and dividend shares The UK ESPP operates in conjunction with a trust which holds the shares on behalf of participants

In November 2010, the Company commenced making invitations to all UK employees to acquire partnership shares on market using
deductions from payroll

US EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN ("US ESPP?)

The US ESPP was inttially approved by shareholders in 2000 with amendments being approved by shareholders in 2005 and 2011
The US ESPP enables the Company to invite all US employees to acquire Ordinary Shares in the Company on market using deductions
from payroll In November 2010, the Company commenced making six-monthly invitations 1o employees

The US ESPP also enables the Company to grant eliglble US employees the right to acquire Ordinary Shares In the Company using the
proceeds of a savings contract If such a grant were made, when jolning the US ESPP, participants would enter Into a 12 menth contract
1o save up to 15 per cent of base salary subject to an individual limit of $1 000 per month No grants of this nature have been made
since 2003

GLOBAL ALL EMPLOYEE SHARE PURCHASE PLAN ("GAESPP")

The GAESPP was initially approved by shareholders in 2001 with amendments being approved by shareholders in 2005 and 2011

The GAESPP enables the Company to invite employees in countries other than the US or UK to acquire Ordinary Shares in the Company
on market using deductions from payroll In September 201, the first such invitation was made to all employees in Canada Hong Kong
France and Germany and subsegquent invitations have been made on a six-monthly basis since 2012

The GAESPP can also be operated on similar terms to the US ESPP above, with participants entering into a 12 month contract 1o save
up to 15 per cent of base salary subject to an Indlvidual Iimit No grants of this nature have been made since 2003

31 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

2015 2014
$ million % million
2005 Employee Incentive Plan 08 07

All schemes are equity-settled

4 8 milhon share incentives were granted during 2015 (2014 4 0 milhon) The fain value of share incentives has been estimated as at the
date of grant using the Hull-White trinomtal model The following table gives the assumptions made 1n arnving at the share-based
payment charge and the fair value

2015 2014
Weighted average share price {pence) 881 971
Weighted average exercise prnice {pence) 518 466
Weighted average fair value (pence) 41.0 478
Expected volatility (%) 40-41 34-38
QOption life {years)
Performance Shares 3.0 30
Options and SARs 10.0 100
Suboptimal exercise factor 1.5 15
Risk free rate (%) 1.6-2.1 21-28
Cividend yield (%) 2.6 17
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31 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT CONTINUED

The expected volatiity was determined by calculauing the historical volatility of the Company's share price over the previous two years
which management conslders to be the period which s likely to be most representative of future volatility The risk free rate Is calculated
by reference to UK government bonds

32 RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT TO CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATICNS

2015 2014
% million $ million
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 96 241
Adjustments for
Finance income (o 4) ©4)
Finance costs o5 -
Share of loss of associate o4 -
Intangibie asset amortisation and impairment 159 150
Goodwill imparrment 38 -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 250 197
Loss on the disposal of property plant and equipment o8 -
Share-based payment o8 07
Changes in working capital
Deferred income recerved 18 27
Increase In receivables {(7.9) (17 0)
Decrease n inventories 34 47
Increase In payables 4.8 29
Increase In provisions 2.6 04
Defined henefit pension plan (3.3} 39
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS 57.8 489

33 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
The following acquisiion was completed in 2015

EPITIRO GROUP LIMITED ("EGL)

On 16 November 2015 Spirent completed the acquisition of 100 per cent of the share capital of Epitiro Group Limited, a company
based in Cardiff Wales, for an initial cash consideration of $17 mithon Contingent consideration of up to $0 3 milhon 1s payable based
on future bookings during the 12 month period following completlon and also on the achievement of cenaln product development
targets The fair value of the contingent consideration has been estimated at $0 3 million The product development milestone was
met in December 2015 and $0 1 milion of contingent conslderation was paid in January 2016 Epitiro develops active Wi-Fl testing
solutions for leading internet service providers, carmers and enterprises Epitiro i1s reported within the Group's Service Assurance division

The carrnier Wi-FI market has strong growth enabled by technology innovation and strong customer demands The recent growth has
been largely driven by an explosion in demand from mobile operators using Wi-Fi to augment therr 3G and 4G deployment and offload a
portion of mobile data traffic to unlicensed spectrum The acquisiticn of Epiiro will enable Spirent to fill a critical niche in our end-to-end
service assurance strategy and better position our TestCenter Live product family

From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2015 Epiure did not contribute any revenue and contributed $0 2 mifhon of loss before
tax to the results of the Group before charging $0 1 million of acquisition related costs If the combination had occurred at the beginning
of the financial year revenue of $0 9 million and a loss before tax of $0 5 million would have been included in the Group result before
charging $0 1 million of acquired intangible asset amortsation and $0 1 milion of acquisition related costs

The goodwill ansing of $1 3 millon consists largely of the synergies and economies of scale expected from the combination of the
entities together with intangible assets not qualifying for separate recognition such as workforce in place The goodwiil 1S not expected
to be deductible for income tax purposes
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Notes to the conschdated financial statements continued

33 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS CONTINUED

Epttire
$ million
Intangible assets os
Trade and other recevables 01
Trade and other payables {0 2)
Total identifiable net assets 07
Goodwill 13
20
CONSIDERATION
Initial cash consideration 17
Contingent consideration accrued 013
20
CASH FLOWS
Initial cash consideratien 17

For trade and other recevables the gross contractual amounts are $0 1 million

The intangible assets acquired represent software technology, customer lists and brands and these have been assigned provisienal
lives of between five to six years

Acquisition related costs were $0 1 million and these have been expensed to administration costs
The following acquisitions were completed in 2014

- The assets of DAX Technologies Corp were acquired for a cash consideration of $36 9 million on 19 February 2014

» 58 per cent of the ardinary share capital of Testing Technologies ST GmbH was acquired for a cash consideration of Euro 18 million
{$2 4 million) on 20 February 2014

- The assets of Radvision’s Technology Business Unit were acquired for a cash consideration of $25 S milion on 31 July 2014

- 100 per cent of the share capital of Mobilethink A/A and its wholly owned subsidiary, Tweakker ApS was acquired for a cash
consideration of $201 milhon on 12 September 2014

. The net assets of NetGend LLC were acquired for a cash consideration of $10 million on 15 September 2014

The following table summanses the consideration paid and the assets and llabilities acquired at the acquision date for the acquisitions
completed in 2014

$ milion

DAX  Radwsion Mobilethink
Technologies TBU AlS Qther Total
Intangible assets 141 72 121 20 354
Tangble fixed assets ¢} o1 - - 02
Deferred tax asset 06 - - - 06
Trade and other recevables - 18 41 o1 60
Cash and cash equivalents - - - 04 04
Trade and other payables (17 22) 50 (10 99
Borrowings - - - 01 Q1)
Deferred tax liability - - {2 6) 03) (29
Total identifiable net assets 1321 69 86 11 297
Goodwill 238 190 115 23 566
CONSIDERATION 369 259 201 34 863

CASH FLOWS

Consideraton 369 259 201 34 863
Cash acquired - - - {0 4) ©4)
369 259 201 30 859

For trade and other receivables the gross contractual amounts are $76 mitlion 1n total for all acquisitions
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33 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS CONTINUED
The intangible assets acquired represent software technology customer list, database, non-compete covenant and brands and these
have been assigned provisional lives of between two to seven years

The non-controlling interest has been measured as the proportionate share of the acquirer s identifiable net assets and was nil
on acqulsition

Acquisition related costs were $3 8 million and these have been expensed to admimistration costs

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions between the Company and its subsidianes, which are related parties have been eliminated on consolidation and are not
disclosed in this note

REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
The remuneration of the directors who are the key management personnel of the Group 1s set out below tn aggregate for each of the
categories specified in 1AS 24

2015 2014
$000 3000
Short term employee benefits 1,767.8 1.8140
Compensation for loss of office {termination benefits) - 5140
Statutory disclosures 1,767.8 23280
Share-based payment 1655 1980

19333 25260

There were gains of $23 000 (2014 $336,000) on the exercise of options by key management personnel in 2015
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Parent Company balance sheet
At 31 December 2015

2015 2014
Notes £ million € milion

FIXED ASSETS

Intangible assets 4 2.4 24
Tangible assets 5 1.1 10
Investments 6 3472 3462
350.7 3496
CURRENT ASSETS
Stocks 7 18 17
Debiors 8 17 116
Cash at bank and in hand 222 2186
357 349
CREDITORS AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR 9 (83 0) {85 1)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (47 3) (50 2)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 3034 2994
Defined benefit pension plan deficit 3 {13 4) (9 3)
NET ASSETS 290.0 2901
CAPITAL AND RESERVES 13
Called up share caputal 204 204
Share premium account 20.2 202
Capital redemption reserve 131 131
Profit and loss account 2363 2364
SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS - EQUITY 2900 2901

The notes on pages 124 to 137 form part of these financial statements

Signed on behalf of the Board

RACHEL WHITING
Director

25 February 2016
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Parent Company statement of changes in equity

Attributable to the equity holders

Notes of the parent Company £ milion
Share Capital
Share premium redemption Retained Tatal
capital account reserve earmnings equity
AT 1 JANUARY 2014 207 202 128 187 8 2415
Profit for the year - - - 680 680
Other comprehensive Income (a) — — — (7 B) (7 8)
Total comprehensive Income ~ - - 602 60 2
Share-based payment - - - 04 04
Tax charge on share incentives - — - 0 1) o1n
Share cancellation 13 03) - 03 - -
Share repurchase 13 - - - (9 4) 9 4)
Share buyback obhgation 13 - - - 109 109
Equity dwidends 12 - - - (13 4) (13 4)
AT 1 JANUARY 2015 204 202 131 236 4 290 1
Profit for the year - - - 195 1956
Other comprehensive iIncome (b) - - - {4 8) {4.8)
Total comprehenssive Income - - - 147 147
Share-based payment - - - 05 05
Equity dividends 12 - - - (15 3) {15 3)
AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 204 202 13.1 236 3 290 0

a) The amount included in other comprehensive income for 2014 of £7 8 million represents re-measurement losses of the net defined benefit pension
llabllity of £9 8 milllon net of a tax credit of £2 O million
(b) The amount included In other cemprehensive income for 2015 of £4 8 millicn represents re-measurement losses of the net defined benefit pension
liability of £6 O mullion net of a tax credit of £1 2 mithon

The notes on pages 124 to 137 form part of these financial statements
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Notes to the parent Company financial statements

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporuing Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework (*FRS1017)

In these financial statements the Company has adopted FRS101 for the first time

In preparing these financial statements the Company applies the recogmition, measurement and disclosure requirements of International
Financial Reporung Standards as adopted by the EU ("Adopted IFRSs™) but makes armendments where necessary in order to comply
with Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage of the FRS101 disclosure exempuions have been taken

In the transition to FRS101 the Company has applied IFRS 1 whilst ensuring that its assets and labilities are measurad in compliance
with FRS101 An explanation of how the transition to FRS101 has affected the reported financial position, financial performance and
cash flows of the Company 1s provided in note 17

IFRS 1 grants certain exemptions from the full requirements of Adopted IFRSs in the transition period The following exemptions have
been taken in these financial statements

- Business combinations — business combinations that tock place pror to 1. January 2014 have not been restated

+ Share-based payments — IFRS 2 1s being applied 1o equity instruments that were granted after 7 November 2002 and that had not
vested by 1 January 2014

« Use of previous GAAP carrying amounts as at date of transition as a deemed cost for investment in subsidiaries

In these financial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS13M (n respect of the following disclosures

« A Cash Flow Statement and related notes,

+ Comparative perlod reconciliations for share capital, tangible fixed assets and intangible assets
= Disclosures in respect of fransactions with wholly owned subsidiaries,

- Disclosures in respect of capital management

+ The effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs,

« Disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel and

» Not presenting a transition balance sheet as primary statement and related notes

As the consolidated financial statements include the equivalent disclosures, the Company has also taken the exemptions under FRS101
avallable in respect of the following disclosures

+ IFRS 2 1n respect of Group settled share based payments,

+ Certain disciosures required by IAS 36 in respect of the impairment of goocwill and indefinike Iife intangible assets, and

+ The disclosures required by IFRS 7 and IFRS 13 regarding financial instrument disclosures have not been provided apart from
those which are relevant for the financial instruments which are held at far value

As the Company 15 included in the consolidated financial statements, made up to 31 December each year 1t 1s nol required to present a
separate profit and loss account as provided by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 Informatron on fees for non-audit services in
respect of the parent Company accounts have not been disclosed as the Company prepares Group accounts which disclose information
on fees for non-audit services on a consobdated basis

ACCOUNTING CONVENTION
The financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis apart from certain financial instruments that have been measured
ai falr value

GOING CONCERN BASIS GF ACCOUNTING

The directors have reviewed the detalled financal projections for a pericd of 12 months from the date of this report and the business
plans for the 2017 and 2018 financial years They have also considered the principal risks and uncertainties that the Company faces and
its current financial position and are sabisfied that the Company has adequate financial resources to continue in operatignal existence for
the foreseesble future, a penod of not less than 12 months from the date of this report Accordingly, the going concern basis of
accounting continues to be used in the preparation of the financial statements

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Acquisitions prior to 1 January 2014

IFRS 1 grants certain exemptions from the full requirements of Adopted IFRSs in the transition period The Company elected not 1o
restate business combinations that took place priorto 1 January 204 In respect of acquisitions prior to 1 January 2014 goodwill 1s
included at 1 January 2014 on the basis of its deemed cost, which represents the amount recorded under UK GAAP which was broadly
comparable save that only separable intangibles were recognised and goodwill was amortised The Company elected not to reverse
the amortisaticn of goodwill that was charged to the profit and loss account pnior to 1January 2014
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

The UK Companies Act requires goodwill to be reduced by provisions for depreciation on a systematic basis over a period chosen by
the directors, its useful economic life However under IFRS 3 goodwill 1s not amortised Consequently, the Company does not amortise
goodwill, but reviews it for imparment ¢n an annual basis or whenever there are Indicators of impairment The Company 1s therefore
invoking a 'true and fair view overrnide to overcome the prohibition on the non-amortisation of goodwill In the Companies Act

Had the Cempany amortised goodwill a penod of 20 years would have been chosen as the useful fe for goodwill The profit for the year
would have been £0 6 million lower had goodwili been amortised in the year

Goodwill ansing on the acquisition of subsidianies representing the excess of cost over the net farr value of the nel assels acquired,
is capltallsed as an intanglble asset Goodwilll Is carried at cost less any accumulated Impairment losses

For the purpose of mpairment testing, goodwill 15 allocated to the related cash-generating umits monitored by management Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 1s less than its carrying amount including geodwaill, an impairment loss 1s recogmised in
the profit and loss account

TANGIBLE ASSETS

Tangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment Depreciation s not provided on freehold
land Depreciation Is provided to write-off the cost of all other assets, less residual value, on a straight line basis over their estimated
useful lives at rates which take Into account commercial conditlens at thelr location Usual asset llves are as follows

Freehold bulddings 50 years
Plant and machinery 3 to 8 years
Fixtures, fittings and equipment
Buillding installations 20 years or lease period if less
Fitungs and equipment 3 to 8 years
Maotor vehicles 3to Syears
Business systems software 4 years

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment If @vents or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may not be recoverable

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

Tangible assets with finite useful ives are tested for impairment at each reporting date where there 1s an indication that an asset may
be impaired Goodwill with an indefinite useful Iife 15 assessed at least annually When an impairment test 1s performed, the recoverable
amount (s assessed by reference to the higher of the net present value of the expected cash flows {value in use) of the relevant
cash-generating unit or asset and the fair value less cost of disposal In assessing value in use the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessmentis of the time value of money and
the nsks specific to the asset Where the carrying amount of an assel exceeds its recoverable amount, the assetl I1s considered impared
and s written down 1o Its recoverable amount Impairment losses are recogrised m the profit and loss account In those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset

Where an impairmeni 1oss has been recognised against an asset, it may be reversed in future penods where there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised, but only to the
extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, had no Impalrment toss been recognised In prior years Such a reversalls recognised In the profit and loss account

INVESTMENTS
Investments In subsidianes are stated at cost and reviewed for impalrment if there are indications that the carrying value may not
be recoverable

LEASES
Operating [eases are leases where the iessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ewnership of the asset and are not finance
leases Operating lease rentals are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the penod of the lease

STOCKS

Stocks are valued at the lower of cosl and estimated net realisable value, after provisions for obsolescence Cost includes all costs in
bringlng each product to its present location and condltion, belng the full manufacturing cost on a first-In-first-out basls, including all
altnibutable overheads based on a normal level of activity

PROVISIONS

Prowisions are recorded when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event for which itis
probable that t will be required to settle by an outflow of resources and for which a rehable estimate of the amount of the obhgation
can be made Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate
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Notes to the parent Company financial statements continued

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
Where the effect of the time value of money 1s material the amount of the provision shall be the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required 1o setile the oblhgation

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Transactions in foreign currencies are inilally recorded at the rates ruling at the date of the transaction Monetary assets and habilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates ruling at the balance sheet date All exchange gains and losses are taken
to the profit and loss account

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets and habilities are recognised on the Company s balance sheet when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument

Trade debtors
Trade debtors are non-interest beanng and are stated at onginal invoiced amount less an appropriate allowance for estimated
irrecoverable amounts Such allowances are based on an assessment of debtor ageing, past experience or known customer exposures

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term deposits which usually have
an orlginal maturity of three months or less There are no bank overdrafts

Trade creditors
Trade creditors are nan-interest bearnng and are stated at the onginal invoiced amount

Loans and borrowings
Loans and borrowings are recognised Inltally at falr value less attributable transaction costs Subsequent to Initlal recognition, loans and
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest methog and In respect of financial assets less any impairment losses

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds recelved, net of direct issue costs Spirent Communications plc Ordinary Shares held
by the Company are classified in equity as treasury shares and are recognised at cost and included as a deduction from retained
earnings Consideration received for the sale of such treasury shares is also recognised in equnty

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Company uses forward foreign currency exchange contracts 1o manage exposures arising on receipts and payments in foreign
currencies relating 1o firm commitments

Forward foreign currency exchange contracts are initialty recognised at fair value on the date on which the contract 1s entered into, and
are subsequently re-measured to farr value at each reported balance sheet date The fair value of forward foreign currency exchange
contracts i1s calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles The Company has not
adopted the hedge accounting rules Consequently all gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are taken to the profit and
loss account

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate denvatives when therr nsks and
characteristics are not closely related to those of the host cantracts

PENSIONS
The Company operates two funded defined benefit pension plans All other pension plans are defined contribution in nature where the
amount charged to the profit and less account 1s the employer s contnibutions paid or payable during the year

For defined benefit pension plans full actuanal valuations are carned out every three years using the projected unit credit method and
updates are periormed at each balance sheet date Re-measurement, compnsing actuarnal gains and losses, the effect of changes to the
asset celling (if relevant) and the return on plan assets (excluding interest) 1s reflected immediately in the balance sheet hability or asset
with a charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive income in the period m which they occur Re-measurement recognised in
other comprehensive income wlll not be reclassified to profit or loss Past service cost Is recognised in profit or loss in the peried of plan
amendment Net inlerest s calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginming of the penod to the net defined benefit pension
habiity or asset, taking account of any changes in the net defined benefit pension hability during the penod as a result of contribution
and benefit payments Defined benefit pension costs are categonsed as

« Service cost{Including current service cost, past service cost and gains and losses on curtallments or settlements)
+ Net interest expense or income, and
+ Re-measurement

The Company presents the first two components of defined benefit pension costs in profit or loss
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognised when it 1s probable that economic benefits wili flow to the Campany the revenue can be reliably measured and
when the Company has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership n addition, revenue 1s only recognised
when collectability s probable

For the sale of services revenue Is recognised In accounting perods in which the service 1s rendered

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

A government grant s recognised In the balance sheet initially as deferred iIncome when there is reasonable assurance that it will be
received and that the Company will comply with the conditions attached 101t Grants that compensate the Company for expenses
mncurred are recognised as other operating income on a systematic basis in the same periods In which expenses are incurred Grants
that compensate the Company for the acquisition of an asset are presented by deducting them from the acquisiion cost of the related
asset in accordance with 1AS20

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT
Expenditure 1s charged to the profit and loss account in the year in which it 1s incurred

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
When an employee has rendered service to the Company dunng an accounting period short term benefits expected to be paid
In exchange for that service are recognised in the same accounting penod

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees 1s measured by reference ta the farr value at the date at which they are granted
The farr value Is determined using the Hull-White trinomial model

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised as a cost to the Company or as an addition to the cost of investment in the
subsidiary (in which the relevant employees work, aver the vesting penod of the equity-settied transactions with a corresponding
adjusiment to reserves Any payments recerved from the Company s subsidiaries in respect of these share-bhased payments result
In a reduction in the cost of investment

No expense 15 recognised for awards that do not ulimately vest, except for awards where vesting i1s conditional upon a market condition,
which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition i1s satisfied provided that all other vesting conditions
are satisfied

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified as a minimum an expense IS recognised as if the terms had not been modified
In addition an expense Is recognised for any increase in the value of the transaction as a result of the modification, as measured at the
date of modification

Where an equity-settled award 15 cancelled, it 1s treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation and any expense not yet
recognised for the award 1s recognised immediately However If a new award 1s substituted for the cancelled award and designated
as a replacement award on the date that it 1s granted the cancelled and new awards are treated as If they were a modification of the
onginat award as described in the previous paragraph

The Company has an employee share trust for the granting of certain share incentives to employees Shares are held by the employee
share trust treated as treasury shares and presented in the balance sheet as a deduction from equity

TAX
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year compnises current and deferred tax Income tax s recogmsed in the profit and loss account
excepi to the extent that it relates to items in other comprehensive iIncome or equity

Current tax s the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjustments to tax payable for previous years

Deferred tax 1s recognised on all temporary differences ansing between the 1ax bases of assets and Labilities and their carrying amounts
in the financial statements, with the following exceptions

+ where the temporary difference arises from the inimial recognition of goodwill {taxable temporary differences only) or of an asset or
liabllity In a transaction that Is not a business combinatien that at the time of the transactton affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or tass,

- nrespect of taxable temparary differences associated with investments in subsidianes associates and joint ventures, where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlied and It Is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future

A deferred tax asset 15 recognised only to the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profits will be avallable against which the deductible
temporary differences carried forward tax credits or 1ax losses can be uvtilised
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Notes to the parent Company financial statements continued

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
Deferred tax assets and habilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the 1ax rates that are expected 10 apply when the related
assel Is realised or the liability 1s settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

DIVIDENDS PAID
The interim dividend 1s included in the financial statements In the penied in which 1t 1s paid and the final dividend in the penod it 1s
approved by the shareholders at an annual general meeting

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATES

The preparatton of financial statements requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect items reported Such
estimates and assumptions are based on management's best knowledge of current facts, circumstances and future events, actual
resufts may differ, possibly significantly from those estimates The areas requinng high degree of jJudgement or where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the parent Company financial statements are revenue recognition defined benefit pension plans (note 3} and
recognition of deferred tax assets {note 10) Please refer to note 2 of Notes to the consolidated financial statements on page 93 for
detailed disclosures

2 EMPLOYEES
Please refer to the Report on directors remuneration on pages 55 to 72 and note 34 of Notes 1o the consolidated financial statements
on page 121 for disclosures relating to the emoluments share incentives and long term incentive interests and pensions of the directors

3. PENSIONS

DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

i) Characteristics and risks associated with the Plans

The Company sponsors two funded defined benefit pension plans in the United Kingdom the Spirent Communications pl¢ Staff Pension
& Life Assurance Plan (“Staff Plan”) and the Spirent Cemmenications pic Retirement Cash & Life Assurance Plan (*Cash Plan”) These
plans are funded and have full UK HM Revenue & Customs ("HMRC") tax-exempt approval Both schemes are administered by a trusiee
board which 1s compnsed of representatives from the employer, member nominated trustees and an independent trustee The trustee
board operates in accordance with the Trust Deed and Rules of each Plan and acts in the interests of all of its members

The Staff Plan 1s the Company’s most significant plan and it provides its members with retirement benefits based on their final salary
and length of service The Staff Plan was closed to new entrants on 1 October 2002

The Cash Plan Is primarlly a defined contribution arrangement, although there are some legacy defined benefits (Old Section) that have
been valued for the purpose of these accounts in accordance with IAS 19 Members who left service before 1992 are entitled to a cash
lump sum on retirement that Is based on their salary and length of service Members of the Old Sectlon are entltled to defined
contribution benefits, but with an underpin based on salary and length of service

There I1s also a United Kingdom unfunded plan, which consists of a contractual obhigation for the Company to top up certain former
employees benefiis whose salarnes exceeded the statutory earnings cap

As with the vast majority of similar arrangements in the United Kingdom, the Company ultimately underwrites the nisks relating to the
defined benefit plans These nsks include investment nsks and demographic risks, such as the risks of members living longer
than expected

The plans hold a significant proportion of ther assets in equity Strong future equity returns would be expected to reduce the Company s
future cash contributions (and vice versa)

Expected contrbutions to the defined benefit plans in 2016 are £5 1 million This includes the contributions agreed with the funded

plans trustees in accordance with UK legislation Following the trnienpmial valuations as at 1 April 2012, the Company agreed to pay

the following contributions in order to clear the funding deficit as assessed by the trustees’ Independent actuary

- Staff Plan £2 6 milion per annum frory 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2019 plus a further contribution of up to £2 S million by July 2016 if the
plan remains in deficit

- Cash Plan £0 2 million per annum from 1 July 2013 1o 31 March 2015

The latest tnennial valuations as at 1 Apnl 2015, are in the process of being finalised

if the contnibutions currently agreed are insufficient to pay the benefits due, the Company will need to make further contributions
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3 PENSIONS CONTINUED
i) Amounts In the financlal statements
The assels and labilities on the balance sheet are as follows

2015 2004
£ million £ million
ASSETS

UK defined benefit pension plan — Cash Plan 0.8 a5

LIABILITIES
UK defined benefit pension plan — Staff Plan (13.7) 93
UK unfunded plan {0.5) 05
{14.2) (9 8)
Net pensian plan deficit on the balance sheet {13.4) (93)

For the purposes of the following disclosures the Staff Plan and Cash Plan have been combined as the Cash Plan 15 immatenal to these

financial statements

a) The assets and liabilities in each plan

2015 2014
£ million ¢ miftion
STAFF PLAN
Quoted
Equities 421 487
Government bonds 3.1 -
Unguoted
LD funds 17.7 252
Cash benchmarked bonds 60.4 698
Corporate bonds 2.2 -
Hedge funds 15.8 -
Insured annuities 2.8 34
Property 1.1 96
Cash and other 20.4 146
Fair value of plan assets 165.6 171 3
Present value of defined benefit pension plan obligations (179.3) {180 6)
Deficit in the plan (13.7) 93
CASH PLAN
Quoted
Equities 29 29
Government bonds 2.8 28
Unguoted
insured annuities 0.1 02
Cash and other 19 20
Fair value of plan assets 77 79
Present value of defined benefit pension plan obhgations (69) {7 4)
Surplus in the plan 0.8 05
Total net deficit recogrised 129 (88
UNFUNDED PLAN
Present value of unfunded obligations {05) {0 5)
NET PENSION PLAN DEFICIT ON THE BALANCE SHEET {13 4) 93
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Notes to the parent Company financial statements continued

3 PENSIONS CONTINUED
b) Analysis of the amcunts charged to the profit and loss account

2015 2014
€ million € mithon
Plan administration expenses Q5 03
Current service cost 01 01
AMOUNT CHARGED TO OPERATING COSTS 06 04
NET INTEREST ON THE NET DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION LIABILITY 03 -
NET CHARGE TO THE PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT Q9 04
c) Analysis of amount recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income
2015 2014
£ million € milien
Re-measurement {losses)/gains on plans assets (71) 98
Actuanal {loss)/gain arising from experience (3 8) 05
Actuanal gainf{loss) ansing from changes in financial assumplions 47 (20 1)
RE-MEASUREMENT OF THE NET DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION LIABILITY (6.0) 98)
d) Movements in the present value of funded defined benefit obligations
2015 2014
£ milllon £ rrifhon
At 1 January 1880 168 7
Current service cost 01 01
Interest cost 67 74
Benefit payments (7 B) {7 8)
Actuanal loss/(garn) aristng from expenence 36 {0 5)
Actuanal {gain)/loss ansing from changes in financial assumptions 4.7) 201
PRESENT VALUE OF FUNDED DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS' OBLIGATIONS 186.2 1880
e) Movements (n the fair value of plans’ assets
2015 2014
£ milllon £ milton
At1January 179.2 167 2
Interest iIncome on pians’ assets 6.4 74
Employer contributions 2.8 29
Benefit payments (7.5) {7 8}
Pian administration expenses (0.5) {0 3)
Re-measurement {loss)/gain on plans’ assets 7.1) 98
FAIR VALUE OF PLANS' ASSETS 1733 1792
f) The key financial assumptions
The assumptions used for both plans using a weighted average were as follows
2015 2014
% %
Inflation — RPI 29 29
Inflation — CPi 1.8 18
Rate of increase n pensignable salarles 3.0 30
Rate of Increase for pensions in payment pre 2001 service 3.6 36
Rate of increase for pensions in payment 200110 S April 2005 service 28 28
Rate of increase for pensions post 5 Apnl 2005 service 2.0 20
Rate of increase in deferred pensions 1.8 18
Rate used to discount plan liabilities 38 36

The mortahty assumptions are based on standard maortality tables which allow for future mortality improvements The assumptions are
such that a member currently aged 65 (2014 aged 65) will ive on average for a further 23 6 years {2014 23 5 years) If they are male and
for a further 25 8 years (2014 25 7 years) if they are female For a member who retires in 2035 {2014 in 2034) at age 65 (2014 age 65) the
assumptions are that they will ive on average for a further 24 5 years (2014 24 4 years) after retirement if they are male and for a further
26 9years (2014 26 8 years) after retirement If they are female
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3 PENSIONS CONTINUED
iii) Amount, timing and uncertainty of future cash flows
The approxumate impact to the past service habilities of changing these man assumptions 15 as follows

« Reducing the discount rate by 0 1 per cent per annum would increase past service habiliies by £2 6 million {2014 £2 6 million)

. Increasing RPIinflation by O 1 per cent would increase the plans' llabihties by £0 9 milhen (2014 £11 million)

- Increasing the hfe expectancy of a8 member by one year (by modifying the standard mortality tables using an appropriate scaling
factor) would increase past service liabllitles by £7 4 million (2014 £75 milllion)

There will also be an impact on the future service cost but given the small active population in these plans this Is ikely to

be Insignificant The sensiivity figures have been calculated to show the movement In the defined benefit obhigation for each
assumption change In isolatlon, and assuming no other changes In market conditions at the accounting date and may not be
representative of the actual change as the changes in assumptions may not occur In isolation

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation 15 15 years (2014 15 years)
DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS
The Company maintains defined contribution pension plans for employees Employer contributions into these plans for 2015 were

£0 & million (2014 £0 7 mullion)

4 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

£ milhon
Goodwll
COST
At1January 2015 and 31 December 2015 6.8
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
At1January 2015 and 31 December 2015 44
Net book value at 31 December 2014 24
NET BOOK VALUE AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 24

The carrying value of goodwill has been tested by reference to the value in use of the Positioning CGU No impairment of goodwill was
required on transition o subsequentty

5 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

£ million

Freehold Fixtures

landand  Plantand fitings and

bulldings machinery equipment Total
COosT
AT 1 JANUARY 2015 07 2.7 11 45
Additlons - 0.4 - 04
Disposals - {0.1) (0.1) 02)
AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 0.7 3.0 10 4.7
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
AT 1 JANUARY 2015 0.2 24 (<] as
Provided during the year - 03 - 03
Disposals - (01) {0 1) (0 2)
AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 02 26 o8 -]
Net book value at 31 December 2014 05 03 02 10
NET BOOK VALUE AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 [+ }-] 04 02 11
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Notes to the parent Company financial statements continued

6 INVESTMENTS

£ milhon
Shares in Loans to
subsidlarles subsidiaries Total
COsT
AT 1 JANUARY 2015 10327 359 1,0686
Additions 84 11 95
Capitalised 96 (9.6) -
Transferred 177 {17 7) -
Repayments - {1 6) {(16)
Share-based payment o4 - 04
AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 1,068 8 81 10769
AMOUNTS PROVIDED
AT 1 JANUARY 2015 7210 14 7224
Amounts provided tn the year 73 - 73
AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 728 3 14 7297
Net book value at 31 December 2014 3117 345 3462
NET BOOK VALUE AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 3405 67 347.2

The recoverabiity of the carrying value of iInvestments in subsidianes has breen assessed by reference to value (n use and a provision of
£7 3 million has been recorded in relation to the subsidiary that holds the investment in the Device Intelligence Iine of business See note
14 of Notes to the conschdated financial statements for the assumptions used

7 STOCKS
2015 2084
£ million £ million
Work in progress 06 02
Finished goods 12 15
18 17

There were no stock write-downs recognised in the period (2014 £0 2 million) and there were no reversals of prior penod stock write-
downs {2014 nul)

No stock 1s carried at fair value less costs to sell (2014 nil)

8. DEBTORS
2015 2014
£ million £ million
DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR
Trade debtors 19 21
Owed by subsidianes 42 58
Other debtars 10 07
Prepayments and accrued income o7 03
Deferred tax (note 10) 39 27
11.7 116

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other debtors approximates to therr far value

The Company has no sigrificant concentration of credit sk attributable to its trade debtors as the exposure 1s spread over a large
number of customers

9 TRADE AND OTHER CREDITORS AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2015 2014

£ million £ million

Trade creditors os 07
Owed 10 subsidiaries 739 768
Accruals and cdeferred iIncome 78 52
Other taxes and social security costs 05 24
830 851
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9 TRADE AND OTHER CREDITORS AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR CONTINUED
Trade creditors are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 60 day terms Other creditors are non-interest bearing

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade creditors approximates to therr fair value

10 DEFERRED TAX
The movements In the deferred lax assets are as follows

£ milion

Temporary UK pension
differences Tax losses plans Total
AT 1 JANUARY 2014 02 12 04 18
Charged In the year - (06) - [0 6)
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension plan - - 15 15
AT 1 JANUARY 2015 0.2 06 1.9 27
Credited 1in the year - 0.4 - o4
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension plan - - o8 o8
AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 0.2 10 27 39

The Company has tax losses of £23 6 million (2014 £25 1 million) that are avallable for offset agalnst suitable future taxable profits
A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of these losses as their future recovery is uncertain These losses can be
carned forward indefinitely

The Company also has capital losses carned forward of £823 3 mullion {2014 £823 3 milhien) for which no deferred tax asset has been
recognised on the balance sheet These capital losses have no expiry date

£19 million (2014 £2 2 million) of the deferred tax asset1s due after one year
11 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the balance sheet date, the Company had outstanding commutments for future mimimum lease payments under non-cancellable
opeiating leases, which fall due as follows

2015 2014
£ milllon £ million
within one year 01 01
In the second to fifth years 01 02
02 03
12 DIVIDENDS
2015 2014
£ million £ milhion
DECLARED AND PAID IN THE YEAR
EQUITY DIVIDEND ON ORDINARY SHARES
Final dividend paid for the year ended 31 December 2014 of 143 pence per Ordinary Share
{31 December 2013 1 20 pence) 8.7 73
intenm dwidend 2015 of 108 pence per Qrdinary Share (2014 0 99 pence} 6.6 61
15.3 134
PROPGSED FOR APPROVAL AT AGM (NOT RECOGNISED AS A LIABILITY AT 31 DECEMBER)
EQUITY DIVIDEND ON ORDINARY SHARES
Final dividend 2015 of 1 59 pence per Ordinary Share (2014 143 pence) 9.7 87

The directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 Becember 2015 of 159 pence per Ordinary Share
(2014 1 43 pence) which will absorb an estimated £9 7 million of shareholders’ funds (2014 £8 7 million) It will be paid on 6 May 2016 to
Crdinary shareholders who are on the Register of Members at close of business on 4 March 2016 Payment will be made to ADR holders
on 16 May 2016 No liability is recorded In the financial statements In respect of this final dividend

Dividends are determined in US dellars and paid in pounds sterling The exchange rate for determining the amount of the final dvidend
to be paid for 2015 was $139 £1(2014 $155£1)
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Notes to the parent Company financial statements ¢continued

13. CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Changes during the year in the 1ssued Ordmary Share capital were as follows
Number of
Ordinary
Shares
milhon

1SSUED AND FULLY PAID ORDINARY SHARES OF 3 1/3 PENCE EACH AT 1 JANUARY 2015 AND 31 DECEMBER 2015 611.7

Dunng 2015 and 2014 no Ordinary Shares were transferred from the Spirent Sharesave Trust (“SST7) to satisfy options exercised
under the UK all employee share schemes and In 2015 O 1 milllon Ordinary Shares were transferred from the Spirent Employee Share
Ownership Trust {"ESOT") to satisfy options exercised under the Spiuent Stock Incentive Plan and 2005 Emptoyee Incentive Plan
(2014 0 2 million Ordinary Shares)

There has been no material increase in the 1ssued Ordinary Share capstal, whether by exercise of share incentives or otherwise,
between 31 December 2015 and 25 February 2016, the date on which these financial statements have been signed

Please refer to note 22 of the Notes to the consclidated financial statements on page 116 for disclosures relating to the nature and
purpose of each reserve within equity

INVESTMENT IN OWN ORDINARY SHARES

At 31 December 2015, the ESOT held O 6 milion Crdinary Shares (2014 Q 7 million Qrdinary Shares) to satisfy awards under various

share incentive plans At 31 December 2015, the SST held O 5 million Ordinary Shares {2014 0 § milion Qrdinary Shares) 1o satisfy awards
made to United Kingdom based employees under an all employee share scheme The market value of own Crdinary Shares held in trust,
beling in total ¥ 1 million Ordinary Shares (2014 1 2 million Ordinary Shares}, at 31 December 2015 was £0 8 million {2014 £0 9 million)

CAPITAL REDEMPTION RESERVE
During 2015 the Company did not cancel any Ordinary Shares (2014 9 7 milhen Ordinary Shares) and did not make any transfers to the
capital redemption reserve (2014 £0 3 million}

SHARE REPURCHASE
During 2015 the Company did not repurchase any Ordinary Shares on market (2014 87 millron at a cost of £9 4 million)

EMPLOYEE SHARE PLANS

The Company operates a number of employee share incentive plans which are described in note 30 of Notes to the consolidated
financial statements The following share incentives over Ordinary Shares under these plans have been granted and remain outstanding,
held by employees of the parent Company

Movements in share incentives during the year to 31 December 2015 are shown below
2005 Employee
Incentive Plan
Weighted
Number average
of share exercise

mncentives price

mithon pence

INCENTIVES OUTSTANDING AT 31 DECEMBER 2013 18 53
Granted o8 12
Exercised ©3 51
Cancelled o8 122
INCENTIVES OUTSTANDING AT 31 DECEMBER 2014 17 23
Granted 10 8
Exercised (01) 82
Expired (03) -
Cancelled 01) 111
INCENTIVES OUTSTANDING AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 22 13
INCENTIVES EXERCISABLE AT 31 DECEMBER 2014 Q2 50
INCENTIVES EXERCISABLE AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 0.1 48
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13 CAPITAL AND RESERVES CONTINUED
The weighted average share price at exercise date was 78 € pence (2014 104 6 pence)

The following information relates to outstanding share incentives at 31 December 2015

2015 2014
Weighted Number Welghted Weighted Number  Weighted
Range average of share average average of share gverage
of exercise exercise incentives remaining exercise incentives  remaining
Exercise period prices price outstanding contractual price  outstanding contractual
Share plan (as at 31December) pence pence million tife years pence mithon Iife years
2005 Employee Incentive Plan’ 05.05.09-17 05.25 0-101 66 2.1 8.4 120 15 79
2103 15-07 05.23 129-153 1317 0.1 7.2 1340 02 81
22 17

Note

1 Figures for the 2005 Employee Incentive Plan include share options slock appreciation rights and Performance Shares in aggregate No exercise

price Is payable on the vesting of a Performance Share

14 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
The total charge for the year relating to employee share-based payment plans 1s as follows

2015 2014
£ million € milkon
2005 Employee Incentive Plan 01 02
All schemes are equity-settled
The fair value of share Incentives has been estimated as at the date of grant using the Hull-White trinomia! moce|
The following table gives the assumptions made in arriving at the share-based payment charge and the fair value
2015 2014
Weighted average share price (pence) 868 1013
Weighted average exercise price (pence) 75 122
Weighted average fair value (pence) 54.2 618
Expected volatility {%) 41.0 340
Option ife {years)
Performance Shares 30 30
Options and SARs 100 00
Subopumal exercse factor 1% 15
Risk free rate (%) 16-2 1 28
Dividend yield (%) 26 17

The expected volatity was determined by calculating the histoncal volatiity of the Company’s share price aver the previous two years
which management considers to be the penod which 1s likely to be most representative of future volatiity The risk free rate 1s calculated

by reference to UK government bonds

15. SUBSIDIARIES

Adlist of subsidianies, including the name country of iIncorporation and proportion of ownership interest is given on page 137 of this

Annual Report

16 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There were no capital commitments at 31 December 2015 or 31 December 2014

Spirent Communications plc has provided indemnities of £0 1 million (2014 £0 1 million) for certain ongoing business obhigations under

letters of credit for subsidiary companies

Spirent Communications plc bas provided guarantees totalling £11 milhion (2014 £11 million) in respect of the mimmum consideration

for the acquisition of minonty shareholdings 1in Testing Technologies IST GmbH and which expire on 31 March 2016
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Notes to the parent Company financial statements continued

17 EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TQ FRS101 FROM OLD UK GAAP

As stated in note 1, these are the Company s first financial statements prepared in accordance with FRStO1

The accounting policies set out in note 1 have been applied In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
the comparative information presented in these financiat statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 and in the preparation of an
opening FRS101 balance sheet a1 1 January 2014 (the Company s date of transition)

In prepanng its FRS101 balance sheet, the Company has adjusted amounts reported previcusly 1n financial statements prepared in accordance
with its old basis of accounting (UK GAAP) to reflect accounting policy changes An explanation of haw the transition from UK GAAP ta FRSION
has affected the Company’s financlal position, financlal perfarmance and cash flows s set out In the following tables and the notes that

accompany the tables

A reconciliation of equily 1s set out below

UK GAAP at Effectof  FRS101at UK GAAP at Effect of FR5101 at
1January  transition  1January 31December transition 31 December
2014 to FRSION 2014 2014 to FRS101 2014
Notes £ milhon £ milhion £ millkon £ million £ million £ million
FIXED ASSETS
Intangible assets {a) 24 — 24 1.8 0.6 2.4
Tangible assets 11 - 11 10 - 1.0
Investments 3102 — 3102 346.2 - 346 2
3137 - 3137 349.0 0.6 349.6
CURRENT ASSETS
Stocks 16 — 16 17 - 17
Trade debtors 17 - 17 21 - 21
Owed by subsidiaries 27 - 27 58 - 58
Other debtors 07 - o7 0.7 - 0.7
Prepayments and accrued income 05 - 05 03 - 0.3
Deferred tax asset () 14 04 18 o8 19 27
Cash at bank and in hand 142 - 142 21.6 - 216
228 Q4 232 330 1.9 34.9
CREDITORS AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR
Trade and other creditors {18 4) - (18 4) {10.9) - (10 9)
Owed to subsidiaries © - (750 (750) - (74 2) {74 2)
{18 4) {750) (93 4) {10 9) (74 2) (85 1)
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 44 (74 6) {702) 22.1 {723) (50 2)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 3181 (74 6) 2435 3711 71 7) 2994
CREDITORS AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER
MORE THAN ONE YEAR
Owed to subsidiaries {c) (75 0) 750 - (74 2) 742 -
Net assets {excluding defined benefi pension plan deficit) 2431 04 2435 296.9 25 299 4
Defined benefit pension plan deficit (b {186) 04) {20) {7.4) {(19) {9.3)
NET ASSETS 2415 - 2415 289.5 0.6 2901
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital 207 - 207 204 - 204
Share premium account 202 - 202 20.2 - 202
Capital redemption reserve 128 - 128 13.1 - 131
Profit and loss account {a) 1878 — 1878 2358 06 2364
SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS - EQUITY 2415 - 2415 289.5 o6 290 1

Notes te the reconcilation of equity

(a) Cn transition to FRS 101 goodwall amortisation for the year to 31 December 2014 has been reversed (£0 6 million)
The Cempany elected not to restate goodwill amortisation charged to the profit and loss account prior to 1 January 2014
(b) On transition to FRS 101 the defined benefit scheme pension hability 1s shown gross of the associated deferred tax asset, and all of the deferred tax

recognised within current assets (£1 9 milion)

{c) Ontransition to FRS 101loans owed to subsidianes were reclassified from creditors due after more than one year to creditors due within one year [£74 2 million)

Under UK GAAP, the Company was not required to, and did not prepare a profit and loss account or a cash flow statement

The transition to FRS101 has increased the profit for the year by £0 6 million
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Full hst of subsidiary undertakings

A full hst of subsidiaries and companies in which Spirent Communications ple has an interest of more than 20% as at 31 December 2015
The country of incorporation and the effectlve percentage of equity owned {If less than 10025{ Is also detailled below Unless otherwise
noted, the share capital compnses ordinary shares which are indirectly held by Spirent Communications plc

Company Name Registered in Notes

Spirent Communications of Ottawa Limited Canada

Spirent Communications Technology (Benng) Limited China Held directly

Mobilethink A/S Denmark

Spirent Holdings Denmark ApS Denmark

Tweakker ApS Denmark

Tweakker Holding ApS Denmark

Bowthorpe Limited England Held directly

Cambndge Analytica! Group Limited England Held directly

Earlynow Limited England Held directly

Epitiro Group Limited England Held directly

Metrico Wireless Limited England Held directly

PG Drives Technology Limited England

PG Internationat Limited England Held directly

Shipbrick Limited England 54 55% held directly, 45 45% held indirectly

Spirent Capital mited England Held directly

Spirent Communications {International) Limited England Held directly

Spirent Commumcations (Scotland) Limited England Held directly

Spirent Communications (SW) Limited England Held directly

Sprrent Financial Limited England Held directly

Spirent Financing Limited England

Spirent Holdings Limited England Held directly

Spirent Investment Limited England Held directly

Spirent Lirmited England Held directly

Spirent Sharesave Trust Limited England Held directly

Spirent Systems Limited Engtand 100% A shares held indirectly
100% ‘B’ shares held directly

TFDC Limited England

Spirent Communications SAS France Held directiy

Sprent Communications GmbH Germany

Testing Technologies GmbH Germany 58% controlling interest held indirectly®

Spirent (Overseas) Limited Guernsey

Spirent Communications (Asia) Limited Hong Kong

Sprrent Communications India (Pvt) Limited India

Spirent Communications Israel Limited Israel

Spirent Communications Japan KK Japan

Spirent BV Netherlands

Spirent Cammunications Singapore Pte Limited Singapore

Spirent Communications Korea Ing South Korea

Spirent Communications Taiwan Limited Taiwan

Jolata, Inc

Netcom Systems Haldings Corpaoration
Spirent Communtications inc

Spirent Federal Systems inc

Spirent Holdings Corparation

Spirent Communications Hawan LLC

US (Delaware)
US (Delaware)
US (Delaware)
US (Delaware)
US (Delaware)
US (Hawau)

28% held directly**

*  The remaining AQMnterest in Testing Technologes GmbH was acquired on 19 January 2016 following the exercise of the minonty shareholders

putpnd call aption

** Spirent Communications plc holds 28% of the 1ssued share capital in Jolata, Inc this has been treated as an associate company In these

financlal statements
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Financial history

$ million

2015 2014 2013 2012 20n
SUMMARY INCOME STATEMENT
CONTINUING OPERATICNS
REVENUE 4771 4572 4135 4724 4705
QOPERATING PROFIT 10.1 237 391 1081 1122
Share of loss of associate (0.4) - - - -
Net finance {costs)income (0.1} 04 - 03 14
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 9.6 241 391 108 4 1136
Tax 3.9 (3 5) (64) {29 Q) {26 4)
PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS AFTER TAX 135 206 327 794 872
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS - - - 471 67
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 135 206 327 1265 939
SUMMARY BALANCE SHEET
Intangible assels 251.6 2733 198 8 2074 1232
Property, plant and equipment 51.1 522 396 341 355
Working capital {excluding cash and deferred tax) 8.8 139 (108) 73 138
OPERATING ASSETS 3115 3394 2276 2488 1725
Investment in associate 46 - - - -
Net funds including long term cash 102 1 998 2163 2490 2372
Provisions and other liabilities {11 3) 83) 65) 50 (4 5)
Deferred tax 250 180 183 284 294
Defined benefit pension plan deficit (19.8) (14 5) {33) (25 6) {12 4)
NET ASSETS 4121 4344 4524 4956 4222
TOTAL EQUITY 4121 434 4 452 4 4956 4222
SUMMARY CASH FLOWS
Cash flow from operating activities 604 417 67 4 105 1 a8 7
Net interest received 04 06 08 06 0s
Net capital expenditure {25 5) (316} 24 3) (14 3) (235)
FREE CASH FLOW 363 107 439 91 4 761
Acquisitions and disposals and investment in associate {6.7) (859) - (32 1) (14 5)
Share capital and share repurchase 01 (16 4) {54 5) (29 4) (330)
Diwvidends paid (23 5) {22 2) {22 2) (20 3) (17 5)
Transfer from long term deposit and loan repayment {0.1) - 03 03 04
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 5.1 (1138) (325 99 115
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$ mulion
2015 2014 2013 2012 20n
OTHER INFORMATION - CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Expenditure on property, plant and equipment 265 338 229 159 201
Depreciation 250 197 1665 146 127
Product development 1183 1154 1005 861 833
SHARE INFORMATION
EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (CENTS)
Basic 218 335 510 12 11 1307
Diluted 217 335 509 1207 1296
Adjusted basic'? 500 582 571 1302 1281
TOTAL DIVIDEND PER ORDINARY SHARE (CENTS) 389 389 354 322 293
FULLY PAID ORDINARY SHARES IN ISSUE AT YEAR END
(NUMBER MILLION) 6117 6117 6214 6506 664 0
SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS — CONTINUING OPERATIONS
REVENUE
Networks & Applications 2419 2215 2134 2595 2546
Wireless & Service Experience 1687 1786 1677 1745 1618
Service Assurance 665 571 324 384 541
4771 457 2 4135 4724 4705
OPERATING PROFIT
Networks & Applications 184 76 132 557 566
Wireless & Service Experience 156 240 338 567 58S
Service Assurance 140 207 90 84 70
Corporate — non-segmental (58) (63) (59 (65) 60)
Operating profit! 421 460 501 1183 1161
Exceptional items {125) 41 (39) 29) -
Acquisition related costs 01 (38) - (12) {12
Acquired intangible asset amortisation and impairment (14 8) (137) {8 4) {45) {16)
Goodwill mpairrment (38) - - - -
Share-based payment 08) 07) 12 (16) {11
101 237 391 108 1 1122
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION — CONTINUING OPERATIONS
REVENUE BY MARKET
Americas 268.1 2450 2282 2520 2586
Asia Pacific 148 2 1425 1322 1508 1381
Europe, Middle East and Africa 608 697 531 696 738
477 1 457 2 4135 4724 4705

Notes

1 Before exceptional tems, acquisition related costs, acquired intangible asset amortisation and impairment, goodwill impairment

and share-based payment
2 Before tax effect of tems in note 1and prior year tax
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2016

Shareholder infarmation

25 February

Preliminary results and final dividend anncuncement

Final dividend — payment date {Ordinary sharehotders)
Final dividend — payment date {ADR holders)

Half-year results and intenm dmvidend announcement

Intenm dividend - payment date (Ordinary shareholders)

3 March Final dividend — ex-dividend date
4 March Final dividend - record date

4 May Annual General Meeting

6 May

16 May

30 June Half-year end

August

August Interim dividend — ex-dividend date
August interim dividend — record date
September

September

31 December
February/March 2017

Internim dividend — payment date (ADR holders)
2016 Flnancial year end
2016 Preliminary results and final dividend announcement

ORDINARY SHARES AND AMERICAN
DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS

The Company s Ordinary Shares are traded
on the London Stock Exchange (ticker
SPT) The Company operates a Levell
Amernican Depositary Receipt ("ADR")
programme with each ADR representing
four Orcinary Shares The ADRs trade on
the US over-the-counter market (symbol
SPMYY, CUSIP 84856M209) BNY Mellon
15 the authornised depositary bank for the
Company's ADR programme The ADRs
are quoted on the OTC Pink electronic
quotation service which can be found at
www olcmarkets com/otc-pink/home

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company's 2016 Annual General
Meeting {(*2016 AGM”) will be held at
100pm on 4 May 2016 at the offices of UBS
at 1 Finsbury Avenue London EC2M 2PP

DIVIDENDS
Shareholders are able 10 choose how they
recewve ther dividends

direct to their bank account,

reinvested in Ordinary Shares through
the Company's Dividend Reinvestment
Plan {see below),

« pad by cheque, or

- paid in foreign currencies

The quickest and most efficient way to
recewve your dividends i1s to have them paid
direct to your bank account It saves walting
for funds to clear and reduces the paper
and postage we use To change how you
receive your dividends please contact the
Company s registrar, Equimiti, on 0371 384
2268 or log on to www shareview co uk

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

The Company has a Dividend
Reinvestment Plan {"DRIP") delivered by
Equimit Financial Services Limited The
DRIP altows eligible shareholders to use
their cash dividend to buy additional
shares in the Company, so increasing thetr
shareholding if you would like additional
information, please contact the Company s
registrar Equiniti on 0371384 2268 or log
on to www shareview co uk

ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS

All of the Company s communicattons with
shareholders are conducted in ltne with
our environmenta! appreach We hold the
majority of our events via webcast and
conference calls and we encourage all of
our investors to recelve communlcations
electronically Shareholders who do not
currently receive Company mailings
electronicalty but wish to do so should
notify the Cempany s registzar Equiniti, on
0371 384 2126 or via www shareview co uk

COMPANY'S REGISTRAR

Enquinies concerning shareholdings
change of address or other particulars
should be directed In the first iInstance
to the Company’s registrar Equiniti, on
0371384 2126 Equiniti also provide a
range of online shareholder information
services at www shareview co uk where
shareholders can check therr holdings
and find practical help on transferring
shares or updating thew details
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SHARE DEALING SERVICES

Equiniti Shareview Dealing I1s a service that
provides a simple and convenient way of
buying and selling the Company's Ordinary
Shares For telephone services call 03456
037 037 between 8 00am and 4 30pm,
Monday to Friday and for internet services
visit www shareview co uk/deating

A postal share dealing service for buying
and selling Ordinary Shares 1s also
avallable and a dealing form can be
obtained by calling 0371384 2248 or

at www shareview co uk

INDIVIDUAL SAVINGS ACCOUNTS
Information about investing in the
Company’s Ordinary Shares through an
Individual Savings Account (“ISA™) may be
obtained from Equiriti on 0345 300 0430
or at www shareview co uk ISAs are also
offered by other organisations

SHAREHOLDER SECURITY

Shareholders are advised to be wary of
any unsolicited advice, offers to buy shares
at a discount or offers of free reports about
the Company

Details of any share dealing facilities that
the Company endorses will be incfuded in
the Company's mailings or on our website
More detalled information can be found at
www fsa gov uk/consumennformation

UNSOLICITED MAIL

The Company I1s obliged by law to make its
share register publcly avallable, subyect to
a “proper purpose” test, should a request
be received As a consequence, some
shareholders may receive unsolicited mail
To imit the amount of unsolicited mail
received, please contact The Mailing
Preference Service {MPS), DMA House,

70 Margaret Street, London W1W 855 or
reqister online at www mpsonline org uk
The Mailing Preference Service Is an
ndependent orgamisation which offers

a free service to the public within the UK
Registering with them will help stop most
unsolicited consumer advertising maternal

COMPANY'S WEBSITE

The directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the Company's
website Financial information pubhshed

on the webslte is based on legislation in

the UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements

that may be different from comparable
legislation in other junsdictions




SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS

At 25 February 2016 the number of registered shareholders was 3,183 and the number of Ordinary Shares in issue was 6117 milhon

Number of Crdinary Shares held Number of sharehclders % of total sharehalders  Number of Ordinary Shares % of share capital
1-5,000 2,279 7160 3,106,330 a51
5,001 -10,000 333 1046 2472512 040
10 001 - 50 000 351 1103 7372273 121
50 001-100 000 50 157 3,593,368 059
100,001 - 250 000 40 126 6,729,532 110
250,001 - 500,000 36 113 13,104,939 214
500,001-1,000,000 28 088 21163053 346
1,000,001 - highest 66 207 554,199 891 90 59
Total 3,183 10000 611,741,888 10000
Number of shareholders % of total shareho!ders  Number of Ordinary Shares % of share capital
individuals 2,578 8099 12414519 203
Institutions 605 1901 599,327,369 97 97
Total 3,183 10000 611,741,888 100 00
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3G (Third Generation)

4G {Fourth Generation)

SG (Fifth Generation)

Application

Backhaul

Big Data Analytics

Cloud

Connected Vehicles

Core

Cyber Secunty

Data Center

Ethernet

Firewall

Global Navigation Sateliite
Systems ("GNSS5")

Global Positioning System
{*GPS7)

Internet of Things ("1oT™)

Internet Protocol {“IP”)
Internet Protocol Multimedia

Subsystem ("IMS”)

Lanes

Long Term Evolution ("LTE")

Machine-to-Machine
{"“M2M")

Glossary

Third generation of mobile communications that delivers data rates of hundreds of kilobits per second
to tens of megabits per second

Fourth generation of mobile communications that delivers data rates of tens to hundreds of megabits
per second Future 4G technologies promise dala rates in excess of one gigabit per second

The next major phase of mobile telecommunications standards beyond the current
4G/IMT-Advanced standards

A software programme designed to perform a specific function for the end user which uses the services
of the computer s operating system and other supporting programmes Applications include database
programmes, spreadsheets, web browsers, graphics programmes and word processors

The use of networks to get data from an end user to a node in a major network such as through the
internet or a proprietary network

Large amounts of structured or unstructured data that has the petential to he mined for inteligence

A vaniety of computing concepts that involve a large number of computers connected through a real-ime
communication network such as the internet Often used in reference to network-based services served
up by virtual hardware, simulated by software running on one or more physical machines

An Iinternet-connected vehicle that provides additional benefits to the user Including automatic
notification of accidents and safety alerts as well as navigation and internet-based applications

The centsal part of a telecommunications network that provigdes varous services {0 customers whe are
cannected by the access network Functions include routing calls and data managing user authentication
and billing

Protects networks computers applications and data from attack damage or unauthorised access

A centralised location where computing resources critical to an erganisation are maintained in a highly
controlled environment

A family of networking technologies originally devetoped for local area networks which migrated to
metro area networks and eventually became the dominant standard in wireline networks worldwide

Part of a computer system or network that 15 designed to block and monitor unauthornised access while
permitting outward communication

The standard genernic term for satelite navigation systems that prowide autoenomous gec-spatial
positioning with global coverage GNSS allows users receivers to determine therr location to within
a few metres by employing a tnangulation technique that uses information from multiple satellites

A global navigation satellite system operated by the United States government for determining a user's
location and height at any point on the earth s surface A recewver uses minute differences in measured
time signals from clocks on satellites to calculate these positions and altitudes

A network of physical objects or "things” embedded with electronics, software sensors and connectivity
to enable data exchange with the manufacturer, operator and/or other connected dewvices Each thingis
uniquely identifiable through its embedded computing system but is able to interoperate within existing
internet infrastructure

The pnmary network protocol used on the internet and on other network devices to facilitate and control
the flow of cata

A standardised next-generation architecture for telecoms operators who want to provide mobile and
fixed multimedia services

Parallel electrical paths that handle the flow of data in high speed Ethernet applications, due to the
inability of the interfaces in devices such as routers and switches to handle a single high speed data
stream, for example, 10 lanes of 10 gigabits per second data in place of a single 100 gigabits per second
data stream

An advanced wireless data communications technology standard (sometmes called “4G") which
15 an evolution of 3G UMTS standards In addition to a new wireless Interface specification LTE uses
a simphfied flat IP-based network architecture

A technolegy that enables automated wireless {or wired) communication between mechanical or
electronic devices
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Mobile Virtual Network
Operator {*"MVNOT)

Network Functions
Virfuahsation {“NFV")

Rich Communication Suite
("RCS")

Software as a Service
("SaaS")

Software-Defined Network
(“SDN™

Virtual Customer Premises
Equipment {*vCPE)

Virtual Evolved Packet Core
(' vEPC™)

Virtualisation

Voice over LTE ("VolLTE")

Voice over Wi-Fi1 {*VoWI-FI")

Wi-Fi

Wi-F1 Offload

W-Fi RF interface

A wireless communications services provider that does not own the wireless network infrastructure
over which it provides services to (ts customers

Annitiative to provide a new network production environment which lowers cost, raises efficiency and
increases agihity by hosting network functions previously carried out by proprietary dedicated hardware
on virtual machines running on iIndustry-standard commodity hardware

Also known as Rich Communication Services RCS is a platform intended o enable mobile network
operators to deliver integrated communication services, beyond voice and SMS over all-iP networks,
including instant messaging or chat, Iive video and file sharing across any device on any network

A way of delivering appiications over the internet as a service instead of installing and
malntalhing software

An approach to networking in which control Is decoupled from hardware and given to a software
application called a controlier

By leveraging NFV and vCPE, providers can rapidly introduce new services without deploying new
hardware at customer locations vCPE can also improve remete managemsent capabilities and reduce
operations costs

A framewaork for providing virtualised converged voice and data on a 4G LTE network

Technologies designed to provide a layer of abstraction from the physical charactenstics of
computing resources to simplify the way in which other systems, applications, or end users interact
with those resources

A standards-based scheme adopted by the GSMA, the cellular industry’s association to provide veice
service over data-only LTE networks Vol TE s use of an IP Media Subsystem enables voice to be offered
as part of a nch communications sclution Integrated with services such as meassaging, ve video sharnng
and file transfer

Transmission of IP-based voice communication {"VoIP™) over a Wi-Fi network

A mechanism that enables devices such as personal computers, video game consoles, smartphones
or digital audio players to exchange data wirelessly over a computer network and connect to network
resources such asthe internet Coverage ranges from a few rooms to several square miles depending
on the number of access points used

Atechnique that helps operators manage mobile data growth by seamlessly offloading subscriber traffic
from their primary 3G and 4G networks to Wi-Fi networks

The radio-frequency portion of a circuit between the cellular phone and the active base station in this
case a Wi-F1 access point as opposed to cellular
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REGISTERED OFFICE

SPIRENT COMMURNICATIONS PLC
Northwood Park

Gatwick Road

Crawley

West Sussex RH10 9XN

United Kingdom

Tel +44 (0)1293 767676

Fax +44 (0)1293 767677

Email investor relations@spirent com
Website hitp /corporate spirent com
Registered in England No 470853

AUDITCR

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

1 More London Place
London SE1 2AF

United Kingdem

Tel +44 (0)20 7951 2000
Website www ey com

REGISTRAR

EQUINITILIMITED

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Lancing

West Sussex BN99 6DA

United Kingdom

Tel 0371384 2126 (UK)

Tel +44 {0)121 415 7047 {overseas)
Text phone {for shareholders with
hearing difficulties)

(0371384 2255 (UK)

+44 {0121 415 7028 (overseas)
Website www shareview co uk

Contact detalls

ADR DEPOSITARY

BNY MELLON CORPORATION
PO Box 30170

College Station

TX 77842-3170

USA

Tel +1888 269 2377 (toll free US)

Tel +1{201) 680 6825 (outside US)

Ermail shrrelations@
cpushareownerservices com
Website www mybnymdrcom

BROKERS (JOINT)
JEFFERIES HOARE GOVETT
Vintners Place

68 Upper Thames Street
London EC4V 3BJ

United Kingdom

Tel +44 (0)20 7029 8000
Website www jefferies com

UBS LIMITED

1 Finsbury Avenue
London EC2M 2PP
United Kingdom

Tel +44 (0)20 7567 8000
Website www ubs com

FINANCIAL PR ADVISERS

FTI CONSULTING LIMITED

200 Aldersgate

Aldersgate Street

London EC1A 4HD

United Kingdom

Tel +44 {0120 3727 1000
Website www fticonsulting com
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Northwood Park
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